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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
This Filing Statement contains forward-looking information, which is disclosure regarding possible events, conditions 
or financial performance that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action. Often, 
but not always, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or “does 
not expect”, “is expected”, “estimates”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, or variations 
of such words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or 
“will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Examples of such forward-looking information in this Filing Statement include 
disclosure relating to the following (capitalized terms defined herein):  
 

● 
● 

the terms of the Consolidation; 
the terms of the Forward Stock Split; 

● the terms of the Private Placements; 
● the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement; 
● the terms of the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
● the interests of Insiders in the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
● the shareholder approval requirements; 
● the Exchange approval requirements; 
● the Resulting Issuer's name; 
● the Resulting Issuer's inter-corporate relationships; 
● the Resulting Issuer's securities; 
● the Resulting Issuer's business and operations; 
● the Resulting Issuer's pro forma consolidated capitalization; 
● the funds available to the Resulting Issuer and the principal purposes of those funds; 
● the Resulting Issuer's principal securityholders; 
● the Resulting Issuer's directors and officers; 
● the Resulting Issuer's proposed executive compensation structure;  
● the Resulting Issuer's escrowed securities; 
● the Resulting Issuer's auditor; and 
● the Resulting Issuer's transfer agent and registrar. 

 
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking information contained in this Filing Statement. The forward-looking information in this Filing 
Statement is based on a number of assumptions which may prove to be incorrect, including, but not limited to the 
following:      
 

● general economic conditions; 
● 
● 

the ability of Westshire II to complete the Consolidation; 
the ability of Wonderfilm to complete the Forward Stock Split; 

● the respective abilities of Westshire II and Wonderfilm to complete the Private Placements; 
● the ability of the parties to complete the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
● the ability of the parties to satisfy the requirements of the Exchange;  
● the ability of the Resulting Issuer to successfully integrate Westshire II and Wonderfilm and 

manage risks associated with the Resulting Issuer's business and operations; and 
● the ability of the Resulting Issuer to obtain necessary financing following the completion of the 

Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
Forward-looking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause 
the actual results, performance or achievements of Westshire II, Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
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information. Some of these risks, include, but are not limited to the following: 
 

● 
 

Westshire II may not be able to complete the Consolidation on the terms specified in this Filing 
Statement and the Amalgamation Agreement or at all; 

● Wonderfilm may not be able to complete the Forward Stock Split on the terms specified in this 
Filing Statement and the Amalgamation Agreement or at all; 

● Westshire II and Wonderfilm may not be able to complete the Private Placements on the terms 
specified in this Filing Statement or at all; 

● the parties may not be able to complete the Wonderfilm Acquisition on the terms specified in 
this Filing Statement and the Amalgamation Agreement or at all; 

● the parties may not be able to satisfy the requirements of the Exchange; 
● the Resulting Issuer’s business faces substantial capital requirements and financial risks, 

including the requirement for a substantial investment of capital, the high costs of producing 
and marketing feature films which may increase in the future, and budget overruns which may 
adversely affect its business;  

● the Resulting Issuer may need additional financing, and may not be able to secure such financing 
on terms acceptable to it; 

● 
 

the Resulting Issuer may incur significant write-offs if its feature films and other projects do not 
perform well enough to recoup production, marketing and distribution costs; 

● the Resulting Issuer’s results of operations are difficult to predict and depend on a variety of 
factors; 

● the Resulting Issuer does not have long-term arrangements with many of its production or co-
financing partners;  

● the Resulting Issuer relies on a few major retailers and distributors and the loss of any those 
retailers or distributors could reduce its revenues and operating results;  

● the Resulting Issuer’s revenues and results of operations are vulnerable to currency fluctuations; 
● a significant portion of the Resulting Issuer’s library revenues comes from a small number of 

titles, a portion of which it may be limited in its ability to exploit; and 
● the Resulting Issuer’s success depends on external factors in the motion picture and television 

industry. 
 
The factors identified above are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect Westshire II, 
the Resulting Issuer or Wonderfilm and their respective businesses. Additional risk factors are noted under the heading 
“Part II: Resulting Issuer Risk Factors” on page 18. 
 
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking 
information prove incorrect, actual results, performance or achievement may vary materially from those expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking information contained in this Filing Statement. These risk factors should be carefully 
considered and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information, which speaks only 
as of the date of this Filing Statement. All subsequent forward-looking information attributable to Westshire II, the 
Resulting Issuer or Wonderfilm herein is expressly qualified in its entirety by the cautionary statements contained in 
or referred to herein. Westshire II, the Resulting Issuer and Wonderfilm do not undertake any obligation to release 
publicly any revisions to this forward-looking information to reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date 
of this Filing Statement or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as may be required under applicable 
securities and other laws.  
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
The following is a glossary of certain definitions used in this Filing Statement. Terms and abbreviations used in the 
financial statements of Westshire II, Wonderfilm, and the Resulting Issuer in the appendices to this Filing Statement 
are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise 
indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa and words 
importing any gender include all genders. 
 
“Affiliate” means a Company that is affiliated with another Company as described below.  
 

A Company is an “Affiliate” of another Company if:  
 

(a)  one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or  
 
(b)  each of them is controlled by the same Person.  

 
A Company is “controlled” by a Person if:  

 
(a)  securities of the Company are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of that 

Person, and  
 
(b)  the securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the directors of the Company.  

 
A Person beneficially owns securities that are owned by:  

 
(a)  a Company controlled by that Person, or  
 
(b)  an Affiliate of that Person or an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that Person; 

 
“Agency Agreement” means the engagement letter dated September 1, 2017 between the Agent and Westshire II, 
which is expected to be superseded by the agency agreement to be entered into on closing of the Westshire II Brokered 
Private Placement; 
 
“Agent” means Mackie Research Capital Corporation; 
 
“Amalco” means the combined entity resulting from the amalgamation of Wonderfilm and Newco; 
 
“Amalco Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Amalco; 
 
“Amalgamation Agreement” means the amalgamation agreement dated November 17, 2017 between Wonderfilm, 
Newco and Westshire II; 
 
“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a Person, means  
 

(a)  an issuer of which the Person beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, securities entitling 
him to more than 10% of the rights attached to all outstanding securities of the issuer,  

 
(b)  any partner of the Person,  
 
(c)  any trust or estate in which the Person has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which the 
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Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity,  
 
(d)  in the case of a Person who is an individual,  
 

(i)  that Person’s spouse or child, or  
 
(ii)  any relative of that Person or of his spouse who has the same residence as that Person;  

 
but 

 
(e)  where the Exchange determines that two Persons shall, or shall not, be deemed to be associates with 

respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member corporation, then 
such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of Rule D of the 
Exchange with respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company; 

 
“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), [S.B.C. 2002], chapter 57; 
 
“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory or civic holiday in the City of Vancouver, 
British Columbia; 
 
“CEO” means an individual who acted as chief executive officer of a Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any 
part of the most recently completed financial year; 

“CFO” means an individual who acted as chief financial officer of a Company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any 
part of the most recently completed financial year; 
 
“Closing Date” means the date of closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition which is expected to occur not later than 
February 28, 2018, or such later date as Westshire II and Wonderfilm may mutually agree to; 
 
“Company” unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization, 
body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual; 
 
“Completion of the Qualifying Transaction” means the date the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued by the Exchange; 
 
“Consolidation” means the consolidation of the Westshire II Shares under the BCBCA on the basis of one (1) post-
consolidation Westshire II Share for every four (4) pre-consolidation Westshire II Shares held; 
 
“Control Person” means any Person that holds or is one of a combination of Persons that holds a sufficient number 
of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of that issuer, or that holds more than 20% of 
the outstanding securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing that the holder of those securities does 
not materially affect the control of the issuer; 
 
“CPC” means a corporation:  
 

(a) that has been incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction in Canada; 
 
(b)  that has filed and obtained a receipt for a preliminary CPC prospectus from one or more of the 

securities commissions in compliance with Exchange Policy 2.4; and  
 
(c)  in regard to which the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction has not yet occurred; 

 
“Dissenting Shareholders” means the Wonderfilm Shareholders that exercise the right of dissent available to them 
in respect of the special resolutions approving the Amalgamation Agreement; 
 
“Effective Date” means the effective date of the amalgamation of Wonderfilm and Newco, which will be the date of 
the certificate of amalgamation issued by the Registrar pursuant to Section 281 of the BCBCA in respect of the 
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amalgamation of Wonderfilm and Newco; 
 
“Engagement Letter” means the engagement letter dated September 1, 2017, between Westshire II and the Agent in 
respect of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement; 
 
“Exchange Form 3B2” means Form 3B2 – Information Required in a Filing Statement for a Qualifying Transaction 
of the Exchange; 
 
“Exchange Policy 2.4” means Policy 2.4 – Capital Pool Companies of the Exchange; 
 
“Exchange” means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.; 
 
“Exchange Requirements” means and includes the articles, by-laws, policies, circulars, rules (including UMIR) 
guidelines, orders, notices, rulings, forms, decisions and regulations of the Exchange as from time to time enacted, 
any instructions, decisions and directions of a Regulation Services Provider or the Exchange (including those of any 
committee of the Exchange as appointed from time to time), the Securities Act (British Columbia) and rules and 
regulations thereunder as amended, the Securities Act (British Columbia) and rules and regulations thereunder as 
amended and any policies, rules, orders, rulings, forms or regulations from time to time enacted by the British 
Columbia Securities Commission and all applicable provisions of the securities laws of any other jurisdiction; 
 
“Filing Statement” means this filing statement, together with all appendices attached hereto and including the 
summary hereof; 
 
“Final Exchange Bulletin” means the bulletin which is issued by the Exchange following the closing of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition and the submission of all documentation required by the Exchange and that evidences the 
final acceptance by the Exchange of the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
 
“Form 51-102F6” means Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators;  
 
“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards; 
 
“Initial Listing Requirements” means the minimum financial, distribution and other standards that must be met by 
an Issuer seeking a listing on a particular tier of the Exchange; 
 
“Insider” if used in relation to an Issuer, means:  
 

(a)  a director or senior officer of the Issuer;  
 
(b)  a director or senior officer of a Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Issuer;  
 
(c)  a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, shares carrying more than 10% of 

the rights attached to all outstanding shares of the Issuer; or  
 
(d)  the Issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities; 

 
“Investor Relations Activities” means any activities, by or on behalf of an Issuer or shareholder of the Issuer, that 
promote or reasonably could be expected to promote the purchase or sale of securities of the Issuer, but does not 
include:  
 

(a) the dissemination of information provided, or records prepared, in the ordinary course of business 
of the Issuer:  

 
(i)  to promote the sale of products or services of the Issuer, or   
 
(ii)  to raise public awareness of the Issuer, that cannot reasonably be considered to promote 



6 
 

V1  

the purchase or sale of securities of the Issuer;  
 
(b)  activities or communications necessary to comply with the requirements of:  
 

(i)  applicable securities laws;  
 
(ii)  Exchange requirements or the by-laws, rules or other regulatory instruments of any other 

self-regulatory body or exchange having jurisdiction over the Issuer;  
 
(c)  communications by a publisher of, or writer for, a newspaper, magazine or business or financial 

publication, that is of general and regular paid circulation, distributed only to subscribers to it for 
value or to purchasers of it, if:  

 
(i)  the communication is only through the newspaper, magazine or publication, and  
 
(ii)  the publisher or writer receives no commission or other consideration other than for acting 

in the capacity of publisher or writer; or  
 
(d)  activities or communications that may be otherwise specified by the Exchange; 

 
“Issuer” means a Company and its subsidiaries which have any of its securities listed for trading on the Exchange 
and, as the context requires, any applicant Company seeking a listing of its securities on the Exchange; 

“Letter Agreement” means the letter of intent dated August 22, 2017, between Wonderfilm and Westshire II in 
respect of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, which was subsequently replaced in its entirety by the Amalgamation 
Agreement; 
 
“Management Company Employee” means an individual employed by a Person providing management services to 
the Resulting Issuer, which are required for the ongoing successful operation of the business enterprise of the Resulting 
Issuer, but excluding a Person engaged in Investor Relations Activities; 
 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” means a Company’s management’s discussion and analysis in Form 51-
102F1; 
 
“Maximum Raise” means the maximum permissible aggregate raise under the Westshire II Brokered Private 
Placement, being $1,500,000; 
 
“Member” means a Person who has executed the Members' Agreement, as amended from time to time, and is accepted 
as and becomes a member of the Exchange under the Exchange Requirements; 
 
“Members' Agreement” means the members' agreement among the Exchange and each Person who, from time to 
time, is accepted as and becomes a member of the Exchange; 
 
“Minimum Raise” means the minimum permissible aggregate raise under the Westshire II Brokered Private 
Placement, being $500,000; 
 
“Named Executive Officers” or “NEO” means the following individuals:  
 

(a)  a CEO;  
 
(b)  a CFO;  
 
(c)  each of a Company’s three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 

compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually, more than 
$150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) of Form 45-106F6, for that financial 
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year; and  
 
(d)  each additional individual who would be a NEO under (c) above, but for the fact that the individual 

was neither an executive officer of a Company, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year; 

 
“Newco” means 1141596 B.C. Ltd., the wholly owned subsidiary of Westshire II incorporated under the BCBCA for 
the purposes of completing the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
 
“Newco Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Newco; 
 
“NI 51-102” means National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators; 
 
“Non-Arm’s Length Party” means:  
 

(a)  in relation to a Company, a Promoter, officer, director, other Insider or Control Person of that 
Company and any Associates or Affiliates of any such Persons; and  

 
(b)  in relation to an individual, any Associate of the individual or any Company of which the individual 

is a Promoter, officer, Insider or Control Person; 
 
“Non Arm’s Length Qualifying Transaction” means a proposed Qualifying Transaction where the same party or 
parties or their respective Associates or Affiliates are Control Persons in both the CPC and in relation to the Significant 
Assets which are to be the subject of the proposed Qualifying Transaction. 

“Person” means a Company or individual;  
 
“President's List” means the list of potential investors provided by Westshire II to the Agent in connection with the 
Westshire II Brokered Private Placement; 
 
“Private Placements” means, collectively, the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private Placement; 
 
“Promoter” means:  
 

(a)  a Person, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other Persons, that, directly or indirectly, 
takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially reorganizing the business of an issuer; 
or  

 
(b)  a Person that, directly or indirectly, receives in consideration of services or property, or both,  
 

(i)          10% or more of any class of securities of the issuer; or  
 

(ii)          10% or more of the proceeds from the sale of any class of securities of a particular 
issuer,  
 

In connection with the founding, organizing or substantially reorganizing of the business of the 
issuer, but does not include a Person who receives securities or proceeds either solely:  
 
(i)            as underwriting commissions; or  

 
(ii)           in consideration of property transferred to the issuer; 

	
if that Person does not otherwise take part in founding, organizing, or substantially reorganizing the 
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business; 
 
“Qualifying Transaction” means a transaction where a CPC acquires Significant Assets, other than cash, by way of 
purchase, amalgamation, merger or arrangement with another Company or by other means. Westshire II intends the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition to constitute its Qualifying Transaction; 
 
“Registrar” means the Registrar appointed under the BCBCA; 
 
“Regulation Services Provider” has the meaning ascribed in National Instruments 21-101 Marketplace Operation 
and refers to the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada or any successor retained by the Exchange; 
 
“Resulting Issuer” means Westshire II, after giving effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Agent’s Warrants” means the agent’s warrants of Westshire II, as constituted after giving effect 
to the Wonderfilm Acquisition and the Private Placements; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Board” means the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Escrow Agreement” means the agreement to be entered into among the Resulting Issuer, Equity, 
and certain shareholders of the Resulting Issuer pursuant to which the Vendor Escrow Shares owned by such Persons 
will be held in escrow; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Listing Date” means the date the Resulting Issuer Shares are listed and posted for trading on the 
Exchange; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Westshire II, as constituted after giving effect 
to the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
 
“Resulting Issuer Warrants” means the share purchase warrants of Westshire II, as constituted after giving effect to 
the Wonderfilm Acquisition; 
 
“Significant Assets” means one or more assets or businesses which, when purchased, optioned or otherwise acquired 
by the CPC, together with any other concurrent transactions would result in the CPC meeting the Initial Listing 
Requirements; 
 
“Stock Split” means the forward stock split of the Wonderfilm Shares under the BCBCA on the basis of 1.33 post-
split Wonderfilm Shares for every one (1) pre-split Wonderfilm Share held; 
 
“Three-Cornered Amalgamation” means the amalgamation of Wonderfilm and Newco, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Westshire II, to form Amalco under section 269 of the BCBCA; 
 
“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange; 
 
“TSX Trust” means TSX Trust Company; 
 
“UMIR” means the Universal Market Integrity Rules adopted by the Exchange and as may be amended from time to 
time and administered and enforced by the Exchange or any Regulation Services Provider retained by the Exchange; 
 
“Vendor Escrow Shares” means the Resulting Issuer Shares to be held in escrow pursuant to section 4 of Exchange 
Policy 5.4 - “Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions” and released in accordance with the applicable 
provisions thereof; 
 
“Vertical Amalgamation” means the amalgamation of Westshire II and Amalco under section 273 of the BCBCA 
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following the Three-Cornered Amalgamation; 
 
“Westshire II” means Westshire Capital II Corp., a corporation existing under the BCBCA; 
 
“Westshire II Board” means the board of directors of Westshire II; 
 
“Westshire II Agent’s Warrants” means the warrants entitling the Agent to purchase that number of Westshire II 
Shares which is equal to 8.0% of the Westshire II Shares sold (on a post-Consolidation basis) under the Westshire II 
Brokered Private Placement to investors that are not on the President's List. The Westshire II Agent’s Warrants may 
be exercised at any time prior to the date that is 24 months from the closing of the Westshire II Brokered Private 
Placement. The Westshire II Agent’s Warrants will become contractual obligations of Resulting Issuer upon 
completion of the Qualifying Transaction, and will thereafter be exercisable into Resulting Issuer Shares; 
 
“Westshire II Brokered Private Placement” means the concurrent brokered private placement financing of 
Westshire II, pursuant to which it will issue, on a post-Consolidation basis, a minimum of 1,000,000 and a maximum 
of 3,000,000 Westshire II Shares at $0.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of a minimum of $500,000 and a 
maximum of $1,500,000; 
 
“Westshire II Existing Warrants” means the outstanding warrants reserved for issuance under options held by the 
agent that acted on Westshire II’s behalf in connection with its initial public offering in May 2016 to acquire up to 
350,175 (87,544 on a post-Consolidation basis) Westshire II Shares at an exercise price of $0.10 per share until May 
31, 2018; 
 
“Westshire II Options” means options to purchase Westshire II Shares that were granted to the directors and officers 
of Westshire II on May 31, 2016 to acquire up to 666,900 (166,725 on a post-Consolidation basis) Westshire II Shares 
at an exercise price of $0.10 per share until May 31, 2021); 
 
“Westshire II Shareholders” means the registered holders of the Westshire II Shares; 
 
“Westshire II Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Westshire II; 
 
“Westshire II Stock Option Plan” means the Westshire II incentive stock option plan as of December 1, 2015 which 
provides that the Westshire II Board may, from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with Exchange 
requirements, grant to directors, officers, employees and consultants of Westshire II, non-transferable options to 
purchase Westshire II Shares; 
 
“Wonderfilm” means The Wonderfilm Media Corporation, a corporation based in Vancouver, British Columbia, and 
amalgamated under the BCBCA (refer to Part IV: Information Concerning Wonderfilm on page 33 of this Filing 
Statement); 
 
“Wonderfilm Acquisition” means the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding securities of Wonderfilm by 
Westshire II pursuant to the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement, which contemplates the completion of the Three-
Cornered Amalgamation, whereby Wonderfilm will amalgamate with Newco, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Westshire II, to form Amalco. Subsequently, Amalco will amalgamate with Westshire II pursuant to the Vertical 
Amalgamation to form the Resulting Issuer. The Wonderfilm Shareholders (other than Dissenting Shareholders), the 
Westshire II Shareholders and the Private Placement investors (other than Dissenting Shareholders), shall own all of 
the issued and outstanding securities of the Resulting Issuer. The Wonderfilm Acquisition is intended to constitute 
Westshire II’s Qualifying Transaction; 
 
“Wonderfilm Board” means the board of directors of Wonderfilm; 
 
“Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement” means the non-brokered private placement of Wonderfilm 
pursuant to which it will issue, on a post-Stock Split basis, up to 1,000,000 Wonderfilm Shares at $0.50 per share for 
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aggregate gross proceeds of up to $500,000; 
 
“Wonderfilm Shareholders” means the registered holders of the Wonderfilm Shares; and 
 
“Wonderfilm Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Wonderfilm. 
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PART I - SUMMARY OF FILING STATEMENT 
 
The following is a summary of information relating to Westshire II, Wonderfilm, and the Resulting Issuer (assuming 
completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition) and should be read together with the more detailed information and 
financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Filing Statement. Reference is made to the Glossary of 
Terms for the definitions of certain abbreviations and terms used in this Filing Statement and in this summary. 
 
This Filing Statement is being prepared in accordance with Exchange Policy 2.4 and Exchange Form 3B2 in 
connection with the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts in this Filing Statement are stated in Canadian dollars. 
 
The Companies 
 
Westshire II 
 
The full corporate name of Westshire II is Westshire Capital II Corp. Westshire II was incorporated by a certificate of 
incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the BCBCA on June 1, 2015. The registered office and head office 
address of Westshire II is Suite 2270, 8788 McKim Way, Richmond, British Columbia, V6X 4E2. The Westshire II 
Shares are listed on the Exchange under the trading symbol “WSH.P”.  
 
On August 28, 2017, Westshire II announced that it had entered into the Letter Agreement with Wonderfilm to 
complete a business combination whereby Wonderfilm and Westshire II would amalgamate and continue as one 
corporation, which would carry on the business of Wonderfilm. The Letter Agreement was subsequently superseded 
in its entirety by the Amalgamation Agreement, which contemplates the completion of the Three-Cornered 
Amalgamation, whereby Wonderfilm and Newco, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Westshire II, will amalgamate under 
the BCBCA and continue as one corporation, Amalco, which will carry on the business of Wonderfilm and which will 
subsequently be amalgamated with Westshire II by way of the Vertical Amalgamation.  
 
Shortly before the completion of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation, Westshire II intends to consolidate the Westshire 
II Shares, on the basis of one (1) post-Consolidation Westshire II Share for every four (4) pre-Consolidation Westshire 
II Shares held. Pursuant to Article 9.1 of the Articles of Incorporation of Westshire II, Westshire II may by directors 
resolution subdivide or consolidate all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares. The Consolidation is a 
condition precedent to Wonderfilm's obligation to complete the Three-Cornered Amalgamation. 
 
In addition, shortly before the completion of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation, Wonderfilm intends to complete a 
forward Stock Split on the basis of 1.33 post-Stock Split common shares for every one (1) pre-Stock Split common 
share. In connection with the Qualifying Transaction, Wonderfilm will receive 8,920,975 Westshire II Shares (on a 
post-Consolidation basis) at a deemed price per share of $0.50, for aggregate consideration of $4,460,488. 
 
The Westshire II Shares traded at a price of $0.18 on August 28, 2017, the last day of trading prior to the announcement 
of the Wonderfilm Acquisition.  Prior to the trading of Westshire II Shares being halted, the closing price of the 
Westshire II Shares, on August 25, 2017, was $0.10 per Westshire II Share. See “Part III: Information Concerning 
Westshire II”. 
 
Wonderfilm 
 
Wonderfilm was formed under the BCBCA through the amalgamation of Nine Tailed Films Inc. (incorporated under 
the BCBCA on January 10, 2014) and The Wonderfilm Media Corporation (incorporated under the BCBCA on May 
30, 2017).  Wonderfilm’s head office is located at 2412 Columbia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5Y 3E6.  
The registered and records office is located at 2270-8788 McKim Way, Richmond, British Columbia, V6X 4E2.  
 
Wonderfilm is a worldwide film and television media production-packaging company whose core business is 
producing independent films and television movies for global business-to-business distribution. Wonderfilm’s content 
development is geared toward low-risk, commercial productions that utilize tax incentives and have bankable accounts 
receivables, and Wonderfilm generates profits from three revenue streams: i) production-packaging fees; ii) short-
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term bridge production financing fees; and iii) future relicensing of acquired content. See “Part IV: Information 
Concerning Wonderfilm – General Development of Business – History” on page 35 and “The Wonderfilm Acquisition” 
on page 62 for a further description of these projects.  
 
No public market currently exists for the Wonderfilm Shares. 
 
The Wonderfilm Acquisition 
 
Pursuant to the Amalgamation Agreement, Wonderfilm and Westshire II will complete the Three-Cornered 
Amalgamation, whereby Wonderfilm and Newco will amalgamate and continue as one corporation, Amalco, under 
the name “The Wonderfilm Media Corporation” which will carry on the business of Wonderfilm. Shortly after the 
completion of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation, Westshire II will complete the Vertical Amalgamation, whereby 
Westshire II will vertically amalgamate with Amalco and continue as one corporation, the Resulting Issuer, which 
will carry on the business of Wonderfilm under the name “The Wonderfilm Media Corporation”. 
 
The Three-Cornered Amalgamation contemplates the exchange of the issued and outstanding post-Stock Split 
Wonderfilm Shares (other than the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares held by Dissenting Shareholders), 
including for certainty, the Wonderfilm Shares issued pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, 
for post-Consolidation Westshire II Shares on the basis of one post-Consolidation Westshire II Share for each post-
Stock Split Wonderfilm Share held immediately before the Effective Date at a deemed price of $0.50 per post-
Consolidation Westshire II Share, for aggregate deemed consideration to the Wonderfilm Shareholders of 
approximately $4,460,488. See “Part V – The Wonderfilm Acquisition”. 
 
There are currently: (a) 6,669,000 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding (of which 2,000,000 Westshire II Shares 
are being held in escrow under Exchange Policy 5.4: Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions); (b) 
666,900 Westshire II Shares reserved for issue under Westshire II Options held by Westshire II’s directors and 
officers; and (c) 350,175 Westshire II Shares reserved for issue under Westshire II Existing Warrants held by the agent 
that acted as Westshire II's agent in connection with its initial public offering in May 2016.  
 
If Westshire II completes the Consolidation, then immediately prior to the completion of the proposed Wonderfilm 
Acquisition there will be: (a) 1,667,250 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding (of which 500,000 Westshire II 
Shares will be held in escrow under Exchange Policy 5.4); (b) 166,725 Westshire II Shares reserved for issue under 
Westshire II Options held by Westshire II's directors and officers; and (c) 87,544 Westshire II Shares reserved for 
issue under Westshire II Existing Warrants held by the agent that acted as Westshire II's agent in connection with its 
initial public offering in May 2016. 
 
If Westshire II completes the Minimum Raise, then immediately prior to the Wonderfilm Acquisition there will be 
2,667,250 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding and up to 80,000 Westshire II Agent’s Warrants. After the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition, the investors in the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the Westshire II 
Shareholders will hold 2,667,250 Resulting Issuer Shares and up to 80,000 Resulting Issuer Agent’s Warrants and, on 
a fully diluted basis, 2,747,250 Resulting Issuer Shares (assuming the exercise of 80,000 Westshire II Agent’s 
Warrants but not the exercise of the Westshire II Options or the Westshire II Exisitng Warrants) in the capital of the 
Resulting Issuer, whereas the existing shareholders of Wonderfilm will hold 8,920,975 Resulting Issuer Shares on a 
post-Stock Split basis. See “Part IV: Information Concerning Westshire II – Consolidated Capitalization”. 
 
If Westshire II completes the Maximum Raise, then immediately prior to the Wonderfilm Acquisition there will be 
4,667,250 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding and up to 240,000 Westshire II Agent’s Warrants. After the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition, the investors in the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the Westshire II 
Shareholders will hold 4,667,250 Resulting Issuer Shares and up to 240,000 Resulting Issuer Agent’s Warrants and, 
on a fully diluted basis, 4,907,250 Resulting Issuer Shares (assuming the exercise of 240,000 Westshire II Agent’s 
Warrants but not the exercise of the Westshire II Options or the Westshire II Exisitng Warrants) in the capital of the 
Resulting Issuer, whereas the existing shareholders of Wonderfilm will hold 8,920,975 Resulting Issuer Shares on a 
post-Stock Split basis. See “Part IV: Information Concerning Westshire II – Consolidated Capitalization”. 
 
There are currently 6,707,500 Wonderfilm Shares issued and outstanding. If Wonderfilm completes the Stock Split, 
then immediately prior to the completion of the proposed Wonderfilm Acquisition there will be 16,394,910 
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Wonderfilm Shares issued and outstanding (of which 7,473,935 Wonderfilm Shares will be held in escrow under the 
terms of various performance share agreements). If Wonderfilm completes the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private 
Placement, there will be 17,394,910 issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares and the Wonderfilm Shareholders will 
hold 17,394,910 Resulting Issuer Shares.  
 
The Resulting Issuer Board will be composed of four directors. Westshire II will provide executed resignations and 
releases from each director and officer of Westshire II who will no longer be serving in such capacity, effective at the 
closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. The following nominees of Wonderfilm and Westshire II are expected to 
comprise the Resulting Issuer Board: Kirk Shaw, Norman Tsui, Dennis Nerland, and Szu Min Chiu. See “Part VI: 
Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Directors, Officers and Promoters”. 
 
The management team of the Resulting Issuer is expected to be composed of: Kirk Shaw (Chief Executive Officer), 
Norman Tsui (Executive Vice-President), Alan Tam (Chief Financial Officer), and Mouane Sengsavang (Corporate 
Secretary). See “Forward-Looking Information”.  
 
Private Placements 
 
Prior to the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, and on a post-Consolidation basis, Westshire II will complete 
the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement pursuant to which it will issue a minimum of 1,000,000 and a maximum 
of 3,000,000 Westshire II Shares at $0.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of a minimum of $500,000 and a 
maximum of $1,500,000. 
 
Concurrently with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, and on a post-Stock Split basis, Wonderfilm will 
complete the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement pursuant to which it will issue up to 1,000,000 
Wonderfilm Shares at $0.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $500,000.  
 
The proceeds from the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement 
will be used to finance the continued development of the business, and for working capital purposes. See “Part IV: 
Information Concerning Westshire II – Brokered Private Placement” and “Part IV: Information Concerning 
Wonderfilm –Private Placements”. See also “Available Funds and Principal Purposes” on page 16, “Programs 
Funded with Available Funds” on page 38, “Programs Funded with Available Funds” on page 45, and “Available 
Funds and Principal Purposes” on page 47 of this Filing Statement. 
 
Agent and Sponsor Relationships 
 
In accordance with the terms of the Engagement Letter, the Agent has agreed to act as the exclusive agent in connection 
with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, consisting of the issue and sale of Westshire II Shares at $0.50 per 
Westshire II Share, to raise minimum gross proceeds of $500,000 and maximum gross proceeds of $1,500,000.  
 
In consideration for the services received, the Agent will receive as compensation: (a) a cash commission equal to 
8.0% of the gross proceeds of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement which are derived from investors that are 
not on the President’s List; and (b) Westshire II Agent’s Warrants entitling the Agent to acquire such number of 
Westshire II Shares as is equal to 8% of the Westshire II Shares sold under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement 
to investors that are not on the President’s List. For investors on the President’s List, Westshire II has agreed to pay 
to the Agent a cash commission equal to 2% of the gross proceeds of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement 
raised from investors on the President’s List and grant Westshire II Agent’s Warrants equal to 2% of the number of 
Westshire II Shares issued under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement to investors on the President’s List. 
Each Westshire II Agent’s Warrant will entitle the Agent to purchase one Resulting Issuer Share on or before 24 
months from the closing date of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement at an exercise price of $0.50 per Resulting 
Issuer Share; (iii) a corporate finance fee of $27,500 plus applicable taxes; and (iv) payment of reasonable legal and 
other costs of the Agent. 
 
A general policy of the Exchange requires that a sponsor be retained to prepare a sponsor report in connection with 
any proposed Qualifying Transaction. The Resulting Issuer has applied for and received a sponsorship exemption 
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dated March 1, 2018, pursuant to section 3.4(a)(ii) of Policy 2.2 of the Exchange’s corporate finance manual. 
 
Interests of Insiders   
 
Insiders of Westshire II will be treated in the same manner as all other Westshire II Shareholders in connection with 
the Wonderfilm Acquisition. The following table summarizes the shareholdings of the Insiders of Westshire II before 
and after giving effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition.  
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Name of 
Insider, 

Promoter 
or Control 

Person 
(including 
Associates 

and 
Affiliates) 

of  
Westshire 

II 

Number 
and 

Percentage 
of Westshire 

II Shares 
and Options 
prior to the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
(including 
Associates 

and 
Affiliates)(3) 

Number and 
Percentage of 
Wonderfilm 

Shares prior to 
the 

Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
(including 

Associates and 
Affiliates)(4) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Minimum 

Raise and No 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(5) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Minimum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(6) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Maximum 

Raise and No 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(7) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Maximum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(8) 
Dennis 
Nerland 
Calgary, 
Alberta 

500,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

83,363 
Westshire II 

Options 
(7.59%) 

Nil 125,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.75%) 

125,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.72%) 

125,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.68%) 

125,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.65%) 

Douglas 
Carsted 
Calgary, 
Alberta 

400,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

83,363 stock 
options 
(6.29%) 

Nil 100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.62%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.59%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.56%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.54%) 

Peter 
Neweduk 
Calgary, 
Alberta  

400,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

83,363 stock 
options 
(6.29%) 

Nil 100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.62%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.59%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.56%) 

100,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.54%) 

Hilbert Ng 
Richmond, 
British 
Columbia 

200,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

83,363 stock 
options 
(3.69%) 

Nil 50,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.37%) 

50,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.35%) 

50,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.33%) 

50,000 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (0.31%) 

Norman 
Tsui(1) 
Richmond, 
British 
Columbia 

200,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

125,043 
stock options 

(4.23%) 

211,400 
Wonderfilm 

Shares (1.72%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.87%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.78%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.68%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.61%) 

Szu Min 
Chiu 
Richmond, 
British 
Columbia 

200,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

83,363 stock 
options 
(3.69%) 

211,400 
Wonderfilm 

Shares (1.72%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.81%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.73%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.63%) 

331,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
20,841 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.56%) 
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Name of 
Insider, 

Promoter 
or Control 

Person 
(including 
Associates 

and 
Affiliates) 

of  
Westshire 

II 

Number 
and 

Percentage 
of Westshire 

II Shares 
and Options 
prior to the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
(including 
Associates 

and 
Affiliates)(3) 

Number and 
Percentage of 
Wonderfilm 

Shares prior to 
the 

Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
(including 

Associates and 
Affiliates)(4) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Minimum 

Raise and No 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(5) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Minimum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(6) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Maximum 

Raise and No 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(7) 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting 
Issuer Shares 
and Options 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 
Assuming 
Maximum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

(including 
Associates and 

Affiliates)(8) 
Alan 
Tam(2) 
Vancouver, 
British 
Columbia 

100,000 
Westshire II 
Shares and 

125,042 
stock options 

(2.93%) 

211,400 
Wonderfilm 

Shares (1.72%) 

306,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.74%) 

306,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.65%) 

306,162 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.57%) 

306,162 
Resutitng Issuer 

Shares and 
31,260 

Resulting Issuer 
Options (1.50%) 

 
Notes: 
  
(1) Norman Tsui is the CEO of Westshire II and will be appointed Executive Vice President of the Resulting Issuer upon 

completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. See “Part VI: Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Directors, 
Officers and Promoters”. 
 

(2) Alan Tam is the CFO of Westshire II and will be appointed CFO of the Resulting Issuer upon completion of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition. See “Part VI: Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Directors, Officers and 
Promoters”.  

 
(3) Based on 6,669,000 Westshire II Shares, 666,900 incentive stock options and 350,175 Westshire II agent’s warrants 

currently issued and outstanding, on a fully diluted basis, prior to taking into effect the Westshire II Consolidation. The 
directors and officers hold an aggregate 666,900 incentive stock options, not including any Wonderfilm Shares that may 
be acquired by each individual under the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement and not including any Westshire 
II Shares that may be acquired by each individual under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement. 

 
(4) Based on 6,707,500 Wonderfilm Shares currently issued and outstanding, and 5,619,500 performance-based Wonderfilm 

Shares to be issued (see “Other Discretionary Escrow” on page 63 of this Filing Statement) on a fully diluted basis, prior 
to taking into effect the Wonderfilm Stock Split. 
 

(5) Based on 19,396,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, of which 7,473,935 shares will be subject to performance-based escrow 
(see Other Discretionary Escrow on page 63 of this Filing Statement); (i) up to 80,000 Resulting Issuer common shares 
reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (ii) 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under Westshire II Existing Options held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its 
initial public offering in May 2016; and (iii) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under 
Westshire II Options held by Westshire's directors and officers, on a fully diluted basis, after taking into effect the 
Consolidation and the Stock Split, and on closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, assuming the Minimum Raise and the 
maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
 

(6) Based on 20,396,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, of which 7,473,935 shares will be subject to performance-based escrow 
(see Other Discretionary Escrow on page 63 of this Filing Statement); (i) up to 80,000 Resulting Issuer common shares 
reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (ii) 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under Westshire II Existing Options held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its 
initial public offering in May 2016; and (iii) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under 
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Westshire II Options held by Westshire's directors and officers, on a fully diluted basis, after taking into effect the 
Consolidation and the Stock Split, and on closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, assuming the Minimum Raise and the 
maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 

 
(7) Based on 21,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, of which 7,473,935 shares will be subject to performance-based escrow 

(see Other Discretionary Escrow on page 63 of this Filing Statement); (i) up to 240,000 Resulting Issuer common shares 
reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (ii) 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under Westshire II Existing Options held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its 
initial public offering in May 2016; and (iii) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under 
Westshire II Options held by Westshire's directors and officers, on a fully diluted basis, after taking into effect the 
Consolidation and the Stock Split, and on closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, assuming the Minimum Raise and the 
maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
 

(8) Based on 22,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, of which 7,473,935 shares will be subject to performance-based escrow 
(see Other Discretionary Escrow on page 63 of this Filing Statement); (i) up to 240,000 Resulting Issuer common shares 
reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (ii) 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under Westshire II Existing Options held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its 
initial public offering in May 2016; and (iii) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under 
Westshire II Options held by Westshire II's directors and officers, after taking into effect the Consolidation and the Stock 
Split, and on closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, assuming the Maximum Raise and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private Placement. 

 
(9) The above figures include the existing Westshire II Shares held by the directors and officers and the 166,725 Westshire 

II Shares expected to be acquired by the Westshire II directors and officers upon exercise of the outstanding Westshire 
II Options, on a post-consolidated basis.  

 
Non-Arm's Length Qualifying Transaction 
 
The Wonderfilm Acquisition is not a Non-Arm's Length Qualifying Transaction under the policies of the Exchange.  
 
Shareholder Approvals 
 
The Wonderfilm Acquisition is intended to constitute Westshire II’s Qualifying Transaction and will require approval 
of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation by shareholders of Wonderfilm and Newco. The Vertical Amalgamation will 
also require approval from the directors of Westshire II pursuant to section 273 of the BCBCA, which provides that a 
vertical short form amalgamation may be effected by way of directors’ resolution, if the resolutions provide that (i) 
the shares of each amalgamating subsidiary corporation be cancelled on the amalgamation without any repayment of 
capital in respect of those shares; (ii) the amalgamated company have, as its notice of articles and articles, the notice 
of articles and articles of the holding corporation; (iii) the amalgamated company refrain from issuing any securities 
in connection with the amalgamation; and on an amalgamation under this section, the capital of the amalgamated 
company is the same as the capital of the amalgamating holding corporation. 
 
Available Funds and Principal Purposes  
 
The Resulting Issuer is expected to have approximately $758,596 available on the Closing Date, assuming completion 
of the Minimum Raise and no funds raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, and 
$2,258,596 assuming completion of the Maximum Raise and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private 
Placement. As of June 30, 2017, the Resulting Issuer has an estimated consolidated working capital of $325,964. As 
of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing Statement, the Resulting Issuer has an estimated 
consolidated working capital of $258,596. The Resulting Issuer is expected to use the funds available to it in 
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furtherance of its stated business objectives which are as summarized in the table appearing below.  
 

Sources of Funds: Estimated Amount 
(Minimum Raise and No 

Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 
Private Placement) 

Estimated Amount 
(Maximum Raise and 

Maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private 

Placement) 
Estimated pro forma working capital as of the Closing Date $258,596 $258,596 
Gross proceeds from private placements $750,000(1) $2,000,000 
Total Sources $1,008,596(2) $2,258,596(2) 
Use of Funds:    
Wonderfilm Acquisition Costs   

 Legal and other estimated costs $350,000 $350,000 
 Finance fee $40,000 $160,000 

Production Packaging Costs and Brand Building with Agents, 
Actors, and Script Deal Flow  

$20,000 $320,000 

Sales and Marketing Activities, Including Meeting with 
Buyers at the Sundance Film Festival, Meeting with 
Executives at B2B National Association of TV Programming 
Executives, Attending Berlin International Film Festival, 
B2B American Film Market, Hong Kong Film Festival, 
Cannes Film Festival, Toronto International Film Festival, 
and MIPCOM in France 

$160,000 $460,000 

General and Administration $338,596 $220,000 
Unallocated working capital to fund ongoing operations $100,000 $748,596 
Total Uses $1,008,596 $2,258,596 

Notes:  
(1) Final acceptance of the Qualifying Transaction is subject to closing of both the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement 

and the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement for minimum gross proceeds of $750,000. 
 
(2) Pro forma working capital equals starting cash of $258,596 as of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing 

Statement, and $500,000 in gross proceeds from the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, assuming completion of 
the Minimum Raise, and $250,000 in gross proceeds from the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, not taking 
into account transaction costs. 

 
(2) Pro forma working capital equals starting cash of $258,596 as of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing 

Statement, and $2,000,000 in gross proceeds from the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, assuming completion of 
the Maximum Raise, and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, not taking into account transaction 
costs. 

 
(3) Unallocated working capital will be used to cover future ongoing G&A costs. 
 
Based on current projections, management believes that the Resulting Issuer’s working capital available for funding 
ongoing operations is expected to meet its expenses for a minimum period of 12 months commencing immediately 
after the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition.  
 
For additional information, see “Part IV: Information Concerning Wonderfilm –Principal Products, Services, and 
Nature of Operations, Programs Funded with Available Funds” on page 38 of this Filing Statement, “Part IV: 
Information Concerning Wonderfilm – Stated Business Objectives” on page 39 of this Filing Statement, “Part VI: 
Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Programs Funded with Available Funds” on page 45 of this Listing 
Statement, and “Forward-Looking Information” on page 1 of this Listing Statement. 
 
Notwithstanding the proposed uses of available funds discussed above, there may be circumstances where a 
reallocation of funds may be necessary. It is difficult, at this time, to definitively project the total funds necessary to 
effect the planned activities of the Resulting Issuer. For these reasons, management of Westshire II and Wonderfilm 
consider it to be in the best interests of the Resulting Issuer and its shareholders to afford management a reasonable 
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degree of flexibility as to how the funds are employed among the uses identified above, or for other purposes, as the 
need arises. Further, the above uses of available funds should be considered estimates. See “Part IV: Information 
Concerning Wonderfilm – Information Concerning Wonderfilm Acquisition” and “Forward-Looking Information”. 
 
Selected Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information  
 
The following table contains certain financial information regarding the Resulting Issuer. This table should be read in 
conjunction with the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Resulting Issuer included in this Filing 
Statement as Appendix I. 
 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

 Westshire 
II                  

(as at 
December 
31, 2017) 

Wonderfilm                      
(as at 

September 
30, 2017) 

Adjustments(1) 

(Minimum Raise 
and $250,000 
Raised from 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement) 

Adjustments(2) 

(Maximum 
Raise and 
Minimum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement) 

Pro Forma 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position(1) 

(Minimum 
Raise and 
$250,000 

Raised from 
Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered 
Private 

Placement) 

Pro Forma 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position(2) 

(Maximum 
Raise and 
Minimum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement) 

Total assets $637,636 $3,795,210 $340,000 $570,000 $4,772,846 $5,002,846 
Total 
liabilities 

$379,040 $93,674 $nil $nil $472,714 $472,714 

Shareholders' 
equity 

$258,596 $3,701,536 $340,000 $570,000 $4,772,846 $5,002,846 

 
Notes: 
 

(1) Assumes the Minimum Raise and $250,000 raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
(2) Assumes the Maximum Raise and minimum $0 raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement.  

 
Listing and Market Price of Common Shares 
 
The Westshire II Shares are listed on the Exchange under the symbol “WSH.P”. The closing market price of the 
Westshire II Shares on August 28, 2017, the trading date immediately preceding the announcement of the Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, was $0.18. See “Part III – Information Concerning Westshire II – Stock Exchange Price”. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Some of the individuals expected to serve as directors or officers of the Resulting Issuer upon the completion of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition are also directors, officers and/or Promoters of other reporting and non-reporting issuers. As 
of the date of this Filing Statement and to the knowledge of the directors and officers of Westshire II and Wonderfilm 
there are no existing conflicts of interest between the Resulting Issuer and any of the individuals proposed for 
appointment as directors or officers of the Resulting Issuer following the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition.  
 
Interests of Experts 
 
The following Persons (“Professional Persons”) whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made 
by that Person are named as having prepared or certified a part of this Filing Statement or having prepared or certified 
a report or valuation described or included in this Filing Statement:  
 

(a) Westshire II’s auditor, A Chan and Company LLP of Burnaby, British Columbia, has advised 
Westshire II that it is independent of Westshire II within the meaning of the Rules of Professional 
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Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia.   
 

(b)  Wonderfilm’s auditor, A Chan and Company LLP of Burnaby, British Columbia, has advised 
Wonderfilm that it is independent of Wonderfilm within the meaning of the Rules of Professional 
Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia.    

 
To the knowledge of the management of Westshire II and Wonderfilm, as of the date hereof, no Professional Person 
or any Associate or Affiliate of a Professional Person, has any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in the securities 
or property of Westshire II, Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of Westshire II, 
Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer, and no Professional Person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as 
a director, officer or employee of the Resulting Issuer or of any Associate or Affiliate of the Resulting Issuer.  
 
Risk Factors 
 
AN INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES OF WESTSHIRE II AND WONDERFILM AND, FOLLOWING 
THE COMPLETION OF THE TRANSACTIONS, THE RESULTING ISSUER, IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE 
AND INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND SHOULD ONLY BE MADE BY INVESTORS WHO 
CAN AFFORD TO LOSE THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. 
 
An investment in a film production and packaging company involves a significant degree of risk, including risks 
related to intellectual property protection, cash flow and liquidity, the ongoing need for financing, a volatile stock 
price and costs, risks related to supply and customer contracts, risks related to integrating Westshire II and 
Wonderfilm, and competition for key personnel. Westshire II Shareholders should consider that Westshire II may not 
realize the anticipated benefits of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. For a comprehensive discussion of the risk factors 
relating to the Resulting Issuer, see Part II - “Resulting Issuer Risk Factors”. 
 
PART II - RESULTING ISSUER RISK FACTORS 
 
The following risk factors relate to the business of Wonderfilm. Since Westshire II has no active business as a capital 
pool corporation, the business of Wonderfilm will be the Resulting Issuer’s sole enterprise after completion of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition and the following risk factors will therefore apply to the Resulting Issuer’s business. 
 
Wonderfilm Currently Has Limited Financial History and Operating Cash Flow 
 
Since incorporation of its predecessor Nine Tailed Films Inc. on January 10, 2014, Wonderfilm has had limited 
financial activity and negative cash flow.  There can be no certainty that Wonderfilm will ever achieve or sustain 
profitability or positive cash flow from its operating activities. In addition, Wonderfilm’s working capital and funding 
needs may vary significantly depending upon a number of factors including, but not limited to: 
 
•progress of Wonderfilm’s production, financing, and distribution activities; 
•collaborative license agreements with third parties; 
•opportunities to in-license beneficial productions or potential acquisitions; 
•potential milestone or other payments that Wonderfilm may make to licensors or corporate partners;  
•technological and market consumption and distribution models or alternative forms of entertainment delivery that 
affect Wonderfilm’s potential revenue levels or competitive position in the marketplace; 
•the level of sales and gross profit; 
•costs associated with production, labour and services costs, and Wonderfilm’s ability to realize operation and 
production efficiencies; 
•fluctuations in certain working capital items, including library assets, short-term loans, and accounts receivable, that 
may be necessary to support the growth of Wonderfilm’s business; and 
•expenses associated with litigation. 

Early Stage 
 
Wonderfilm is an early stage company and as such, Wonderfilm is subject to many risks including under-
capitalization, cash shortages, and limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of 
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revenue.  There is no assurance that Wonderfilm will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment 
and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. Wonderfilm’s prospects must 
be considered speculative in light of the risks, expenses, and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their 
early stages of operations, particularly in the highly competitive and rapidly evolving markets in which Wonderfilm 
operates. To attempt to address these risks, Wonderfilm must, among other things, successfully implement its business 
plan, marketing, and commercialization strategies, respond to competitive developments, and attract, retain, and 
motivate qualified personnel.  A substantial risk is involved in investing in Wonderfilm because, as a smaller 
commercial enterprise that has fewer resources than an established company, Wonderfilm’s management may be more 
likely to make mistakes, and Wonderfilm may be more vulnerable operationally and financially to any mistakes that 
may be made, as well as to external factors beyond Wonderfilm’s control. 

Wonderfilm May Not be Able to Successfully Execute its Business Plan 
 
The execution of Wonderfilm’s business plan poses many challenges and is based on a number of assumptions. 
Wonderfilm may not be able to successfully execute its business plan. If Wonderfilm experiences significant cost 
overruns, or if its business plan is more costly than it anticipates, certain activities may be delayed or eliminated, 
resulting in changes or delays to its current plans, or Wonderfilm may be compelled to secure additional funding 
(which may or may not be available) to execute its business plan. Wonderfilm cannot predict with certainty its future 
revenues or results from its operations. If the assumptions on which its revenues or expenditures forecasts are based 
change, the benefits of Wonderfilm’s business plan may change as well. In addition, Wonderfilm may consider 
expanding its business beyond what is currently contemplated in its business plan. Depending on the financing 
requirements of a potential business expansion, Wonderfilm may be required to raise additional capital through the 
issuance of equity or debt. If Wonderfilm is unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms, it may be unable to 
pursue a potential business expansion. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Capital Requirements and Financial Risks 
 
The business requires a substantial investment of capital. The production, acquisition, and distribution of motion 
picture and television content requires substantial capital. A significant amount of time may elapse between 
Wonderfilm’s expenditure of funds and the receipt of revenues after release or distribution of such content.  This may 
require a significant portion of funds from equity, credit, and other financing sources to fund the business.  Although 
the risks of production exposure are reduced through tax credit programs, government and industry programs, other 
studios and co-financiers and other sources, there can be no assurance that these arrangements will continue to be 
successfully implemented or will not be subject to substantial financial risks relating to the production, acquisition, 
and distribution of future indie film and television content. In addition, if the production slate or the production budgets 
increase through internal growth or acquisition, there may be an increase to overhead and/or larger up-front payments 
for talent acquisition and, consequently, these increases bear greater financial risks. Any of the foregoing could have 
a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Additional Capital Requirements 

Wonderfilm may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If Wonderfilm raises 
additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, Wonderfilm’s existing shareholders 
could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities Wonderfilm issues could have rights, preferences, and 
privileges superior to those of holders of Wonderfilm Shares. Any debt financing secured by Wonderfilm in the future 
could involve restrictive covenants relating to its capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, 
which might make it more difficult for it to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. 

Wonderfilm can provide no assurance that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available on reasonable terms or 
at all to support its business growth and to respond to business challenges and failure to obtain sufficient debt or equity 
financing when required could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. 

Wonderfilm expects to incur short-term losses and generate negative cash flow until it can produce sufficient revenues 
to cover its costs. Wonderfilm may never become profitable. Even if it does achieve profitability, Wonderfilm may be 
unable to sustain or increase its profitability in the future. For the reasons discussed in more detail below, there are 
substantial uncertainties associated with Wonderfilm achieving and sustaining profitability. Wonderfilm expects its 
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cash reserves will be reduced due to future operating losses and working capital requirements, and it cannot provide 
certainty as to how long its cash reserves will last or that it will be able to access additional capital if and when 
necessary. 
 
Wonderfilm May Need to Raise Additional Capital in the Future to Fund its Operations 
 
Wonderfilm may require substantial additional capital resources to further its production-packaging business model.  
Future cash requirements may vary materially from those expected if Wonderfilm elects to produce indie films, acquire 
indie films or experiences operational production delays or unexpected increases in costs related to the maintenance, 
defense, and enforcement of proprietary intellectual properties and tax credit refunds.  
 
Sources of additional funding include collaborations and licensing arrangements, public or private equity, or debt 
financing.  
 
If Wonderfilm’s commercialization activities do not show positive results, or if capital market conditions in general, 
or with respect to entertainment motion picture companies in particular, are unfavorable, Wonderfilm may be unable 
to raise funds when needed or on acceptable terms.  
 
Any Additional Equity Financings May Be Dilutive to Wonderfilm’s Existing Stockholders 
 
If sufficient capital is not available, Wonderfilm may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, eliminate or divest one 
or more of its library assets or productions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s 
business, financial condition, prospects, or results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Broad Discretion Over the Use of Net Proceeds 
 
Wonderfilm will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from any future capital raises. Because of the 
number and variability of factors that will determine Wonderfilm’s use of such proceeds, the ultimate use might vary 
substantially from the planned use. Investors may not agree with how Wonderfilm allocates or spends the proceeds 
from future capital raises. Wonderfilm may pursue collaborations that ultimately do not result in an increase in the 
market value of the common shares and that instead increase Wonderfilm’s losses. 
 
Budget Overruns May Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business 
 
While Wonderfilm’s business model requires efficiency in the production of indie films and television content, actual 
production costs may exceed their budgets. The production, completion, and distribution of such content can be subject 
to a number of uncertainties, including delays and increased expenditures due to disruptions or events beyond 
Wonderfilm’s control.  As a result, if each production incurs substantial budget overruns, additional financing may 
need to be sourced. There are no assurances regarding the availability of such additional financing or on mutually 
acceptable terms, or that such costs will be recouped. Budget overruns could also prevent a picture from being 
completed or released, thereby having a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, operating results, 
liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Results of Operations are Difficult to Predict and Depend on a Variety of Factors  
 
Results may fluctuate due to the timing, mix, number, and availability of indie films produced or acquired and home 
entertainment releases, as well as license periods for content. The operating results may increase or decrease during a 
particular period or fiscal year due to differences in the number and/or mix of films released compared to the 
corresponding period in the prior fiscal year.  Moreover, the results of operations may be impacted by the commercial 
success of all of Wonderfilm’s indie films and televisions productions. There is no assurance that the production, 
acquisition, and distribution of all current and future motion pictures will be managed successfully to receive critical 
acclaim or perform well commercially. Any inability to achieve such commercial success could have a material 
adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. Operating 
results also fluctuate due to accounting practices which may recognize the acquisition and sale of indie films in 
different periods than the recognition of related revenues, which may occur in later periods. In addition, the 
comparability of results may be affected by changes in accounting guidance or changes in Wonderfilm’s ownership 



23 
 

S0456573 - V1  

of certain assets. Accordingly, the results of operations from year to year may not be directly comparable to prior 
reporting periods.  As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the results of operations may fluctuate significantly 
from period to period, and the results of any one period may not be indicative of the results for any future period. 
 
Many Production or Co-Financing Partners Do Not Have Long-Term Arrangements 
 
Wonderfilm typically does not enter into long-term production contracts with the creative producers of motion picture 
and television content that it produces, acquires or distributes. Moreover, Wonderfilm generally has certain derivative 
rights that provide for distribution rights to, for example, prequels, sequels, and remakes of certain content that 
Wonderfilm may produce, acquire or distribute.  However, there is no guarantee that Wonderfilm will produce, acquire 
or distribute future content by any creative producer or co-financing partner, and a failure to do so could adversely 
affect the business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm.   
 
There are No Long-Term Agreements with Retailers   
 
There is no assurance that favourable relationships with retailers and distributors will develop or, if developed, will 
be maintained or that they will not be adversely affected by economic conditions.  If any retailer or distributor reduces 
or cancels a significant order or becomes bankrupt, it could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on the Commercial Success of Motion Pictures and Television Programming, which 
is Unpredictable 
 
Generally, the popularity of Wonderfilm’s programs depends on many factors, including the critical acclaim they 
receive, the format of their initial release, their talent, their genre and their specific subject matter, audience reaction, 
the quality and acceptance of motion pictures or television content that Wonderfilm’s competitors release into the 
marketplace at or near the same time, critical reviews, the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and leisure 
activities, general economic conditions, and other tangible and intangible factors, many of which Wonderfilm does 
not control and all of which may change. Wonderfilm cannot predict the future effects of these factors with certainty. 
In addition, because a performance in ancillary markets, such as home video and pay and free television, is often 
directly related to its box office performance or television ratings, poor box office results or poor television ratings 
may negatively affect future revenue streams. Wonderfilm’s success will depend on the experience and judgment of 
its management to select and develop new investment and production opportunities. Wonderfilm cannot assure that 
its motion pictures and television programming will obtain favourable reviews or ratings, that its motion pictures will 
perform well at the box office or in ancillary markets, or that broadcasters will license the rights to broadcast any of 
its television programs in the development or renewal of licenses to broadcast programs in its library. Additionally, 
Wonderfilm cannot assure that any original programming content will appeal to its distributors and subscribers. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Business Involves Risks of Liability Claims for Content of Material, Which Could Adversely Affect its 
Business, Results of Operations, and Financial Condition 
 
As a distributor of media content, Wonderfilm may face potential liability for defamation, invasion of privacy, 
negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, and other claims based on the nature and content of the materials 
distributed. These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against producers and distributors of 
media content. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage could 
have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and 
prospects. 
 
Piracy of Films and Television Programs Could Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business Over Time 
 
Piracy is extensive in many parts of the world and is made easier by the availability of digital copies of content and 
technological advances allowing conversion of films and television content into digital formats. This trend facilitates 
the creation, transmission, and sharing of high quality unauthorized copies of motion pictures and television content. 
The proliferation of unauthorized copies of these products has had and will likely continue to have an adverse effect 
on Wonderfilm’s business, because these products reduce the revenue it receives from its products. In order to contain 
this problem, Wonderfilm may have to implement elaborate and costly security and anti-piracy measures, which could 
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result in significant expenses and losses of revenue. 
 
There is No Assurance that Even the Highest Levels of Security and Anti-Piracy Measures Will Prevent Piracy 
 
In particular, unauthorized copying and piracy are prevalent in countries outside of the United States, Canada, and 
Western Europe, whose legal systems may make it difficult for Wonderfilm to enforce its intellectual property rights. 
While the United States government has publicly considered implementing trade sanctions against specific countries 
that, in its opinion, do not make appropriate efforts to prevent copyright infringements of United States-produced 
motion pictures and television content, there can be no assurance that any such sanctions will be enacted or, if enacted, 
will be effective. In addition, if enacted, such sanctions could impact the amount of revenue that Wonderfilm realizes 
from the international exploitation of its content. 
 
Protecting and Defending Against Intellectual Property Claims May Have a Material Adverse Effect on Wonderfilm’s 
Business 
 
Wonderfilm’s ability to compete depends, in part, upon successful protection of its intellectual property. Wonderfilm 
attempts to protect proprietary and intellectual property rights to its productions through available copyright and 
trademark laws and licensing and distribution arrangements with reputable international companies in specific 
territories and media for limited durations. Despite these precautions, existing copyright and trademark laws afford 
only limited practical protection in certain countries where Wonderfilm distributes its products. As a result, it may be 
possible for unauthorized third parties to copy and distribute Wonderfilm’s productions or certain portions or 
applications of its intended productions, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Litigation may also be necessary to enforce Wonderfilm’s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, or 
to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement or 
invalidity. Any such litigation, infringement or invalidity claims could result in substantial costs and the diversion of 
resources and could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, 
liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm’s more successful and popular film or television products or franchises may experience higher levels of 
infringing activity, particularly around key release dates. Alleged infringers have claimed and may claim that their 
products are permitted under fair use or similar doctrines, that they are entitled to compensatory or punitive damages 
because Wonderfilm’s efforts to protect its intellectual property rights are illegal or improper, and that its key 
trademarks or other significant intellectual property are invalid. Such claims, even if meritless, may result in adverse 
publicity or costly litigation. Wonderfilm will vigorously defend its copyrights and trademarks from infringing 
products and activity, which can result in litigation. Wonderfilm may receive unfavorable preliminary or interim 
rulings in the course of litigation, and there can be no assurance that a favorable final outcome will be obtained in all 
cases. Additionally, one of the risks of the film and television production business is the possibility that others may 
claim that Wonderfilm’s productions and production techniques misappropriate or infringe the intellectual property 
rights of third parties with respect to their previously developed films and televisions series, stories, characters, other 
entertainment or intellectual property. Regardless of the validity or the success of the assertion of any such claims, 
Wonderfilm could incur significant costs and diversion of resources in enforcing its intellectual property rights or in 
defending against such claims, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Risks From Doing Business Internationally 
 
Wonderfilm distributes content outside the United States and derive revenues from international sources. 
 
As a result, Wonderfilm’s business is subject to certain risks inherent in international business, many of which are 
beyond its control.  
 
These risks may include: 
• laws and policies affecting trade, investment and taxes, including laws and policies relating to the repatriation of 
funds and withholding taxes, and changes in these laws; 
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• anti-corruption laws and regulations such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act that impose strict requirements on 
how Wonderfilm conducts its foreign operations and changes in these laws and regulations; 
• changes in local regulatory requirements, including restrictions on content and differing cultural tastes and attitudes; 
• international jurisdictions where laws are less protective of intellectual property and varying attitudes towards the 
piracy of intellectual property; 
• financial instability and increased market concentration of buyers in foreign television markets, including in 
European pay television markets; 
• the instability of foreign economies and governments; 
• fluctuating foreign exchange rates; 
• the spread of communicable diseases in such jurisdictions, which may impact business in such jurisdictions; and 
• war and acts of terrorism. 
 
Events or developments related to these and other risks associated with international trade could adversely affect 
Wonderfilm’s revenues from non-U.S. sources, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. Protection of electronically stored data is costly and if 
Wonderfilm’s data is compromised in spite of this protection, Wonderfilm may incur additional costs, lost 
opportunities, and damage to its reputation. 
 
Wonderfilm maintains information in digital form as necessary to conduct its business, including confidential and 
proprietary information, copies of films, television programs and other content, and personal information regarding 
its employees.  
 
Data maintained in digital form is subject to the risk of intrusion, tampering, and theft. Wonderfilm develops and 
maintains systems to prevent this from occurring, but it is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as 
technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become more sophisticated. Moreover, despite 
Wonderfilm’s efforts, the possibility of intrusion, tampering, and theft cannot be eliminated entirely, and risks 
associated with each of these acts remain. In addition, Wonderfilm provides confidential information, digital content 
and personal information to third parties when it is necessary to pursue business objectives. While Wonderfilm obtains 
assurances that these third parties will protect this information and, where appropriate, monitor the protections 
employed by these third parties, there is a risk that data systems of these third parties may be compromised. If 
Wonderfilm’s data systems or data systems of these third parties are compromised, Wonderfilm’s ability to conduct 
its business may be impaired, it may lose profitable opportunities or the value of those opportunities may be diminished 
and it may lose revenue as a result of unlicensed use of its intellectual property. A breach of Wonderfilm’s network 
security or other theft or misuse of confidential and proprietary information, digital content or personal employee 
information could subject Wonderfilm to business, regulatory, litigation, and reputation risk, which could have a 
materially adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Incurs Expenditures in Foreign Currency and Does Not Hedge Against Foreign Currency Risks 

Wonderfilm operates in Canada and the United States and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 
transactions denominated in a foreign currency. The operating results and the financial position of Wonderfilm are 
reported in Canadian dollars but its functional currency at its U.S. operation is the United States. The fluctuations of 
the United States dollar as the operating currency in relation to the Canadian dollar will, consequently, have an impact 
upon the reporting results of Wonderfilm and may also affect the value of Wonderfilm’s assets and liabilities.  
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Competition in All Aspects of Its Business 
 
Wonderfilm is smaller and less diversified than many of its competitors.  
 
Unlike Wonderfilm, an independent distributor and producer, most of the major United States studios are part of large 
diversified corporate groups with a variety of other operations that can provide both the means of distributing their 
products and stable sources of earnings that may allow them to better offset fluctuations in the financial performance 
of their motion picture and television operations. The major studios also have more resources with which to compete 
for ideas, storylines, and scripts created by third parties as well as for actors, directors, and other personnel required 
for production. These resources may also give them an advantage in acquiring other businesses or assets, including 
film libraries, that Wonderfilm might also be interested in acquiring. 
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The Motion Picture Industry is Highly Competitive 
 
The number of motion pictures released by Wonderfilm’s competitors may create an oversupply of product in the 
market, reduce its share of box office receipts, and make it more difficult for Wonderfilm’s films to succeed 
commercially. The limited supply of motion picture screens compounds this product oversupply problem, which may 
be most pronounced during peak release times such as holidays, when theater attendance is expected to be highest. As 
a result of changes in the theatrical exhibition industry, including reorganizations and consolidations, and major studio 
releases occupying more screens, the number of screens available to Wonderfilm when it wants to release a picture 
may decrease. If the number of motion picture screens decreases, box office receipts, and the correlating future revenue 
streams, such as from home entertainment and pay and free television, of Wonderfilm’s motion pictures may also 
decrease. Moreover, Wonderfilm cannot guarantee that it can release all of its films when they are otherwise scheduled 
due to production or other delays, or a change in the schedule of a major studio. Any such change could adversely 
impact a film's financial performance. In addition, if Wonderfilm cannot change its schedule after such a change by a 
major studio because it is too close to the release date, the major studio's release and its typically larger promotion 
budget may adversely impact the financial performance of Wonderfilm’s film. 
 
The Home Entertainment Industry is Highly Competitive  
 
Wonderfilm competes with all of the major United States studios which distribute their theatrical, television, and titles 
acquired from third parties on DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media and have marketing budgets greater than 
Wonderfilm’s budgets. Wonderfilm not only competes for ultimate consumer sales, but also with these parties and 
independent home entertainment distributors for location and shelf space placement at retailers and other distributors. 
The quality and quantity of titles as well as the quality of Wonderfilm’s marketing programs determines how much 
shelf space it is able to garner at any given time as retailers and other distributors look to maximize sales. Wonderfilm 
also competes with United States studios and other distributors that may have certain competitive advantages over the 
company to acquire the rights to sell or rent DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media. Wonderfilm’s ability to license and 
produce quality content in sufficient quantities has a direct impact on its ability to acquire shelf space at retail locations 
and on websites. In addition, certain of Wonderfilm’s content is obtained through agreements with other parties that 
have produced or own the rights to such content, while other United States studios may produce most of the content 
they distribute. 
 
Wonderfilm’s DVDs/Blu-ray discs sales and other media sales are also impacted by myriad choices consumers have 
to view entertainment content, including over-the-air broadcast television, cable television networks, online services, 
mobile services, radio, print media, motion picture theaters, and other sources of information and entertainment. The 
increasing availability of content from these varying media outlets may reduce Wonderfilm’s ability to sell DVDs/ 
Blu-ray discs and other media in the future, particularly during difficult economic conditions. 
 
Wonderfilm Must Successfully Respond to Rapid Technological Changes and Alternative Forms of Delivery or 
Storage to Remain Competitive 
 
The entertainment industry continues to undergo significant developments as advances in technologies and new 
methods of product delivery and storage (including the emergence of alternative distribution platforms), and certain 
changes in consumer behaviour driven by these developments, emerge. New technologies affect the demand for 
Wonderfilm’s content, the manner in which its content is distributed to consumers, the sources and nature of competing 
content offerings, and the time and manner in which consumers acquire and view its content. New technologies also 
may affect Wonderfilm’s ability to maintain or grow its business and may increase its capital expenditures.  
 
Wonderfilm and its Distributors Must Adapt its Businesses to Shifting Patterns of Content Consumption and Changing 
Consumer Behavior and Preferences Through the Adoption and Exploitation of New Technologies 
 
For instance, such changes may impact the revenue Wonderfilm is able to generate from traditional distribution 
methods by decreasing the viewership of its networks on systems of cable operators, satellite television providers, and 
telecommunication companies, or by decreasing the number of households subscribing to services offered by those 
distributors. If Wonderfilm cannot successfully exploit these and other emerging technologies, its appeal to targeted 
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audiences might decline which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Dependence on Management and Key Personnel 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends largely upon the continued services of its executive officers and other key employees. 
From time to time, there may be changes in Wonderfilm’s executive management team resulting from the hiring or 
departure of executives, which could disrupt its business. If Wonderfilm is unable to attract and retain top talent, its 
ability to compete may be harmed. Wonderfilm’s success is also highly dependent on its continuing ability to identify, 
hire, train, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel. Competition for highly skilled entertainment executives 
and other employees is high in Wonderfilm’s industry, and Wonderfilm may not be successful in attracting and 
retaining such personnel. Failure to attract and retain qualified executive officers and other key employees could have 
a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on Attracting and Retaining Talent 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends upon the continued efforts, abilities, and expertise of key employees, including 
production, creative, and technical personnel. Wonderfilm’s success also depends on its ability to identify, attract, 
hire, train, and retain such personnel. Wonderfilm has entered into agreements with production executives but does 
not currently have significant “key person” life insurance policies for any employees or officers. Although it is 
standard in the industry to rely on employment agreements as a method of retaining the services of key employees, 
these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. In addition, competition for the limited 
number of business, production, and creative personnel necessary to create and distribute Wonderfilm’s entertainment 
content is intense and may grow in the future. Wonderfilm may not be successful in identifying, attracting, hiring, 
training, and retaining such personnel in the future, and its inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Could Be Adversely Affected by Strikes or Other Union Job Actions  
 
Wonderfilm is directly or indirectly dependent upon highly specialized union members who are essential to the 
production of motion pictures and television content. A strike by, or a lockout of, one or more of the unions that 
provide personnel essential to the production of motion pictures or television content could delay or halt Wonderfilm’s 
ongoing production activities, or could cause a delay or interruption in its release of new motion pictures and television 
content. A strike may result in increased costs and decreased revenue, which could have a material adverse effect on 
Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors, officers, and other members of management of Wonderfilm serve (and may in the future 
serve) as directors, officers, and members of management of other companies and therefore, it is possible that a conflict 
may arise between their duties as a director, officer or member of management of Wonderfilm and their duties as a 
director, officer or member of management of such other companies. The directors and officers of Wonderfilm are 
aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors and officers for corporate opportunity and 
requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of interest and Wonderfilm will rely upon such laws in respect of any 
directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. All 
such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with the BCBCA and they will govern 
themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. 
 
It May Not Be Possible for Foreign Investors to Enforce Actions Against the Company, and its Directors and Officers  
 
Wonderfilm is a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. All of Wonderfilm’s 
directors and executive officers reside principally in Canada. Because all or a substantial portion of Wonderfilm’s 
assets and the assets of these persons are located in Canada, it may not be possible for foreign investors, including 
United States investors, to effect service of process from outside of Canada upon Wonderfilm or those persons. 
Furthermore, it may not be possible to enforce against Wonderfilm foreign judgments obtained in courts outside of 
Canada based upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws or other laws in those jurisdictions. 
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Any Disruption at Wonderfilm’s Places of Business Could Delay Revenues or Increase its Expenses 
 
All of Wonderfilm’s operations are conducted at locations in Vancouver and Los Angeles.  A natural disaster, such as 
a fire, flood or earthquake, could cause substantial delays in Wonderfilm’s operations, damage or destroy its offices, 
and cause Wonderfilm to incur additional expenses. 
 
In addition, because Wonderfilm does not maintain “key person” life insurance on any of its executive officers, 
employees or consultants, any delay in replacing such persons, or an inability to replace them with persons of similar 
expertise, would have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Systems are Vulnerable to Damage and Failure  
 
Despite the implementation of security measures and backup storage, Wonderfilm’s internal computer systems are 
vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and 
telecommunication and electrical failure. Any system failure, accident or security breach that causes interruption in 
Wonderfilm’s operations could result in a material disruption of its projects. To the extent that any disruption or 
security breach results in a loss or damage to Wonderfilm’s data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of 
confidential or proprietary information, Wonderfilm may incur liability as a result. In addition, Wonderfilm’s 
technology program may be adversely affected and the further development of its technology may be delayed. 
Wonderfilm may also incur additional costs to remedy the damages caused by these disruptions or security breaches. 
 
Business Interruptions Could Adversely Affect Head Office Operations  
 
Wonderfilm’s operations are vulnerable to outages and interruptions due to fire, floods, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, and similar events beyond its control. Wonderfilm’s headquarters are located primarily 
on the West Coast of Canada (British Columbia) and the United States (Southern California), which is subject to 
earthquakes. Although Wonderfilm has developed certain plans to respond in the event of a disaster, there can be no 
assurance that they will be effective in the event of a specific disaster. Although Wonderfilm currently carries business 
interruption insurance for potential losses (including earthquake-related losses), there can be no assurance that such 
insurance will be sufficient to compensate Wonderfilm for losses that may occur or that such insurance may continue 
to be available on affordable terms. Any losses or damages incurred by Wonderfilm could have a material adverse 
effect on its business and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm is Subject to Risks Associated with Possible Acquisitions, Business Combinations, or Joint Ventures  
 
From time to time, Wonderfilm could be engaged in discussions and activities with respect to possible acquisitions, 
sale of assets, business combinations, or joint ventures intended to complement or expand the business. The anticipated 
benefit from any of the transactions Wonderfilm pursues may not be realized. Regardless of whether any such 
transaction is consummated, the negotiation of a potential transaction and the integration of the acquired business 
could incur significant costs and cause diversion of management's time and resources. Any such transaction could also 
result in impairment of goodwill and other intangibles, development write-offs, and other related expenses. Such 
transactions may pose challenges in the consolidation and integration of information technology, accounting systems, 
personnel, and operations. Wonderfilm may also have difficulty managing the combined entity in the short term if it 
experiences a significant loss of management personnel during the transition period after a significant acquisition.  No 
assurance can be given that expansion or acquisition opportunities will be successful, completed on time, or that 
Wonderfilm will realize expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue enhancements, synergies or other 
benefits. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Claims Against Wonderfilm Relating to Any Acquisition or Business Combination May Necessitate Seeking Claims 
Against the Seller for which the Seller May Not Indemnify Wonderfilm or that May Exceed the Seller's Indemnification 
Obligations  
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There may be liabilities assumed in any acquisition or business combination that Wonderfilm did not discover or that 
it underestimated in the course of performing its due diligence. Although a seller generally will have indemnification 
obligations to Wonderfilm under an acquisition or merger agreement, these obligations usually will be subject to 
financial limitations, such as general deductibles and maximum recovery amounts, as well as time limitations. There 
is no assurance that Wonderfilm’s right to indemnification from any seller will be enforceable, collectible or sufficient 
in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the amount of any undiscovered or underestimated liabilities that 
Wonderfilm may incur. Any such liabilities could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Growth May Cause Pressure on Wonderfilm’s Management and Systems 
 
Wonderfilm’s future growth may cause significant pressure on its management, and its operational, financial, and 
other resources and systems. Wonderfilm’s ability to manage its growth effectively will require the company to 
implement and improve its operational, financial, manufacturing, and management information systems, hire new 
personnel and then train, manage, and motivate these new employees. These demands may require the hiring of 
additional management personnel and the development of additional expertise within the existing management team. 
Any increase in resources devoted to production, business development, and distribution efforts without a 
corresponding increase in Wonderfilm’s operational, financial, and management information systems could have a 
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Never Declared or Paid a Dividend  
 
Wonderfilm has never declared or paid any dividends on the common shares. Wonderfilm currently intends to retain 
its future earnings, if any, to finance further research and the expansion of Wonderfilm’s business. As a result, the 
return on an investment in the Wonderfilm Shares will depend upon any future appreciation in value. There is no 
guarantee that the common shares will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which shareholders have 
purchased their shares. 
 
Global Economic Turmoil and Regional Economic Conditions in the United States Could Adversely Affect its Business 
 
Global economic turmoil may cause a general tightening in the credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increases in 
the rates of default and bankruptcy, levels of intervention from the United States federal government and other foreign 
governments, decreased consumer confidence, overall slower economic activity, and extreme volatility in credit, 
equity, and fixed income markets. A decrease in economic activity in the United States or in other regions of the world 
in which Wonderfilm does business could adversely affect demand for its content, thus reducing its revenues and 
earnings. A decline in economic conditions could reduce performance of Wonderfilm’s theatrical, television, and 
home entertainment releases. In addition, an increase in price levels generally could result in a shift in consumer 
demand away from the entertainment that Wonderfilm offers, which could also adversely affect its revenues and, at 
the same time, increase its costs. For instance, lower household income and decreases in United States consumer 
discretionary spending, which is sensitive to general economic conditions, may affect cable television and other video 
service subscriptions. 
 
Conditional Approval of Exchange 
 
The Exchange has conditionally accepted the Wonderfilm Acquisition subject to Westshire II fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the Exchange.  

There can be no assurance that Westshire II will be able to satisfy the requirements of the Exchange such that the 
Exchange will issue the Final Exchange Bulletin. 

PART III - INFORMATION CONCERNING WESTSHIRE II 
 
The following information is presented on a pre-Wonderfilm Acquisition basis and prior to giving effect to the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition. See “Part VI: Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer” for pro forma business, financial 
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and share capital information relating to the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Corporate Structure 
 
Name and Incorporation 
 
The full corporate name of Westshire II is Westshire Capital II Corp. Westshire II was incorporated by a certificate of 
incorporation issued pursuant to the provisions of the BCBCA on June 1, 2015. The registered office and head office 
address of Westshire II is Suite 2270, 8788 McKim Way, Richmond, British Columbia, V6X 4E2. The Westshire II 
Shares are listed on the Exchange under the trading symbol “WSH.P”.  
 
The authorized share capital of Westshire II consists of an unlimited number of Westshire II Shares, without nominal 
or par value, of which 6,669,000 Westshire II Shares are currently issued and outstanding.  
 
The Westshire II Shareholders are entitled to receive notice of and attend all meetings of the Westshire II Shareholders 
and are entitled to one vote in respect of each Westshire II Share held at such meetings. In the event of the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding-up of Westshire II, the Westshire II Shareholders are entitled to share rateably in the remaining 
assets of Westshire II. Since the date of its incorporation, Westshire II has not issued dividends on the Westshire II 
Shares. 
 
General Development of the Business 
 
History 
 
On May 31, 2015, Westshire II issued a total of 1,600,000 Westshire II Shares at a price of $0.05 per Westshire Share 
to six directors for cash consideration of $80,000. On November 9, 2015, Westshire II issued 400,000 Westshire II 
Shares at a price of $0.05 per Westshire II Share to a seventh director for cash consideration of $20,000. 
 
On May 31, 2016, Westshire II completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”) of 4,669,000 Westshire II Shares at a 
price of $0.10 per Westshire II Share for gross proceeds of $466,900 by way of an IPO prospectus dated May 11, 
2016, filed in the provinces of Alberta, British Columbia and Ontario. At the time of the completion of its IPO, 
Westshire II granted to the agent, Mackie Research Capital Corporation, warrants to acquire 350,175 Westshire II 
Shares at a price of $0.10 per Westshire II Share for a period of 24 months from the date that the Westshire II Shares 
begin trading on the Exchange. As at the date hereof, the Westshire II Existing Warrants are still outstanding. 
 
The Westshire II Shares began trading on the Exchange effective May 31, 2016, under the trading symbol “WSH.P”.  
 
Since the date that the Westshire II Shares commenced trading on the Exchange, Westshire II carried on the business 
of a CPC as defined in Exchange Policy 2.4. Westshire II does not have business operations or assets, other than cash, 
and currently has no written or oral agreements in principle for the acquisition of an asset or business other than the 
Amalgamation Agreement.  
 
Trading in the Westshire II Shares was halted on August 28, 2017, pending the announcement of the Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, and remains halted as of the date of this Filing Statement. The Wonderfilm Acquisition is intended to 
constitute Westshire II’s Qualifying Transaction under Exchange Policy 2.4, following which Westshire II will no 
longer be a CPC. 
 
Financing 
 
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Engagement Letter, Westshire II has engaged the Agent to act as the 
exclusive agent in connection with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, consisting of the issue and sale of 
Westshire II Shares at $0.50 per Westshire II Share, to raise minimum gross proceeds of $500,000 and maximum 
gross proceeds of $1,500,000.  
 
In consideration for the services received, the Agent will receive as compensation: (a) a cash commission equal to 
8.0% of the gross proceeds of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement which are derived from investors that are 
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not on the President’s List; and (b) Westshire II Agent’s Warrants entitling the Agent to acquire such number of 
Westshire II Shares as is equal to 8% of the Westshire II Shares sold under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement 
to investors that are not on the President’s List. For investors on the President’s List, Westshire II has agreed to pay 
to the Agent a cash commission equal to 2% of the gross proceeds of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement 
raised from investors on the President’s List and grant Westshire II Agent’s Warrants equal to 2% of the number of 
Westshire II Shares issued under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement to investors on the President’s List. 
Each Westshire II Agent’s Warrant will entitle the Agent to purchase one Westshire II Share on or before 24 months 
from the closing date of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement at an exercise price of $0.50 per Westshire II 
Share; (iii) a corporate finance fee of $27,500 plus applicable taxes; and (iv) payment of reasonable legal and other 
costs of the Agent. 
 
Letter Agreement 
 
On August 28, 2017, Westshire II announced that it had entered into the Letter Agreement with Wonderfilm to 
complete a business combination whereby Wonderfilm and Westshire II would amalgamate and continue as one 
corporation, which would carry on the business of Wonderfilm. The Letter Agreement was subsequently superseded 
in its entirety by the Amalgamation Agreement. 
 
Amalgamation Agreement 
 
Pursuant to the Amalgamation Agreement, Wonderfilm and Westshire II will complete a Three-Cornered 
Amalgamation, whereby Wonderfilm and Newco will amalgamate and continue as one corporation, Amalco, under 
the name “The Wonderfilm Media Corporation” which will carry on the business of Wonderfilm. Shortly after the 
completion of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation, Westshire II will complete the Vertical Amalgamation, whereby 
Westshire II will vertically amalgamate with its wholly-owned subsidiary and continue as one corporation, which will 
carry on the business of Wonderfilm under the name “The Wonderfilm Media Corporation.” 
 
At the effective time of the amalgamation between Wonderfilm and Newco: 
 

(a) the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares (other than the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm 
Shares held by Dissenting Shareholders), including for certainty, the Wonderfilm Shares issued 
pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, will be exchanged for post-
Consolidation Westshire II Shares on the basis of one post-Consolidation Westshire II Share for 
each Wonderfilm Share held immediately before the Effective Date, and on a post-Stock Split basis, 
at a deemed price of $0.50 per post-Consolidation Westshire II Share, for aggregate deemed 
consideration to the Wonderfilm Shareholders of approximately $4,460,487, and the Wonderfilm 
Shares so exchanged will immediately be cancelled;  

 
(b) the issued and outstanding Newco Shares will be exchanged for Amalco Shares on the basis of one 

Amalco Share for each Newco Share held immediately before the Effective Date, and the Newco 
Shares so exchanged will immediately be cancelled; and 

 
(c) Westshire II will receive one Amalco Share for each post-Consolidation Westshire II Share issued 
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to Wonderfilm Shareholders on the Effective Date. 
 
Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
 
A summary of selected financial information of Westshire II for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows: 
 

 Six Months Ended 
December 31, 2017 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2017 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2016 

Total expenses (103,367) $57,901 $121,458 
Total amounts deferred in connection with 
the qualifying transaction 

$nil $nil $nil 

 
Management’s Discussions and Analysis  
 
The management’s discussion and analysis of the results of Westshire II’s operations for the year ended June 30, 2017 
is attached as Appendix B to this Filing Statement.   
 
The management’s discussion and analysis of Westshire II’s operations for the six-month period ended December 31, 
2017 is attached as Appendix D to this Filing Statement. 
 
Description of Securities 
 
Westshire II Shares 
 
The authorized capital of Westshire II consists of an unlimited number of Westshire II Shares, which are designated 
“common shares” in Westshire's Articles of Incorporation. As at the date hereof, there are 6,669,000 Westshire II 
Shares issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable, 666,900 Westshire II Shares are reserved for issuance 
upon exercise of the incentive stock options by directors and officers of Westshire II (10% of the issued and 
outstanding Westshire II Shares from time to time are reserved under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan) and 350,175 
Westshire II Shares are reserved for issuance upon exercise of the Westshire II Existing Warrants.  
 
The Westshire II Shareholders are entitled to dividends, if, as and when declared by the Westshire II Board, to one 
vote per Westshire II Share at meetings of the Westshire II Shareholders and, upon liquidation, to share equally in 
such assets of Westshire II as are distributable to the holders of Westshire II Shares. The Westshire II Shares do not 
carry any pre-emptive, subscription or conversion rights. 
 
Stock Option Plan and Options Granted  
 
Westshire II has implemented an incentive stock option plan, the Westshire II Stock Option Plan, for directors, senior 
officers, employees, and consultants of Westshire II, in accordance with the rules and policies of the Exchange. The 
purpose of the Westshire II Stock Option Plan is to provide an incentive to the directors, officers, employees, 
consultants and other personnel of Westshire II or any of its subsidiaries to achieve the longer-term objectives of 
Westshire II; to give suitable recognition to the ability and industry of such Persons who contribute materially to the 
success of Westshire II; and to attract to and retain in the employ of Westshire II or any of its subsidiaries, Persons of 
experience and ability, by providing them with the opportunity to acquire an increased proprietary interest in Westshire 
II. 
 
Pursuant to the Westshire II Stock Option Plan, a copy of which is available from Westshire II upon request, Westshire 
II has authorized, subject to any regulatory approvals, the reservation of up to 10% of the issued and outstanding 
Westshire II Shares for the grant of options from time to time, provided, however, that prior to Completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction, Westshire II shall be subject to the additional restrictions contained in Exchange Policy 2.4. 
Under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan, the Westshire II Board may from time to time grant to directors, senior 
officers, employees and consultants of Westshire II, as the Westshire II Board shall designate, options to purchase 
from Westshire II such number of its Westshire II Shares as the Westshire II Board shall designate. Some of the 
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significant terms of the Westshire II Stock Option Plan are as follows: 
 

(a) Options may be granted on authorized but unissued Westshire II Shares up to but not exceeding 
10% of the issued and outstanding Westshire II Shares at the time of any such grant of options. 

 
(b) The maximum number of Westshire II Shares which may be reserved and set aside for issue under 

the Westshire II Stock Option Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued Westshire II Shares at the 
time of the stock option grant (on a non-diluted basis). The aggregate number of Westshire II Shares 
which may be reserved for issuance to any one Person under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan and 
which are subject to outstanding options granted under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan must not 
exceed 5% of the issued Westshire II Shares (determined at the date the option was granted) in a 12 
month period unless Westshire II first obtains disinterested Westshire II Shareholder approval 
pursuant to the policies of the Exchange (but only if the policies of the Exchange at the time require 
such approval). The number of Westshire II Shares granted to any one consultant under the 
Westshire II Stock Option Plan in a 12-month period must not exceed 2% of the issued Westshire 
II Shares, calculated at the date the option was granted to the consultant. The aggregate number of 
options granted to eligible Persons employed to provide Investor Relations Activities under the 
Westshire II Stock Option Plan must not exceed 2% of the issued Westshire II Shares in any 12- 
month period, calculated at the date the option was granted, provided that no Persons providing 
Investor Relations Activities shall be granted options by Westshire II until the Completion of the 
Qualifying Transaction. The maximum number of Westshire II Shares which may be reserved for 
issuance to Insiders under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the total 
number of Westshire II Shares then outstanding and the maximum number of Westshire II Shares 
which may be issued to Insiders under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan, within any one year 
period, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Westshire II Shares then outstanding. 

 
(c) Prior to Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, Westshire II and every participant in the 

Westshire II Stock Option Plan (a “Participant”) shall be subject to all additional restrictions 
relating to reserving Westshire II Shares for issuance, and the granting, vesting and exercising of 
options, contained in Exchange Policy 2.4. 

 
(d) While the Westshire II Shares are listed on the Exchange, the exercise price per Westshire II Share 

for any option granted under the Westshire II Stock Option Plan shall not be less than the discounted 
market price of the Westshire II Shares in accordance with the policies of the Exchange, provided 
that, prior to the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the exercise price per Westshire II Share 
shall not be less than the greater of the IPO price and the discounted market price (as that term is 
defined by the Exchange). 

 
(e) Subject to earlier termination, options granted must expire not later than the maximum term 

permitted by the rules of the Exchange from time to time. 
 
(f) Options will vest at the discretion of the Westshire II Board, provided that options granted to 

consultants performing Investor Relations Activities shall vest in stages over 12 months, with no 
more than one quarter of the options vesting in any three-month period. 

 
(g) All options granted pursuant to the Westshire II Stock Option Plan shall be non-assignable and non-

transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and such option shall be 
exercisable during his lifetime only by the Participant. 

 
(h) For all stock options granted to employees, consultants or Management Company Employees, 

Westshire II represents that the Participant is a bona fide employee, consultant or Management 
Company Employee, as the case may be. 

 
(i) Disinterested Westshire II Shareholder approval will be obtained for any reduction in the exercise 
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price if the Participant is an Insider of Westshire II at the time of the amendment. 
 
(j) Options granted to any Participant must expire within 90 days, or such longer term as the Westshire 

II Board may in its discretion determine, after the Participant ceases to be in at least one of those 
roles, provided that options granted to a Participant who is a director, senior officer, employee, 
consultant or Management Company Employee of Westshire II must expire within a reasonable 
period following the date the Participant ceases to be in that role. 

 
(k) Pursuant to the applicable policies of the Exchange, no option granted by Westshire II may be 

exercised before the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction unless the optionee agrees in writing 
to deposit the Westshire II Shares acquired into escrow until the issuance of the Final Exchange 
Bulletin. See “Part VI: Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Escrowed Securities”. 

 
Options and Warrants Granted 
 

Name 

No. of Westshire II 
Shares Reserved Under 

Option  
Exercise 

Price Expiration Date 
Alan Tam 125,042(1) $0.10 5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Douglas Carsted 83,363(1) $0.10  5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Dennis Nerland 83,363(1) $0.10  5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Hilbert Ng 83,363(1) $0.10  5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Norman Tsui 125,043(1) $0.10 5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Szu Min Chiu 83,363(1) $0.10  5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Peter Neweduk 83,363(1) $0.10 5 years from the date of grant (May 31, 2021) 
Mackie Research 
Capital Corporation 350,175(2) $0.10 2 years from date of grant (May 31, 2018) 

TOTAL 1,017,075   
 
Note: 
 
(1) The incentive stock options were granted to directors and officers of Westshire II upon the closing of the IPO on May 

31, 2016. 
 

(2) The Westshire II Existing Warrants were granted to Mackie Research Capital Corporation upon the closing of the IPO 
and are not subject to the Westshire II Stock Option Plan. 

 
Prior Sales 
 
Since Westshire II’s incorporation, the following securities of Westshire II have been issued: 
 

Date Issued 
Type of Security 

Issued 
Number of 
Securities 

Issue Price Per 
Security 

Aggregate Issue 
Price 

Nature of 
Consideration 

June 1, 2015 Westshire II Shares 1,600,000(1) $0.05 $80,000 Cash 
November 9, 2015 Westshire II Shares 400,000(1) $0.05 $20,000 Cash 

May 31, 2016 Westshire II Shares 4,669,000 $0.10 $466,900 Cash 
Total  6,669,000  $566,900  

 
Note: 
(1) These Westshire II Shares are held by directors of Westshire II and are subject to escrow. See “Part VI: Information 

Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Escrowed Securities”. 
 
Stock Exchange Price 
 
The Westshire II Shares have been posted for trading on the Exchange since June 1, 2016. The following table sets 
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out trading information for the Westshire II Shares for the periods indicated as reported by the Exchange. 
 

 High ($) Low ($) Volume 
Quarter Ended 
December 31, 2017 

0.18 0.18 0 

Quarter Ended 
September 30, 2017 

0.18 0.05 260,000 

Quarter Ended June 30, 
2017 

0.07 0.05 250,000 

Quarter Ended March 
31, 2017 

0.10 0.06 170,000 

Quarter Ended 
December 31, 2016 

0.10 0.06 100,000 

Quarter Ended 
September 30, 2016 

0.15 0.10 170,000 

Quarter Ended June 30, 
2016 

0.13 0.12 50,000 

 
Trading in Westshire II Shares was halted on August 28, 2017, pending announcement of the Wonderfilm Acquisition 
and remains halted pending the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 
 
Non Arm’s Length Transactions 
 
The Wonderfilm Acquisition is not a Non-Arm’s Length Qualifying Transaction within the meaning of the policies 
of the Exchange. 
 
Legal Proceedings 
 
Other than an article filed on www.stockwatch.com on November 6, 2017, which references a petition filed by a third 
party, management of Westshire II is not aware of any legal proceedings to which Westshire II is, or has been, a party 
or of which any of its property is, or has been, the subject matter, and management is not aware of any circumstances 
which would merit any legal action from the petitioner or anyone else. 
 
Auditor, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
Auditor 
 
The auditor of Westshire II is A Chan and Company LLP, Chartered Accountants, located at Unit 114B, 2nd Floor, 
8988 Fraserton Court, Burnaby, British Columbia, V5J 5H8.  
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
 
Westshire II’s transfer agent and registrar is TSX Trust Company, through its regional offices at Suite 2700, 650 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 4N9.  
 
Material Contracts 
 
Westshire II has not entered into any material contracts, except in the ordinary course of business, other than the 
following: 
 

(1) Amalgamation Agreement; 
(2) Agency agreement with Mackie Research Capital Corporation with respect to Westshire II’s IPO; 
(3) Agency Agreement with Mackie Research Capital Corporation with respect to the Westshire II Brokered 
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Private Placement. 
 
A copy of each agreement will be available for inspection at the registered offices of Westshire II, at Suite 2270, 8788 
McKim Way, Richmond, British Columbia, V6X 4E2, during ordinary business hours, until completion of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition and for a period of 30 days thereafter. The agreements have also been filed under Westshire 
II’s profile on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval at www.sedar.com. 
 

PART IV - INFORMATION CONCERNING WONDERFILM 
 
The following information has been provided by Wonderfilm and is presented on a pre-Wonderfilm Acquisition basis 
and is reflective of the current business, financial and share capital position of Wonderfilm. See “Part VI: Information 
Concerning the Resulting Issuer” for pro forma business, financial and share capital information relating to the 
Resulting Issuer following the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
Corporate Structure 
 
Name and Incorporation 
 
The full corporate name of Wonderfilm is The Wonderfilm Media Corporation. Wonderfilm was formed through the 
amalgamation of Nine Tailed Films Inc. (incorporated on January 10, 2014) under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) and The Wonderfilm Media Corporation (incorporated on May 30, 2017).  The head office is 
located at 2412 Columbia Street, Vancouver, BC V5Y 3E6.  The registered and records office is located at 2270-8788 
McKim Way, Richmond, British Columbia, V6X4E2 
 
Inter-corporate Relationships 
 
As at the date of this Filing Statement, Wonderfilm did not have any subsidiaries. 
 
Employees  
 
As of the date of the Filing Statement, Wonderfilm had no full-time or part-time employees in its operations.  
Wonderfilm utilizes services through management consulting agreements for executive management services and on 
a project-by-project basis in connection with the production of its motion pictures and television programming.   
 
General Development of the Business 
 
History 
 
The origin of Wonderfilm starts with Kirk Shaw, its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, who owned 
Insight Film Studio, an independent television and film production studio, from 2006 through 2008, and whose 
experience as a film producer spans over 30 years in the entertainment industry. 
 
Mr. Shaw started filmmaking in 1990 producing museum audio and video tours and making short films through the 
National Screen Institute of Canada. This experience directly exposed Mr. Shaw to the film and television world, after 
work-shopping his short-film to Canadian writers, directors, producers and broadcasters. 
 
Mr. Shaw produced his first broadcast documentary, “Origins of Halloween”, which History Television purchased, in 
addition to commissioning Mr. Shaw to produce ten more documentaries as a 13-part series “Ghost Towns of Canada”.  
Mr. Shaw and his team have produced documentaries for the CBC, CTV and the National Film Board of Canada.   
 
Wonderfilm was conceived by Mr. Shaw, a director and officer of Wonderfilm, as a public-company-friendly 
production company designed from the beginning to seamlessly address the audit and accounting consolidation issues 
typically faced by movie production companies and to adapt to changes in the entertainment industry by making 
outsourcing or other contractual arrangements with contractor producers or producer partners, producer-packagers, 
and other production houses, not just in Canada, but worldwide. On August 1, 2016, Wonderfilm acquired all royalty 
rights from Raintower Films Inc., a company 100% owned by Mr. Shaw, to distribute 40 movies titles originally 



37 
 

S0456573 - V1  

produced from 2013 to 2016 by issuing 2,769,000 common shares at value of $1.20 per share for total of $3,322,800. 
According to the royalty rights assignment agreement, Wonderfilm owns the right to start re-distribution of these 
movie titles again commencing in 2018 and thus no amortization has been charged to the operations during the year. 
In addition, since Wonderfilm acquired all second-run sales production rights, but not the actual subsidiary movie 
production companies themselves. As a result, there was no need for accounting consolidation. 

On June 29, 2017, Wonderfilm completed a share exchange transaction with a predecessor entity by issuing a total of 
925,000 common shares at a negotiated price of $0.50 per share and, as a result of the share exchange, acquired 
second-run sales production rights of 7 additional titles that were originally produced in 2017, bringing the total second 
run, sales production rights titles to 47. As a result of the share exchange, Wonderfilm assigned these royalty rights a 
fair value of $472,500. Again, according to a royalty rights assignment agreement, Wonderfilm owns the right to start 
re-distribution of these movies titles commencing in 2018 and thus no amortization has been charged to the operations 
during the year. The share capital and deficit of the predecessor company has been combined with Wonderfilm’s share 
capital and deficit in accordance with the amalgamation. 
 
Wonderfilm operates as a production-packager and arbitrage fund for TV and indie films, recognized by Mr. Shaw as 
a potentially profitable market niche and growth market. Instead of just being a production house, Wonderfilm owns 
and controls all of the detailed work, risk, and administration of making a movie. 
 
Private Placements 
 
Concurrently with completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, Wonderfilm will complete the Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private Placement of up to 1,000,000 Wonderfilm Shares on a post Stock Split-basis at $0.50 per 
Wonderfilm Share for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $500,000. Westshire II will complete the Westshire II 
Brokered Private Placement pursuant to which it will issue a minimum of 1,000,000 Westshire II Shares on a post-
Consolidation basis and a maximum of 3,000,000 Westshire II Shares on a post-Consolidation basis, at $0.50 per 
Westshire II Share, for aggregate gross proceeds of a minimum of $500,000 and a maximum of $1,500,000. 
 
The Resulting Issuer will use the net proceeds from the Private Placements and available funds as of the date of this 
Filing Statement for (a) current and future pipeline production-packaging opportunities of indie films, (b) future 
pipeline development and sourcing of short-term bridge film financing opportunities, (c) sales and marketing 
campaigns, and (d) for general corporate purposes. 
 
Narrative Description of the Business – Overview 
 
Vancouver-based Wonderfilm was founded in 2014 and is a film and television media production-packager with a 
satellite office in Los Angeles. Wonderfilm’s core business is producing independent films and made-for-television 
movies for global business-to-business distribution. 
 
Wonderfilm recorded minimal activity until August 1, 2016, when it acquired from Raintower Films and Raintower 
Releasing (companies controlled by Kirk Shaw, a director and officer of Wonderfilm) a library of movies which were 
produced during the years 2013 to 2016, for a total of 47 titles, in exchange for the issuance of 2,769,000 common 
shares at a value of $1.20 per share. Previously, the costs and services of producing movies were incurred in Mr. 
Shaw’s management companies, which up to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 produced seven movies. Subsequent 
to June 30, 2017, Mr. Shaw produced two family movies and a romantic comedy movie in St. Lucia in the second 
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2017, and has commenced, or will commence, filming two more movies in the 
third and fourth fiscal quarters (March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018), and will produce a slate of movies in the fourth 
quarter (June 30, 2018) and during the first quarter of 2018 (September 30, 2018). See Wonderfilm’s audited financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, which is attached as Appendix E to this Filing Statement. 
 
Wonderfilm has focused on establishing itself as a reliable supplier of TV content and indie films to domestic, 
international and U.S. buyers. Wonderfilm’s content development is geared toward low risk, commercial productions 
that are able to access tax incentives marketable to key content purchasers.  
 
Instead of completing the entire movie from cradle to grave, Wonderfilm sells the production-package and collects a 
producer fee and secures a potential option to purchase the full first-run rights. 
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In the course of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, Wonderfilm produced and distributed the following movie 
productions: 
 
A Mothers’ Sacrifice 
Witness Protection 
Campus Caller 
Woman on the Edge 
Justice Unleashed 
Deadly Lessons 
Runaway Christmas Bride 
 
Principal Products, Services, and Nature of Operations 
 
Wonderfilm expects to generate profit from three revenue streams: 
 
1. Production-packaging fees – on a going forward basis, the primary source of revenue, with over 50% of revenue 
 expected to be derived from production-packaging fees; 
2. Short-term bridge production financing fees - secondary source of revenue, with less than 30% of revenue 
 expected to be derived from short-term bridge production financing fees; and 
3. Future re-licensing of acquired content - secondary source of revenue, with less than 30% of revenue expected 
 to be derived from future re-licensing of acquired content. 
 
To generate revenue, the actual method of production is dependent on tying multiple creative elements to a film project 
by shopping a script and coming up with a short list of actors who are willing to commit to being in the film, a known 
director and/or cinematographer who agrees to work on the film, and/or a handful of producers who are committed 
and tied to the production. For a distributor trying to get pre-sales in foreign territories for a film heading toward 
production, the foreign sales agent or buyer will be looking for sure things to package the deal and assure their buyers 
of eventual return on investment. The main aspect of packaging is tying parties (actors, directors) to a project, 
guaranteeing that they are going to participate in the production without conflict. The least concrete means of 
attachment, though often sufficient in the early days of production, is the letter of intent which assures that parties are 
keenly interested in participating in the project and, if the project moves forward, agree to negotiate in good faith with 
aims to finalize their participation and not pursue conflicting interests in the meantime. If there is already some 
financing in place, the producer can offer a pay or play deal, which provides two types of guarantee – the producer 
will make themselves available for the agreed project and production schedule, and the actor is guaranteed to be paid 
whether or not the project goes forward as planned, even if they get cast out of the project and replaced. Often these 
deals require the money to be bonded and escrowed so that the actor can turn down other work knowing it will not 
affect their income stream. It is a risky manoeuvre for the production since schedules and financing all have to fall in 
place in time but, for some situations, a producer can calculate that it is an acceptable risk for the amount of future 
financing or green lighting the big name would bring to the project. Another variation on the idea of packaging is 
placing named parties contractually tied to the production. When writing contracts, it is possible to tie named 
individuals to certain roles in a production regardless of who ends up taking the reins in the future. This is a technique 
that is commonly used to retain some control over the project in order to protect the hard work they did in the early 
days of development to get the project off the ground. Even if their production company has to sell the rights to the 
project in exchange for fully funding and moving into production, contracts taken over by the new entity could require 
that the named parties be retained in the roles assured them by the previous company. 
 
The above method of production does not require physical property, plant or equipment, although Wonderfilm leases 
office space in Vancouver, British Columbia, at market rate and in Los Angeles, California at market rate.  
 
There are no payment terms, expiration dates or renewal options of any material leases or mortgages and no raw 
materials, component parts or finished products involved in film production.  
 
Specialized skill and knowledge requirements are specific to the film industry, and Wonderfilm has access to this 
specialized skill and knowledge through Kirk Shaw. In addition, Wonderfilm has engaged a team of production-
packagers and non-executive producers with performance share agreements to source and package a pipeline of move 
productions.  
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Identifiable intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises, licenses, patents, 
software, subscription lists, and trademarks play a significant role in Wonderfilm’s business. For instance, when 
creating and producing a niche film that is intended to be distributed locally and worldwide in theatres and 
subsequently as DVDs and via digital platforms, and the producer intends to retain and license the post-release 
television broadcast rights in its home country to a national broadcaster, but will sell to another party international 
television broadcast rights, the film costs would meet the definition of an asset while the revenues generated from 
theatres, DVDs, digital platforms, and retained licensing of national, television broadcast rights are likely to be much 
higher in this instance than the international broadcast television rights and would therefore be considered an 
intangible asset under IAS 38 rather than inventory under IAS 2 or contract costs under IAS 11. Wonderfilm currently 
does not have any registered trademarks.  
 
Although the business of Wonderfilm is not seasonal, there is a certain cycle to film production in that movies are 
licensed from four to six years at a time, such that a movie made in February 2014, with a six-year license, will not be 
up for renewal until February 2020. Additionally, when the movie was initially sold, the movie may have been sold 
to 80% of the geographical territories, which means that the unsold territories may still be able to be sold at any time. 
Since Wonderfilm’s 47 movie titles were produced from 2013 to 2016, the older movies are coming up for re-licensing 
and the newer licenses will not be up for renewal until 2022.  
 
In the twelve months following the date of this Filing Statement, Wonderfilm does not expect any material effect on 
its business of the renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, nor does it anticipate any financial and 
operational effects of environmental protection requirements on its capital expenditures, earnings, and competitive 
position in the current financial year or in future years. In addition, Wonderfilm does not currently anticipate any 
environmental regulations or controls on ownership or profit repatriation or economic or political conditions that 
would materially affect its operations, or risks associated with foreign operations other than as identified under “Risk 
Factors”. Wonderfilm’s mind and management is located in Canada but it may market and sell its packaged-
productions or movie projects in jurisdictions outside of Canada, where it may be exposed to foreign currency 
fluctuations and political risks in those foreign jurisdictions. 
 
Lastly, Wonderfilm does not employ any employees as the management team provides their services pursuant to 
management consulting agreements. 
 

1. Production-Packaging Fees 
 

Wonderfilm’s front-end revenue is immediately derived from producer fees that are fees included in negotiated 
production budgets as line items for each movie or series that Wonderfilm “packages”. Movie production-packaging 
is similar to what a real estate developer would do in creating a real estate development project of land assembly, re-
zoning, financing negotiations, seeking contractors, sourcing marketers and sourcing commissioned sales agents 
without the huge upfront capital outlay. 
 
Production-packaging fees consist of preparing the entire movie package, from financing the production to arranging 
directors, actors, scripts, and locations, in addition to incurring other preparation costs. The fee is typically paid upfront 
at the time the movie is green-lighted for shooting. The expected margins are between 1% to 6% depending on the 
extent of involvement, as some movies are co-produced with other business partners. Wonderfilm works with 
established international buyers, funds, and key non-North American broadcasters that pre-buy Wonderfilm’s content.  
 
Wonderfilm also utilizes production partners that make use of tax credits or tax shelters in local jurisdictions by 
evaluating the best location to shoot a particular film or series. For instance, made-for-television movies make sense 
to shoot in Canada to take advantage of high-standard facilities, a competent workforce, physical and cultural 
proximity to the United States, and favourable economic factors such as lower location and production costs than in 
the United States and Europe, a favourable foreign exchange rate, and advantageous government tax incentives and 
funding policies. On the other hand, independent films featuring higher paid casts have a different business model 
which often makes economic sense to shoot in certain U.S. states such as Louisiana or Georgia where the state’s tax 
credit also applies to above-the-line costs paid to actors.   
 
TV Movies 
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Made-for-television movie production and the production of low-budget movies of the week (“MOW”) represent a 
significant part of Wonderfilm’s business model because they are pre-sold and made for the traditional broadcaster. 
 
A critical success factor for Wonderfilm to achieve positive corporate cash-flow is that a MOW or low-budget movie 
must only demonstrate for Wonderfilm and its contracted production packager a positive cash flow model with foreign 
(non-U.S.) sales prior to being green-lighted for production, thereby increasing the speed to production and 
maximizing the project flow.    
 
Indie Films 
 
Wonderfilm is a production-packager of indie films that carry some risk that is mitigated due to Wonderfilm’s 
experience and financing structures. Wonderfilm is planning on producing more indie films that have somewhat higher 
risk exposure due to budgets that are higher than the typical MOW, but offer the potential for more margins and 
revenue. Wonderfilm also mitigates risk by basing budgets on current genre and star value in the market. 
 
Wonderfilm also mitigates the risk in indie films by meeting the market demand for action movies with higher profile 
actors who retain a quantifiable value in the market that Wonderfilm evaluates as part of the packaging process. 
Traditionally, indie films are high risk due to inexperienced filmmakers or poor packaging, which is not the case with 
Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm packages and produces its indie films in partnership with other producers, directors, and actors.  In this 
capacity, Wonderfilm serves as a “mini studio”, arranging financing, distribution, and development of the actual 
content – whereby these upfront costs are charged back to the production.  A critical success factor for Wonderfilm is 
that risk is typically transferred contractually rather than owning the actual risks of the production. 
 
Indie films are funded through minimum guarantees paid by distributors as pre-sales opportunities along with tax 
credits and tax incentives. Wonderfilm’s experience allows it to work with its production partners to choose the most 
financially advantageous location to shoot. Additionally, Canadian film incentives can often be combined with 
foreign-based production locations through co-production agreements that allow two or three countries that take 
advantage of film incentives in the budget to maximize tax credits. 
 
Unlike TV movies, indie film distribution retains multiple sales windows, including potential theatrical release, pay-
per-view, video-on-demand, DVD, and then ultimately television broadcast which is managed on a business-to-
business sales distributor. 
 

2. Short-Term Bridge Production Financing Fees 
 

Wonderfilm also takes advantage of an arbitrage opportunity to reduce movie production risk by providing lenders 
with more traditional forms of debt financing against Wonderfilm future earnings before interest, tax depreciation and 
amortization (“EBITDA”). Such arbitrage opportunities allow Wonderfilm to earn a return on investment on deployed 
capital in such arbitrage situations, or in situations where a production requires upfront development capital before 
the involvement of traditional movie financing lenders. 
 
There are a number of distinct sources of money for film financing, and every film uses some combination of these 
sources to finance the project. First, equity investment may come from outsiders funding the film company or in 
exchange for financial participation in the particular film. Second, the filmmaker may raise production funds by selling 
the right to distribute and exhibit the film prior to the film’s creation. Third, the filmmaker may use loans to make 
cash available for production, known as debt financing. In debt financing, a lender gives the borrower money in 
exchange for a promise to repay that loan on time, and the lender makes a profit by charging interest on the loan. To 
receive a commercial loan for creation of an independently financed film, the film company must credibly present 
evidence it will be able to repay the loan, and that it has sufficient collateral to cover the principle amount borrowed. 
To serve as proof of value and collateral of the loan, the film package must demonstrate to the lender the value of the 
project. Since filming has not yet begun, the collateral includes the screenplay and story rights; legally binding 
commitments by the key personnel to participate in the film; the production budget, including a draw-down schedule 
for the use of the proceeds as they are paid to the filmmaker throughout production; and, most importantly, legally 
binding guarantees for the territory sales, negative pick-up (a license of the distribution rights in a motion picture by 
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a production company, usually to a film studio, in exchange for reimbursement of its production costs and some form 
of participation in the profits of the film), or other financing arrangement. These contracts must specify the guaranteed 
minimum the filmmaker will be paid, and that amount can be used as collateral to be pledged against the value of the 
loan. To date, Kirk Shaw, a director and officer of Wonderfilm, has self-financed, in addition to using funds from 
third-party investors, Wonderfilm’s movie projects and will continue to do so until Wonderfilm has sufficient cash 
flow to enable it to provide its own bridge financing to fund the production of movies. Wonderfilm will be developing 
access to debt financing that will allow the packaging of new films and immediately allow Wonderfilm to quickly 
green-light multiple independent films, increasing the pace of production and amount of content that Wonderfilm can 
generate in a year. Sources of debt financing include merchant banks that provide loans for up to twelve months with 
higher fees and/or interest rates. The debt financing will either be sourced and used directly by Wonderfilm (where 
Wonderfilm as the debtor secures the loan) or the financing is provided directly to the production itself, thereby 
bypassing Wonderfilm. There are no assurances that such financing will be available on the terms acceptable to 
Wonderfilm or at all. 
 
Once green-lighted for production, each production-package acquired by a production partner or co- production house 
incorporates a separate legal entity for chain-of-title, banking, and financing purposes. Production financing loans are 
based on discounted accounts receivables, tax credits, and occasionally with short term loans secured against a film's 
unsold territories and rights. 
 

3. Future Re-Licensing of Content 
 
Wonderfilm may have an option to secure global or territorial rights from previously sold production packages. Those 
rights, once purchased, could be resold to prospective arm’s length purchases of such content. 
 
Wonderfilm acquired all royalty rights from Raintower Films Inc., a company 100% owned by Mr. Shaw, to distribute 
40 movies titles originally produced from 2013 to 2016 pursuant to the terms of a royalty rights assignment agreement. 
Wonderfilm owns the right to start re-distribution of these movie titles again commencing in 2018 and acquired all 
second-run sales production rights. 

Wonderfilm subsequently acquired from Nine Tailed Films Inc. second-run sales production rights of 7 additional 
titles that were originally produced in 2017, bringing the total second run, sales production rights titles to 47. Pursuant 
to a royalty rights assignment agreement, Wonderfilm owns the right to start re-distribution of these movies titles 
commencing in 2018. 
 
Since movies are licensed from four to six years at a time, and Wonderfilm’s 47 movie titles were produced from 2013 
to 2016, the older movies are coming up for re-licensing and the newer licenses will not be up for renewal until 2022. 
 
Each year, Wonderfilm also intends adds a new slate of films to its growing catalogue of titles, actively building future 
revenue streams in the process, as realized in three different stages: 
 
• Second window Canadian sale: 2017 rights return to Wonderfilm in 2021 to 2023. 
• Second window U.S. sale: 2017 rights return to Wonderfilm in 2021. 
• Second window international sale: 2017 rights return to Wonderfilm in 2023. 
 
Programs Funded with Available Funds 
 

 Minimum Raise and $250,000 Raised 
Pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private Placement 

Maximum Raise and Maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private 
Placement 

Production packaging, brand 
building with agents and actors, 
and script deal flow 

$20,000 $320,000 

Sales and marketing activities $160,000 $460,000 
General and administrative 
expenses 

$338,596 $220,000 

Unallocated working capital $100,000 $748,596 



42 
 

S0456573 - V1  

Total $618,596 $1,748,596 
 
See “Part IV: Information Concerning Wonderfilm – Stated Business Objectives”, “Part VI: Information Concerning 
the Resulting Issuer – Programs Funded with Available Funds”, and “Forward-Looking Information”. 
 
Market  
 
As a supplier of television content and independent films to domestic, United States, and international buyers, 
Wonderfilm’s target market is threefold: those who work in the film industry (the actors, script writers, producer 
partners, and production team who are assembled to complete the films); the film buyers who pay the producer fees 
to Wonderfilm and enable Wonderfilm to secure an option on the film or television content to purchase the full first-
run rights, collect on sales overages, and purchase future re-licensing of the content; and ultimately, the end consumer 
who watches the content and determines whether it is commercially successful. To realize its business objectives, 
Wonderfilm must be cognizant of trends in the tastes of the mainstream consumer market as that consumer market 
ultimately determines whether Wonderfilm’s projects will sell. 
 
While Hollywood still produces high-budget blockbusters, major funding is more difficult to come by, and the industry 
is simultaneously moving to many different formats as consumers no longer rush to the cinema to see a movie. 
Consumers can now watch films on multiple devices any time they wish to do so and practically anywhere in the 
world.  Consumers want an experience, and they want to take that experience with them to share and discuss on social 
media.  
 
Many of the leading motion picture studios are part of larger media conglomerates that often include television, video 
and streaming services, music services, newspaper, cable, and magazine segments, and many of these constitute online 
content. The industry offers attractive possibilities for foreign investors, both large and small, and provides film 
production and related tax incentives.  
 
Across all creative content sectors, there are opportunities for investment and growth both in (1) partnerships, 
production and tax discounts in many U.S. states and (2) the creation of TV formats and content for streaming. With 
the shift toward digital production and distribution, foreign firms are seeking out U.S. digital and animation expertise 
in all new formats. Drawing on formidable strengths, the U.S. film industry has a proven ability to produce blockbuster 
movies that generate hundreds of millions of dollars, including revenues from distribution across strong domestic and 
international networks. Success in the industry is based on creativity and financing, and the industry is largely self-
regulated.  
 
Movie-going is extremely popular in emerging markets such as Brazil, China and India, and in the more developed 
markets, there is a leveling-off for box office receipts as consumers also opt to view movies on personal devices in 
addition to visiting movie theaters. Depending on the source consulted, all of the top seven markets are amongst the 
top 10 to 20 countries in spending on movies worldwide.  
 
Canada’s filmed entertainment market will grow at a modest 1.9 percent from 2015 and 2019, from US$3.1 to US$3.4 
billion, and by 2019, box office revenues will constitute 42 percent of film earnings (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, 
“Global media and entertainment outlook,” (http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer). Canada holds co-
production treaties with over 50 countries and enjoys a robust relationship with the U.S filmed entertainment industry; 
the United States conducts joint projects without such an official agreement, and both tax and filming incentives are 
available.  Over-the-top (OTT) streaming and streaming content will grow at 17.4 percent during this period 
(Pricewaterhouse Coopers, “Global media and entertainment outlook,” 
(http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer) . While physical home video sales will continue to decline, it will 
still constitute a USD$976 million market in 2019. TV subscriptions will experience a slow and stagnant growth, 
staying close to USD$7.6 billion from 2015 to 2019 (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, “Global media and entertainment 
outlook,” (http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer). 
 
Netflix is expanding rapidly and faces competition from Canadian cable company competitors. Rental kiosk company 
Digiboo is establishing itself in the Canadian market, signaling growth opportunities both for digital content and 
physical rentals.  Cineplex is operating successfully in the market as well, offering digital rentals. Canadians are 
increasingly choosing TV series over feature films, and movies are more often viewed on TV rather than at the theaters.  



43 
 

S0456573 - V1  

Consumers are accessing content on-demand across multiple platforms. There is also a disparity between demand for 
French versus English language content, which warrants further exploration and could signal good growth 
opportunities for content creators of English filmed entertainment if they target the right market segment. The 
Canadian government requires radio and television broadcasters, including cable and satellite specialty channels, to 
air a certain percentage of content that was at least partly written, produced, presented or otherwise contributed to by 
persons from Canada, including providing cultural and creative content that is Canadian in nature, and Canadian 
broadcasters have to spend 30 percent of their revenues on Canadian programs.  
 
Hollywood represents the iconic filmed entertainment industry, and while the U.S. marketplace remains the most 
valuable for production and consumption from a revenue perspective, film sectors and creative communities are 
thriving around the world.  Both film and television are moving towards new digital models of consumption and 
distribution, and video has become a cheaper alternative to production while streaming services have overtaken 
traditional modes of accessing and viewing movies and TV shows.  Movie theatres have to offer complementary 
services to compete with digital devices, free (including pirated) content, and the consumer’s desire to access content 
on a 24/7 basis. The golden age of film may have passed, but the saying still holds true: “if you can make it in 
Hollywood you can make it anywhere.”  Filmed entertainment revenues will grow at a healthy 4.6 percent from 2015 
to 2019 to reach USD$35.3 billion in the United States (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, “Global media and entertainment 
outlook,” (http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer). 
 
The film industry offers a handful of top trade shows for business and trade, including the Cannes Film Festival, the 
American Film Market, Hong Kong Filmart, MIP COM, and a slew of major or smaller film festivals around the 
globe, such as the Toronto and Sundance Film Festivals. Small businesses typically have to decide how to budget for 
the year and sometimes can choose only one or two shows to attend. In addition to meeting buyers and distributors at 
trade shows, independent producers can attend festivals and utilize social media and traditional marketing tools to 
gain attention for their content.   
 
Wonderfilm’s production partners may release its productions in movie theatres. Additionally, Wonderfilm 
management intends to attend film festivals to market, sell and distribute its films to numerous global buyers of films 
and theatrical content including Canada, the United States, Europe, Australia, and China. The effect of any material 
market controls or regulations within the market segment and specific geographical area that Wonderfilm intends to 
distribute its films relates largely to how censorship of its film and television content is administered in each 
jurisdiction, which can be summarized as follows: 
 
1) Canada is a rare example of censorship at the state or provincial level since there is no national film censorship 
 organization and film censorship is a provincial responsibility. With the exception of Prince Edward Island and 
 Newfoundland, each province has its own censorship, supervisory or classification board. Between 1911 and 
 1913, five provinces passed censorship laws and then established boards to apply them. In Quebec, where 
 censorship was seen as an extension of family rights and responsibilities, the emphasis was placed on protecting 
 children from corruption. Western provinces took the same approach and added an element of anti-
 Americanism. For fifty years, censorship boards have had almost unchallenged control over the fate of films. 
 Reasons for banning a film or demanding certain cuts are extremely diverse and vary from province to province. 
 Most Canadian provinces still have ratings boards that have the power to order cuts to movies and may even 
 ban the showing of films if they violate Canada’s Criminal Code sanctions against depicting sexualized 
 violence and sex acts involving people under the age of 18. Specifically, there are ratings agencies in six 
 provinces: Nova Scotia, Quebec, Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta, and British Columbia. The remaining 
 jurisdictions either do not require film ratings or rely on one or more of the other provincial agencies. All 
 agencies classify feature films for theatrical exhibition, but requirements for film festivals and home video 
 vary. The classifications for the English language agencies are General (G), Parental Guidance (PG), 14A 
 (adult accompaniment required for those under the age of 14), 18A (adult accompaniment required for those 
 under the age of 18), and Restricted (R). Classifications in all provinces may include additional information, 
 generally known as Content Advisories, which either provide information about what led to the classification, 
 or additional information about a film’s content (examples include “Not Suitable for Children” on a G-rated 
 film, to note that while there is no potentially offensive material in the film, it is not intended for children to 
 view, and “Sexual Violence” on a Restricted film). 
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2. In the United States and its territories, the Motion Picture Association of America (MPAA)’s film rating system 
 is used to rate a film’s suitability for certain audiences based on its content. The MPAA rating system is a 
 voluntary scheme that is not enforced by law and is administered by the Classification and Ratings 
 Administration (CARA), an independent division of the MPAA. The MPAA has five classifications, based on 
 consideration of the following elements: theme, language, violence, nudity, sensuality, sexual activity, adult 
 activities, and drug use. The nature of the theme, and the presence and amount of other elements, determines 
 the rating. Since 1990, the rating information includes a brief description of the content responsible for the 
 classification. The classifications are: 1) G - General Audiences. All Ages Admitted. Violence is minimal, and 
 there is no nudity, sexual activity, or drug use; 2) PG – Parental Guidance Suggested. Some material may not 
 be suitable for children. This classification was originally M, then GP, and finally PG in 1972; 3) PG-13 – 
 Parents Strongly Cautioned. Some material may be inappropriate for children under 13; 4) R – Restricted. 
 Children under seventeen require accompanying parent or adult guardian. Restricted films “contain some adult 
 material” and are not appropriate for young children; 5) NC-17 – no one seventeen and under admitted. The 
 NC-17 classification was known as X until 1990, and could be self-applied. 
 
3) The rating systems in several European countries take into account the kinds of violence material that might 
 frighten or influence children of younger ages. Denmark, Germany, Norway, Spain, and Sweden all have 
 ratings classifications that either warn parents about violent material or restrict theater access to children under 
 the ages of five to seven. Sweden also restricts the distribution of films which depict sexual violence or coercion 
 or graphic violence toward people or animals. In the United Kingdom, the British Board of Film Classification 
 (BBFC) is an independent, non-governmental body which classifies films and videos in the UK distributed by 
 way of packaged media and, increasingly, on the internet. The BBFC classifies films and videos according to 
 its Classification Guidelines, with ratings ranging from “U” for Universal to “R18” which are restricted videos 
 only allowed to be sold in licensed sex shops. 
 
4) Australia and New Zealand provide a complete ratings system for television that classifies programming 
 according to its levels of violence, sexuality, profanity, and adult themes. Programs with more restrictive 
 classifications are only allowed to be shown at hours of the day when children are less likely to see them. 
 
5) In China, the release of the Film Industry Promotion Law on March 1, 2017 stipulates penalties on foreign 
 filmmakers for “damaging China’s national dignity, honour and interests, or harming social stability or hurting 
 national feelings.” and imposes bans and fines for filmmakers who choose to have their productions screened 
 at overseas festivals without official clearance. 
 
Since the 1970s, major film studios tended to cluster their film releases from May through mid-August, and then in 
November and December (relying on a release strategy that released blockbusters in the summer, when people were 
more likely to watch movies over the holidays, when the weather was warm, and when their children were out of 
school, and released Oscar-worthy material at the end of the year). In the 1990s, Universal Pictures embraced a twelve-
month release strategy that was driven by two insights: people will go to the movies at any time of the year, and 
movies that might get buried in a crowded market could become big hits in an emptier one. In the opinion of 
Wonderfilm management, there is no seasonal variation within the market segment and specific geographical area that 
may affect the sales of Wonderfilm’s films. 
 
Marketing Plans and Strategies 
 
Film marketing consists of filmmakers and marketers positioning their films in the minds of the audiences in order to 
increase the consumption of their films. A marketing campaign takes place in three stages: corporate branding, 
promotions at events, and distribution. Film marketing starts the moment the idea of a particular film is conceived, in 
that the target audience must be determined and the entire marketing and communication strategy of the film is 
positioned to target that particular audience. Marketing and communication strategies are becoming increasingly 
digital and include e-mail list building for disseminating information to fans and followers, drip-feeding promotional 
material to those subscribers, accessing and using various social media platforms to expand promotional reach, 
production of new and exciting mini-trailers that rival the competition and generate awareness, constant website 
updates throughout the entire production process, and interacting with those interested in the film. In addition to 
engaging in digital marketing campaigns, Wonderfilm has budgeted between $160,000 and $460,000 to engage in the 
following sales and marketing activities over the next twelve months: meeting with buyers at the Sundance Film 
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Festival, meeting with executives at B2B National Association of TV Programming Executives, and attending the 
Berlin International Film Festival, B2B American Film Market, Hong Kong Film Festival, Cannes Film Festival, 
Toronto International Film Festival, and MIPCOM in France. 
 
Competitive Conditions 
 
Today’s filmed entertainment industry has been affected by various market forces, including the recent economic 
downturn, the digital revolution with the high cost of transitioning to digital, relentless piracy of creative content, and 
illegal recording of video and audio on camcorders in theaters, as well as new revenue streams that compete with 
traditional entertainment models, such as consumer-created content online. That is a lot of competition with which to 
contend. The movie industry has additionally been subject to reduced financing options and stricter scrutiny by 
investors in film projects, window compressions becoming necessary to comply with new digital formats that reduce 
the size of a movie file. This impacts how a film will be viewed on big screens, which compromises the creative 
integrity of films. The industry is also affected by reduced film slates, i.e. the number of films slated for production 
annually (original and sequels), and competition from global producers. 
 
The digital transition is undeniable. Movie theatres are diversifying and, besides snacks and beverages, are offering 
dinner, special events, rewards, and merchandise to attract viewership. Traditionally, the industry consisted of 
multinational umbrella corporations, major studios, and independent studios or “indies;” today, self-published 
producers and consumer-created content on multichannel networks engage in the filmed entertainment sector. There 
is more talk about content than movies in entertainment circles, and video and virtual reality are key players in the 
filmed entertainment marketplace in 2017 and 2018.  
 
Yet, the film industry is still dominated by the six U.S. motion picture studios, most of which are part of large 
diversified corporate groups with a variety of other operations that can provide both the means of distributing their 
products and stable sources of earnings that may allow them to better offset fluctuations in the financial performance 
of their motion picture and television operations. These major studios form the base of the Motion Picture Association 
of America (MPAA)’s membership, and together with a handful of large, so-called independent studios, such as 
Lionsgate Entertainment Corp., produce blockbusters that dominate worldwide charts.  
 
In contrast, independent studios are exponentially more challenged than the major studios by financing limitations and 
piracy and have fewer resources to compete globally. Independent studios also have to depend on reliable licensing 
deals and pre-sale opportunities to compete, while the major studios typically pre-finance and then do not have to 
worry about selling until the film is done. Part of the equation is also to attract famous actors, which acts as collateral 
towards funding risks; a would-be investor is more likely to generously fund a well-known star than an unknown 
newcomer.  
 
Nevertheless, an opportunity exists for independent studios, since the major studios mostly rely on independent studios 
to produce films, tapping in to niche expertise and the nimble business environment in smaller firms that can react 
swiftly to market conditions, as they are less affected by a large corporate structure. Hollywood has perfected the 
trifecta of franchises, sequels, and remakes to yield consistent box office returns. The global box office receipts of 
these films and the hundreds more released in 2016 reached USD$38.6 billion (Theatrical Market Statistics 2016, 
Motion Picture Association of America), an increase of one percent from the previous year. In the United States and 
Canada, the box office sales rose two percent to hit USD$11.4 billion (Theatrical Market Statistics 2016, Motion 
Picture Association of America). Movie theater admissions are increasing very slowly due to competition from 
multiple viewing and consumption devices and formats in the digital and online arena. The MPAA estimates that the 
U.S. film industry supports nearly two million jobs and $104 billion in wages across subsidiary industries as well as 
USD$16.7 billion in public revenues and USD$14.3 billion in exports.  
 
While the major studios, such as Disney, Universal Pictures, Warner Bros Inc., Twentieth Century Fox, Sony and 
Paramount Pictures dominate the feature film industry, independent production companies continue to play an 
important role in the production of feature films for the worldwide feature film market. 
 
Wonderfilm’s competitors are thousands of small independent studios that make anywhere from one to ten movies 
per year. 
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The following, while not similar in size to Wonderfilm in terms of revenue or market share, are some of the key 
competitors to Wonderfilm in the independent production and distribution space because they compete with 
Wonderfilm for access to certain actors, directors, and scripts: 
 
Lions Gate Entertainment Corp. (NYSE: LGF.A, LGF.B) is a global content platform provider whose films, television 
series, digital products, and linear and over-the-top platforms reach next-generation audiences around the world. In 
addition to its filmed entertainment leadership, Lionsgate content drives a growing presence in interactive and 
location-based entertainment, gaming, virtual reality and other new entertainment technologies. Lionsgate’s content 
initiatives are backed by a 16,000-title film and television library and delivered through a global licensing 
infrastructure. The Lionsgate brand is synonymous with original, daring and ground-breaking content created with 
special emphasis on the evolving patterns and diverse composition of the company’s worldwide consumer base.  
 
DHX Media Ltd. (TSX: DHX.A, DHX.B; NASDAQ: DHXM) is a leading children’s content and brands company, 
recognized globally for such high-profile properties as Peanuts, Teletubbies, Strawberry Shortcake, Caillou, Inspector 
Gadget, and the acclaimed Degrassi franchise. One of the world’s foremost producers of children’s shows, DHX 
Media owns the world’s largest independent library of children’s content, at 13,000 half-hours. It licenses its content 
to broadcasters and streaming services worldwide and generates royalties through its global consumer products 
program. Through its subsidiary, WildBrain, DHX Media operates one of the largest networks of children’s channels 
on YouTube. Headquartered in Canada, DHX Media has 20 offices worldwide.  
 
Imagination Park Entertainment Inc. (CSE: IP) (OTC: IPNFF) (FRA: GMS1) is an emerging digital content production 
company, working with talented filmmakers around the world to bring conventional as well as virtual reality content 
to life. 
 
Corus Entertainment Inc. (TSX: CJR.B) is a leading media and content company that creates and delivers high quality 
brands and content across platforms for audiences around the world. The company's portfolio of multimedia offerings 
encompasses 45 specialty television services, 39 radio stations, 15 conventional television stations, a global content 
business, digital assets, live events, children's book publishing, animation software, technology and media services. 
Corus' roster of premium brands includes Global Television, W Network, OWN: Oprah Winfrey Network Canada, 
HGTV Canada, Food Network Canada, HISTORY®, Showcase, National Geographic Channel, Q107, CKNW, Fresh 
Radio, Disney Channel Canada, YTV and Nickelodeon Canada.  
 
WOW Unlimited Media Inc. (TSXV: WOW.A and WOW.B) is creating a leading next-generation children and youth 
animation business by focusing on digital platforms and content. The company's key assets include: the world's 
number one digital animation network, Frederator Networks, which consists of an animation production company 
Frederator Studios, as well as VOD channels on digital platforms; the world's first Hispanic animation network, Atomo 
Network, a joint venture with Anima Estudios; and one of Canada's largest, multifaceted animation production studios, 
Rainmaker Entertainment, which consists of Mainframe Studios that produces CGI animated television series, and 
Rainmaker Studios that produces long-form animated features. 
 
Kew Media Group Inc. (TSX:KEW and KEW.WT) is a leading publicly-listed content company that produces and 
distributes multi-genre content worldwide. Companies included in the KEW family are the production companies: 
Architect Films, Bristow Global Media, Campfire Film & Television, Collins Avenue Productions, Frantic Films, 
Jigsaw Productions, Media Headquarters, Our House Media, Sienna Films and Spirit Digital Media; and the 
distribution companies: Content Media Corporation (now re- branded KEW MEDIA) and TCB Media Rights. With 
primary offices in London, Los Angeles, New York, and Toronto, the KEW MEDIA GROUP companies develop, 
produce, and distribute more than 1,000 hours of content every year, as well as distribute a library of more than 10,000 
hours, to almost every available viewing platform internationally. KEW aspires to offer great content from all over 
the world to viewers of all ages and tastes. 
 
Entertainment One Ltd. (LSE:ETO) is a leading international entertainment company that specialises in the 
acquisition, production, and distribution of film and television content. The company's comprehensive network 
extends around the globe including Canada, the United States, the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain, Benelux, France, 
Germany, Scandinavia, Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, and South Korea. The company provides extensive 
expertise in film distribution, television and music production, family programming and merchandising, and 
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licensing.  Its current rights library is exploited across all media formats and includes more than 35,000 film and 
television titles, 2,800 hours of television programming and 45,000 music tracks. 
 
While the foregoing companies may have better access to those in the film industry who work on productions (actors, 
script writers, directors), the management of Wonderfilm believes that the key to success in its business is reputation 
and the strength of relationships developed over the years with key players in the industry, and in this way Wonderfilm 
management believes the company has an advantage. However, Wonderfilm’s financial and personnel resources are 
much smaller than the resources of the large entertainment companies and Wonderfilm may face the challenge of 
smaller production budgets. However, Wonderfilm intends to offset these risks by developing its relationships with 
film buyers and film industry participants, gaining credibility for producing and packaging commercially successful 
film and television content, partnering with similarly successful or more successful producer partners, and keeping up 
with consumer tastes and digital trends to tap into both the large mainstream market and the more niche markets. 
 
Proprietary Protection 
 
Wonderfilm works with its production companies to register copyrights and trademarks of its films and works with 
its distributors and partners to monitor unauthorized distribution and piracy, although Wonderfilm has taken no steps 
to protect its intellectual property and does not own any such copyrights or trademarks directly. 
 
Piracy of movie and television content is extensive in many parts of the world, including South America, Asia, and 
certain Eastern European countries, and is made easier by technological advances and the conversion of content into 
digital formats. This trend facilitates the creation, transmission, and sharing of high quality unauthorized copies of 
content on packaged media and through digital formats. The proliferation of unauthorized copies of these products 
has had, and will likely continue to have, a minor adverse effect on the business, because these products reduce the 
revenue that Wonderfilm receives from its products in non-material markets. The ability to protect and enforce 
Wonderfilm’s intellectual property rights is subject to certain risks and from time to time, as Wonderfilm may 
encounter disputes over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property. There can be no assurance that the 
company will prevail in any intellectual property disputes.  
 
To stem acts of piracy and disseminate best practices worldwide, the U.S. and Canadian governments work with 
trading partners in bilateral and multilateral trade negotiations to address these matters – a process that is critical to 
protecting the sector but can take years to reach agreements on, as different markets consider culture, art and 
intellectual property sectors differently by law – and in popular culture.   
 
Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
 
A summary of selected financial information of Wonderfilm for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows: 
 

 Three Months Ended 
September 30, 2017 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2017 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30, 2016 

Income: 
 Production consulting 
 Distribution services 

 
Nil 
Nil 

 
$300,000 
$480,000 

 
Nil 
Nil 

Net loss (57,765) (26,039) (44) 
Total assets $3,795,210 $4,614,276 $511 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities 
Subscription deposit 

$68,674 
$25,000 

$854,975 
Nil 

$471 
Nil 

 
Management’s Discussions and Analysis  
 
The management’s discussion and analysis of the results of Wonderfilm’s operations for the year ended June 30, 2017 
is attached as Appendix F to this Filing Statement.   
 
The management’s discussion and analysis of Wonderfilm’s operations for the three-month period ended September 
30, 2017 is attached as Appendix H to this Filing Statement. 
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Description of Securities 
 
Wonderfilm Shares 
 
The authorized capital of Wonderfilm consists of an unlimited number of Wonderfilm Shares, which are designated 
“common shares” in Wonderfilm's Articles of Incorporation. As at the date hereof, there are 6,707,500 Wonderfilm 
Shares issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable.  
 
The Wonderfilm Shareholders are entitled to dividends, if, as and when declared by the Wonderfilm Board, to one 
vote per Wonderfilm Share at meetings of the Wonderfilm Shareholders and, upon liquidation, to share equally in 
such assets of Wonderfilm as are distributable to the holders of Wonderfilm Shares. The Wonderfilm Shares do not 
carry any pre-emptive, subscription or conversion rights. 
 
Consolidated Capitalization 
 

Designation of 
Security 

Amount authorized 
or to be authorized 

Amount outstanding 
as of September 30, 
2017 

Amount 
outstanding 
assuming 
completion of the 
Stock Split 

Amount outstanding 
as of March 2, 2018, 
assuming completion 
of the Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 
Private Placement 

Common shares Unlimited 6,707,500 8,920,975 9,920,975 
 
Prior Sales 
 
Since Wonderfilm’s incorporation, the following securities of Wonderfilm have been issued: 
 

Date Issued 
Type of Security 

Issued 
Number of 
Securities 

Issue Price Per 
Security 

Aggregate Issue 
Price 

Nature of 
Consideration 

June 1, 2016 Wonderfilm Shares 1,833,400 $0.0003 $235.02 Cash 
June 30, 2016 Wonderfilm Shares 1,180,100 $0.0001 $118.01 Cash 

August 1, 2016 Wonderfilm Shares 2,769,000 $1.20 $3,322,800 Acquisition of 40 
movie titles 

June 29, 2017 

Wonderfilm Shares 925,000 $0.50 $462,500 

Acquisition of 
common shares of 
The Wonderfilm 

Media Corporation 
Total  6,707,500  $3,785,653  

 
STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

At no time prior to the date of this Filing Statement was Wonderfilm a reporting issuer under applicable Canadian 
securities laws. Notwithstanding this, executive compensation disclosure for Wonderfilm’s sole executive officer is 
provided below for fees earned for the years ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2017. 

Unless otherwise noted the following information is for Wonderfilm’s last completed financial year ended June 30, 
2017. 

For the purpose of this Filing Statement: 

“compensation securities” includes stock options, convertible securities, exchangeable securities and similar 
instruments including stock appreciation rights, deferred share units and restricted stock units granted or issued by 
Wonderfilm or one of its subsidiaries (if any) for services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly to 
Wonderfilm or any of its subsidiaries (if any); 

A Named Executive Officer (“NEO”) of Wonderfilm means each of the following individuals: 

(a) a chief executive officer (“CEO”) of Wonderfilm; 
(b) a chief financial officer (“CFO”) of Wonderfilm; and 
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(c) each of Wonderfilm’s three most highly compensated executive officers, or individuals acting in a similar 
capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of, or during, the most recently completed financial year if 
their individual total compensation was more than $150,000 for that financial year, including individuals who 
would be an NEO under this paragraph but for the fact that he or she was not acting in such capacity at the end 
of the financial year. 

As of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, Wonderfilm had one NEO, namely Kirk Shaw who serves as CEO and 
CFO. 

All dollar amounts referenced herein are Canadian Dollars unless otherwise specified. 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Philosophy and Objectives 

The compensation program for the senior management of Wonderfilm is designed to ensure that the level and form of 
compensation achieves certain objectives, including: 

• to attract and retain highly qualified management; 
• to align executive compensation with shareholders' interests; 
• to focus performance by linking incentive compensation to the achievement of business objectives and 

financial results; and 
• to encourage retention of key executives for leadership succession. 

Wonderfilm's executive compensation program comprises three elements: base salary, bonus incentives and equity 
participation. The compensation program is designed to pay for performance. Employees, including senior executives, 
are rewarded for the achievement of annual operating and financial goals, progress in executing Wonderfilm's long-
term growth strategy and delivering strong total shareholder return performance. 

Wonderfilm reviews industry compensation information and compares its level of overall compensation with those of 
comparable sized film production companies. Generally, Wonderfilm targets base management fees at levels 
approximating those holding similar positions in comparably sized companies in the industry and hopes to achieve 
competitive compensation levels through the fixed and variable components. 

Wonderfilm's total compensation mix places a significant portion of the executive's compensation at risk and relies 
heavily on the award of stock options. The design takes into account individual and corporate performance. 
Compensation practices, including the mix of base management fees, short-term incentives and long-term incentives, 
are regularly assessed to ensure they are competitive, take account of the external market trends and support 
Wonderfilm's long-term growth strategies. Due to the early stage of Wonderfilm's operations, the flexibility to quickly 
increase or decrease appropriate human resources is critical. Accordingly, Wonderfilm does not enter into long-term 
commitments with its officers. 

The board of directors of Wonderfilm (the “Board”) has not conducted a formal evaluation of the implications of the 
risks associated with Wonderfilm's compensation policies. Risk management is a consideration of the Board when 
implementing its compensation policies and the Board does not believe that Wonderfilm's compensation policies result 
in unnecessary or inappropriate risk-taking including risks that are likely to have a material adverse effect on 
Wonderfilm. 

Director and NEO Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities 

The following table sets forth all annual and long-term compensation for services paid to or earned by the NEO for 
the two fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017. 
 

Table of compensation excluding compensation securities 
Name and 
position 

Year Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 

Bonus ($) Committee 
or meeting 

fees ($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
other 

Total 
compensation 

($) 
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or 
commission 

($) 

compensation 
($) 

Kirk Shaw 
CEO and 
CFO(1) 

June 30, 
2016 
June 30, 
2017 

Nil 
 
$780,000 

Nil 
 
Nil 

Nil 
 
Nil 

Nil 
 
Nil 

Nil 
 
Nil 

Nil 
 
$780,000 

(1) Mr. Shaw was appointed as CEO and CFO on June 28, 2016. 
 

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

The following table discloses all compensation securities granted or issued to each NEO and director by Wonderfilm 
in the financial year ended June 30, 2017 for services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to Wonderfilm: 
 

Compensation Securities 
Name and 
Position 

Type of 
Compensation 

Security 

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 

securities, & 
percentage of 

class(1) 

Date of 
issue or 

grant 

Issue, 
conversion 
or exercise 
price ($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security on 

date of 
grant ($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end 

($) 

Expiry 
Date 

Kirk Shaw Performance 
shares 

153,615 June 30, 
2017 

To be 
determined 
at date of 
vesting 

N/A N/A June 30, 
2020 

 
(1) The performance shares vest upon the attainment of EBIT as recorded in the financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2018, June 

30, 2019, and June 30, 2020. 

Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs 

No director or NEO exercised any compensation securities, being solely comprised of stock options, during the year 
ended June 30, 2017. 

Stock Option Plan and Other Incentive Plans 

Wonderfilm has no incentive stock option plan or other plan providing for the grant of stock appreciation rights, 
deferred share units or restricted stock units or any other incentive plan or portion of a plan under which awards are 
granted. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

During the most recently completed financial year, Wonderfilm did not enter into any employment agreement or 
arrangement with its NEO. 

Pension Plan Benefits 
 
Wonderfilm has no pension, defined benefit or defined contribution plans in place. 
 
Non-Arm’s Length Party Transactions 
 
The Wonderfilm Acquisition is not a Non-Arm’s Length Qualifying Transaction within the meaning of the policies 
of the Exchange. 
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Legal Proceedings 
 
Management of Wonderfilm is not aware of any circumstances which would merit any legal action and there are 
currently no legal proceedings to which Wonderfilm is, or has been, a party or of which any of its property is, or has 
been, the subject matter. 
 
Material Contracts 
 
Wonderfilm has not entered into any material contracts, except in the ordinary course of business, other than the 
following: 
 

(1) Amalgamation Agreement; 
(2) Movie Production Royalty Acquisition Agreement between Odyssey Media Corp. and Relativity Life 

Sciences Inc. dated August 1, 2016; 
(3) Agreement between Kalispel Tribal Holdings, Shavick Entertainment, Inc. and Nine Tailed Films Inc. dated 

April 19, 2017 for the production of a proposed slate of 28 feature-length films in movie-of-the-week format; 
(4) Movie Production Royalty Acquisition Agreement between Raintower Films Inc. and The Wonderfilm 

Media Corporation dated June 7, 2017; 
(5) Share Exchange Agreement between Nine Tailed Films Inc. and The Wonderfilm Media Corporation dated 

June 29, 2017; 
(6) Various Performance Share Agreements dated June 30, 2017. 

 
A copy of each agreement will be available for inspection at the registered offices of Wonderfilm, at 2412 Columbia 
Street, Vancouver, BC V5Y 3E6, during ordinary business hours, until completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition and 
for a period of 30 days thereafter. 
 

PART V - THE WONDERFILM ACQUISITION 
 
Structure 
 
Pursuant to the Amalgamation Agreement, Wonderfilm and Westshire II will complete a Three-Cornered 
Amalgamation, whereby Wonderfilm and Newco will amalgamate and continue as one corporation, Amalco, under 
the name “The Wonderfilm Media Corporation” which will carry on the business of Wonderfilm. Shortly after the 
completion of the Three-Cornered Amalgamation, Westshire II will complete the Vertical Amalgamation, whereby 
Westshire II will vertically amalgamate with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Amalco, and continue as one corporation, 
the Resulting Issuer, which will carry on the business of Wonderfilm under the name “The Wonderfilm Media 
Corporation.” 
 
At the effective time of the Amalgamation between Wonderfilm and Newco, it is intended that Wonderfilm 
Shareholders and Westshire II Shareholders will receive Amalco Shares in accordance with the following ratios: 
 

(a) the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares (other than the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm 
Shares held by Dissenting Shareholders), including for certainty, the Wonderfilm Shares issued 
pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, will be exchanged for post-
Consolidation Westshire II Shares on the basis of one post-Consolidation Westshire II Share for 
each Wonderfilm Share held immediately before the Effective Date, on a post-Stock Split basis, at 
a deemed price of $0.50 per post-Consolidation Westshire II Share, for aggregate deemed 
consideration to the Wonderfilm Shareholders of approximately $4,460,487, and the Wonderfilm 
Shares so exchanged will immediately be cancelled;  

 
(b) the issued and outstanding Newco Shares will be exchanged for Amalco Shares on the basis of one 

Amalco Share for each Newco Share held immediately before the Effective Date, and the Newco 
Shares so exchanged will immediately be cancelled; and 

 
(c) Westshire II will receive one Amalco Share for each post-Consolidation Westshire II Share issued 
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to Wonderfilm Shareholders on the Effective Date.  
 

Westshire II and Wonderfilm will carry out the Wonderfilm Acquisition pursuant to the Amalgamation Agreement 
and will enter into such other agreements as may be necessary to give effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition, such 
agreements to include customary terms and conditions for a transaction of the nature of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
There are currently: (a) 6,669,000 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding (of which 2,000,000 Westshire II Shares 
are being held in escrow pursuant to the policies of the Exchange); (b) 666,900 Westshire II Shares reserved for 
issuance under incentive stock options held by Westshire II's directors and officers; and (c) 350,175 Westshire II 
Shares reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Existing Warrants held by the agent that acted as Westshire II's 
agent in connection with its initial public offering on May 31, 2016.  
 
If Westshire II completes the Consolidation, then immediately prior to the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, 
there will be: (a) 1,667,250 post-Consolidation Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding (of which 500,000 post-
Consolidation Westshire II Shares will be held in escrow in pursuant to the policies of the Exchange); (b) 166,725 
post-Consolidation Westshire II Shares reserved for issuance under Westshire II Options held by Westshire II's 
directors and officers; and (c) 87,544 post-Consolidation Westshire II Shares reserved for issuance under Westshire 
II Existing Warrants held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its initial public offering 
on May 31, 2016. 
 
If Westshire completes the minimum Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, then immediately prior to the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition, there will be 2,667,250 Westshire II Shares issued and outstanding, and 80,000 Westshire II 
Shares reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants. If Westshire II completes the maximum 
Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, then immediately prior to the Wonderfilm Acquisition there will be 
4,667,250 Wonderfilm Shares issued and outstanding, and 240,000 Westshire II Shares reserved for issuance under 
the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants. 
 
After effecting the Stock Split, immediately prior to the Wonderfilm Acquisition, there will be 8,920,975 Wonderfilm 
Shares issued and outstanding and no other Wonderfilm Shares reserved for issuance. Upon completion of the 
maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, there will be 9,920,975 Wonderfilm Shares issued and 
outstanding and no other Wonderfilm Shares reserved for issuance. 
 
Immediately upon completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, there will be:  
 

(a) assuming completion of the minimum Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement,  (i) 20,062,160 Resulting Issuer common shares issued and 
outstanding, of which 7,473,935 shares will be shares to be held subject to the terms of a performance-based 
escrow agreement; (ii) up to 80,000 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under the 
Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (iii) 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under the 
Westshire II Existing Warrants held by the agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its 
initial public offering on May 31, 2016; and (iv) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under the Westshire II Options held by Westshire II's directors and officers; or 

 
(b) assuming completion of the maximum Westshire II Brokered Private Placement and the maximum 

Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, (i) 23,729,160 Resulting Issuer common shares issued and 
outstanding, of which 7,473,935 shares will be subject to performance-based escrow; (ii) up to 240,000 
Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Agent’s Warrants; (iii) 87,544 
Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Existing Warrants held by the 
agent that acted on Westshire II's behalf in connection with its initial public offering on May 31, 2016; and 
(iii) 166,725 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for issuance under the Westshire II Options held by 
Westshire II's directors and officers. 

 
The Resulting Issuer Board will be composed of four directors. Westshire II will provide executed resignations and 
releases from each director and officer of Westshire II who will no longer be serving in such capacity, effective at the 
closing of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. The following nominees are expected to comprise the Resulting Issuer Board: 
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Kirk Shaw, Norman Tsui, Dennis L. Nerland, and Szu Min Chiu. See “Part VI: Information Concerning The Resulting 
Issuer – Directors, Officers and Promoters”. 
 
The management team of the Resulting Issuer is expected to be composed of: Kirk Shaw (Chief Executive Officer), 
Norman Tsui (Executive Vice President), Alan Tam (Chief Financial Officer), and Mouane Sengsavang (Corporate 
Secretary). See “Forward-Looking Information”. 
 

PART VI - INFORMATION CONCERNING THE RESULTING ISSUER 
 
The following information is presented on a post-Wonderfilm Acquisition basis, and is reflective of the projected 
business, financial and share capital position of the Resulting Issuer. Following the completion of the Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer will carry on the business currently carried on by Wonderfilm. See the various 
headings under “Part III: Information Concerning Westshire II” and “Part IV: Information Concerning 
Wonderfilm” for additional information regarding Westshire II and Wonderfilm, respectively. See also the pro 
forma financial statements of the Resulting Issuer attached hereto as Appendix I. 
 
Name and Incorporation 
 
The Resulting Issuer will be governed by the BCBCA and its corporate name is expected to be changed to “The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation” following completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
The Resulting Issuer’s registered office address will be at Suite 2270 – 8788 McKim Way, Richmond, BC, V6X 4E2, 
and it will have a place of business located at 2412 Columbia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5Y 3E6, as well 
as a satellite office in Los Angeles, California. 
 
Inter-corporate Relationships 
 
After giving effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition, Wonderfilm will amalgamate with Newco, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Westshire II, to form Amalco, which will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Westshire II. The issued 
and outstanding Newco Shares will be exchanged for Amalco Shares on the basis of one Amalco Share for each 
Newco Share held immediately before the Effective Date, and the Newco Shares so exchanged will immediately be 
cancelled. The issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares (other than the issued and outstanding Wonderfilm Shares 
held by Dissenting Shareholders), including for certainty, the Wonderfilm Shares issued pursuant to the Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered Private Placement, will be exchanged for post-Consolidation Westshire II Shares on the basis of one 
post-Consolidation Westshire II Share for each Wonderfilm Share held immediately before the Effective Date.  
Westshire II will receive one Amalco Share for each post-Consolidation Westshire II Share issued to Wonderfilm 
Shareholders on the Effective Date. It is proposed that Amalco will then be amalgamated with Westshire II by way of 
the Vertical Amalgamation. Ultimately the Wonderfilm Shareholders and the current Westshire II Shareholders shall 
own all of the issued and outstanding securities of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Narrative Description of the Business  
 
Stated Business Objectives 
 
Wonderfilm is focused on establishing itself as a reliable supplier of TV content and indie films to domestic, 
international, and U.S. buyers. Wonderfilm’s content development is geared toward low risk, commercial productions 
that are able to access tax incentives marketable to key content purchasers. 
 
The Resulting Issuer’s business objectives will be the same as Wonderfilm’s business objectives. 
 
Milestones and Business of the Resulting Issuer 
 
The Resulting Issuer expects to accomplish, with the funds available, the following milestones during the next 12 
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months: 
 
l Produce four movies in the next 12 months; 
 
l Meet with agents, actors, writers, and funding sources to develop a slate of projects and produce TV series,  

indie films and TV movies over the next 12 months, at a cost of between $20,000, assuming the Minimum 
Raise and no funds are raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, and $320,000, 
assuming the Maximum Raise and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement; 

 
l Attend a minimum of 4 major film festivals in the next 18 months to seek out buyers, producer partners, scripts, 
 and buyers for business development and sales activities for the slate of projects, at a cost of between 
 $160,000, assuming the Minimum Raise and no funds are raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 
 Private  Placement, and $460,000, assuming the Maximum Raise and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-
 Brokered Private Placement; and 
 
l The Resulting Issuer intends to produce independent films that are profitable for its production-packers while 
 providing a return to the company for production fees and acquire content for sale to global buyers of movie 
 content, at a cost of between $20,000, assuming the Minimum Raise and no funds are raised pursuant to the 
 Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private  Placement, and $320,000, assuming the Maximum Raise and the maximum 
 Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private  Placement. 
 
From an operational perspective, Wonderfilm has three immediate objectives or priorities in the following markets:  

Los Angeles  

Wonderfilm has identified, from previous business experience, an opportunity for a Canadian company to work closely 
with the major talent agencies and broadcasters in Los Angeles. By establishing a relationship with talent agencies 
and studios, Wonderfilm seeks to further build its brand in L.A. by offering one-stop financial and production solutions 
for films and series developed through the large talent agencies and broadcasters.  Wonderfilm has a dedicated team 
of production packagers (non-employed contractors who are paid with performance shares) to promote and organize 
Wonderfilm production packages.  
 
Europe 
 
Wonderfilm will be seeking joint-venture relationships with a Belgium company that Wonderfilm has identified that 
sells film investment tax shelters.  
 
Asia 
 
Wonderfilm is currently seeking joint-venture relationships with Chinese and Indian producers interested in co-
productions to sell the finished indie film into those markets or for those companies to consider British Columbia as 
a location of choice for co-productions. 
 
Description of Securities 
 
The authorized share structure of the Resulting Issuer will be the same as the currently authorized share structure of 
Westshire II and the rights associated with each Resulting Issuer Share will be the same as the rights associated with 
each Westshire II Share. See “Part III: Information Concerning Westshire II – Description of Securities”. 
 
Pro Forma Consolidated Capitalization 
 
The following table outlines the expected pro forma capitalization of the Resulting Issuer on completion of the 
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Wonderfilm Acquisition.  
 

Designation 
of Security 

Amount 
Authorized 

Amount Outstanding prior to 
giving effect to the Wonderfilm 

Acquisition 

Amount Outstanding 
after completion of the 

Wonderfilm Acquisition 
assuming the Minimum 

Raise and $250,000 
raised pursuant to the 

Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private 

Placement(1) 

Amount Outstanding 
(paid-up capital) after 

completion of the 
Wonderfilm 

Acquisition assuming 
the Maximum Raise 
and the maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private 

Placement(2) 
Common 
Shares 
($ amount) 

Unlimited 6,669,000 Westshire II Shares 
(1,667,250 Westshire II Shares 
after giving effect to the Westshire 
II Consolidation) 
($833,625) 
 
 
6,707,500 Wonderfilm Shares 
(8,920,975 Wonderfilm Shares 
after giving effect to the 
Wonderfilm Stock Split) 
($3,788,278) 

2,667,250 Resulting 
Issuer Shares after giving 
effect to the Westshire II 
Consolidation 
($1,333,625) 
 
 
9,420,975 Resulting 
Issuer Shares after giving 
effect to the Wonderfilm 
Stock Split 
($4,038,278) 

4,667,250 Resulting 
Issuer Shares after 
giving effect to the 
Westshire II 
Consolidation) 
($2,333,625) 
 
9,920,975 Resulting 
Issuer Shares after 
giving effect to the 
Wonderfilm Stock Split 
($4,288,278) 

Warrants 
($ amount) 

N/A 350,175 Westshire II Existing 
Warrants 
(87,544 Westshire II Existing 
Warrants after giving effect to the 
Westshire II Consolidation) 
($43,722) 

80,000 Resulting Issuer 
Agent’s Warrants 
($40,000) 
 
 
87,544 Resulting Issuer 
Warrants after giving 
effect to the Westshire II 
Consolidation ($43,722) 

240,000 Resulting Issuer 
Agent’s Warrants 
($120,000) 
 
 
87,544 Resulting Issuer 
Warrants after giving 
effect to the Westshire II 
Consolidation ($43,722) 

Stock Options 
($ amount) 

N/A 666,900 Westshire II Options 
(166,725 after giving effect to the 
Westshire II Consolidation) 
($83,363) 

166,725 Resulting Issuer 
Options after giving 
effect to the Westshire II 
Consolidation 
($83,363) 

166,725 Resulting Issuer 
Options after giving 
effect to the Westshire II 
Consolidation 
($83,363)(3) 

Total:   12,088,225 Resulting 
Issuer Shares, 167,544 
Resulting Issuer 
Warrants, and 166,725 
Resulting Issuer Options 

14,588,225 Resulting 
Issuer Shares, 327,544 
Resulting Issuer 
Warrants, and 166,725 
Resulting Issuer Options 

 
Notes: 
 
(1) Assuming the issuance of 1,000,000 Westshire II Shares pursuant to the Minimum Raise for gross equity proceeds of 

$500,000 and assuming $250,000 is raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
  
(2) Assuming the issuance of 3,000,000 Westshire II Shares pursuant to the Maximum Raise for gross equity proceeds of 

$1,500,000 and assuming the issuance of 1,000,000 Wonderfilm Shares pursuant to the maximum Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private Placement for gross equity proceeds of $500,000.  

 
(3) Should each Westshire II director and officer exercise his or her Westshire II Options at the applicable exercise price 

(being $0.10 per pre-Consolidation Westshire II Share), only 166,725 Westshire II Shares will be issued. 
 

Fully Diluted Share Capital 
 

The following table sets out the number and percentage of securities of the Resulting Issuer proposed to be outstanding 
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on a fully diluted basis after giving effect to the Qualifying Transaction and other matters: 
 

 
Number and 
Percentage, 
Assuming 

Closing of the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, 

the Minimum 
Raise, and no 

funds raised in 
the 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

Number and 
Percentage, 
Assuming 

Closing of the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, 

the Maximum 
Raise, and no 

funds raised in 
the 

Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered 

Private 
Placement 

Number and 
Percentage, 
Assuming 

Closing of the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, 

the Minimum 
Raise, and 
maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-

Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

Number and 
Percentage, 
Assuming 

Closing of the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition, 

the 
Maximum 
Raise, and 
maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-

Brokered 
Private 

Placement 
Resulting Issuer Shares outstanding 11,588,225 

(59.74%) 
13,588,225 
(63.04%) 

12,588,225 
(61.71%) 

14,588,225 
(64.67%) 

Resulting Issuer Shares issuable on 
exercise of outstanding Westshire II 
Existing Warrants 

87,544 
(0.45%) 

87,544 
(0.41%) 

87,544 
(0.43%) 

87,544 
(0.39%) 

Resulting Issuer Shares issuable on 
exercise of outstanding Westshire II 
Agent’s Warrants 

80,000 
(0.41%) 

240,000 
(1.11%) 

80,000 
(0.39%) 

240,000 
(1.06%) 

Resulting Issuer Shares issuable on 
exercise of outstanding Resulting 
Issuer Stock Options 

166,725 
(0.86%) 

166,725 
(0.77%) 

166,725 
(0.82%) 

166,725 
(0.74%) 

Resulting Issuer Shares issuable on 
vesting of performance share awards 

7,473,935 
(38.53%) 

7,473,935 
(34.67%) 

7,473,935 
(36.64%) 

7,473,935 
(33.13%) 

Total Resulting Issuer Shares 
outstanding on fully diluted basis 

19,396,429 
(100%) 

21,556,429 
(100%) 

20,396,429 
(100%) 

22,556,429 
(100%) 

 
Available Funds and Principal Purposes 
 
Funds Available  
 
The Resulting Issuer is expected to have approximately $758,596 available on the Closing Date, assuming completion 
of the Minimum Raise and no funds are raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, and 
$2,258,596, assuming completion of the Maximum Raise and the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private 
Placement. As of June 30, 2017, the Resulting Issuer has an estimated consolidated working capital of $330,963. As 
of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing Statement, the Resulting Issuer has an estimated 
consolidated working capital of $258,596. The Resulting Issuer is expected to use the funds available to it in 
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furtherance of its stated business objectives which are as summarized in the table appearing below. 
 

Sources of Funds: Estimated Amount 
(Minimum Raise and 

$250,000 Raised in the 
Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 

Private Placement) 

Estimated Amount 
(Maximum Raise and 

Maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private 

Placement) 
Estimated pro forma working capital as of the Closing Date $258,596 $258,596 
Gross proceeds from Private Placements $750,000 $2,000,000 
Total Sources $1,008,596(1) $2,258,596(2) 
Use of Funds:    
Wonderfilm Acquisition Costs   

 Legal and other estimated costs $350,000 $350,000 
 Finance fee $40,000 $160,000 

Production Packaging Costs, Brand Building with Agents and 
Actors, and Script Deal Flow  

$20,000 $320,000 

Sales and Marketing Activities, Including Meeting with 
Buyers at the Sundance Film Festival, Meeting with 
Executives at B2B National Association of TV Programming 
Executives, Attending Berlin International Film Festival, 
B2B American Film Market, Hong Kong Film Festival, 
Cannes Film Festival, Toronto International Film Festival, 
and MIPCOM in France 

$160,000 $460,000 

General and Administration $338,596 $220,000 
Unallocated working capital to fund ongoing operations $100,000 $748,596 
Total Uses $1,008,596 $2,258,596 

Notes:  
(1) Pro forma working capital equals starting cash of $258,596 as of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing 

Statement, and $500,000 in gross proceeds from the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, assuming completion of 
the Minimum Raise, and assuming $250,000 is raised pursuant to the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, not 
taking into account transaction costs. 

 
(2) Pro forma working capital equals starting cash of $258,596 as of the most recent month end prior to the date of this Filing 

Statement, and $1,500,000 in gross proceeds from the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, assuming completion of 
the Maximum Raise, and $500,000 in gross proceeds from the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, not taking 
into account transaction costs. 

 
(3) Unallocated working capital will be used to cover future ongoing G&A costs. 
 
Based on current projections, management believes that the Resulting Issuer’s working capital available for funding 
ongoing operations is expected to meet its expenses for a minimum period of 24 months commencing immediately 
after the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition.  
 
For additional information, see “Part VI: Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Available Funds and 
Principal Purposes”.  
 
Notwithstanding the proposed uses of available funds discussed above, there may be circumstances where a 
reallocation of funds may be necessary. It is difficult, at this time, to definitively project the total funds necessary to 
effect the planned activities of the Resulting Issuer. For these reasons, management of Westshire II and Wonderfilm 
consider it to be in the best interests of the Resulting Issuer and its shareholders to afford management a reasonable 
degree of flexibility as to how the funds are employed among the uses identified above, or for other purposes, as the 
need arises. Further, the above uses of available funds should be considered estimates. See “Part IV: Information 
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Concerning Wonderfilm Acquisition” and “Forward-Looking Information”. 
 
Dividends 
 
No dividends on the Wonderfilm Shares have been paid or issued by Wonderfilm. Management anticipates that the 
Resulting Issuer will retain all future earnings and other cash resources for the future operation and development of 
its business. The Resulting Issuer does not intend to declare or pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 
Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of the Resulting Issuer Board after taking into account many 
factors including the Resulting Issuer’s operating results, financial condition and current and anticipated cash needs. 
 
Principal Securityholders 
 
It is anticipated that the following Persons will own of record or beneficially, directly or indirectly, or exercise control 
or direction over, more than 10% of the Resulting Issuer Shares following the completion of the Wonderfilm 
Acquisition. See “Forward-Looking Information”. 
 

Name 

Beneficially, 
of record 
only, or 

beneficially 
only 

Number and Percentage of Resulting 
Issuer Shares following the 

completion of the Wonderfilm 
Acquisition Assuming Minimum 
Raise (including Associates and 

Affiliates) and no funds raised from 
the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 

Private Placement(1) 

Number and Percentage of 
Resulting Issuer Shares 

following the completion of 
the Wonderfilm Acquisition 
Assuming Maximum Raise 

(including Associates and 
Affiliates) and maximum 

Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 
Private Placement(2) 

Kirk Shaw, 
Vancouver, British 
Columbia 

Beneficially 
and of record 

1,515,001 (of record and beneficial), 
and 153,615 performance shares) 

(8.60%) 

1,515,001 (of record and 
beneficial) and 153,615 

performance shares (7.40%) 
Amy Saxon, 
Pacific Palisades, 
United States 

Beneficially 
and of record 

539,453 (of record and beneficial) and 
2,992,500 performance shares (18.21%) 

539,453 (of record and 
beneficial) and 2,992,500 

performance shares (15.66%) 
 
Notes: 
 
(1) Presented on a fully diluted basis of 19,396,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, including 80,000 Westshire II Agent’s Warrants, 

87,544 Westshire II Existing Warrants, and 166,725 Westshire II Options. 
 

(2) Presented on a fully diluted basis of 22,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, including 240,000 Westshire II Agent’s 
Warrants, 87,544 Westshire II Existing Warrants, and 166,725 Westshire II Options. 

 
Directors, Officers and Promoters 
 
Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holdings 
 
The following are the names and municipalities of residence of those Persons who will be directors, officers and 
promoters of the Resulting Issuer, the positions and offices they will hold with the Resulting Issuer, their principal 
occupations and the number of Resulting Issuer Shares which will be held by each of them upon completion of the 
Wonderfilm Acquisition. Each director will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Resulting Issuer 
his or her office is earlier vacated in accordance with the BCBCA and the Articles of Amalgamation of the Resulting 
Issuer.  
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Name, 
Municipality of 
Residence and 

Position or 
Office(1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Principal Occupation and 
Positions During the Last 

Five Years 

Period or 
Periods 
During 
Which 
Each 

Proposed 
Director 

Has Served 
as a 

Director of 
Wonderfilm 

or 
Westshire 

II 

 
 

Resulting 
Issuer 
Shares 
Held 

Directly or 
Indirectly(2) 

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Issued and 
Outstanding 

Shares 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 

and 
Assuming 
Minimum 

Raise and No 
Funds Raised 

in the 
Wonderfilm 

Non-
Brokered 
Private 

Placement  
 

(Fully Diluted) 

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Issued and 
Outstanding 

Shares 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 

and 
Assuming 
Maximum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-

Brokered 
Private 

Placement 
 

(Fully Diluted) 
Kirk Shaw 
(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6) 
Vancouver, 
B.C., Canada 
 
CEO and 
Director  

From 2016 to present: CEO 
of Wonderfilm; from 2014 
to 2017: director of Bearing 
Lithium Corp., in 2017: 
director of Totally Hip 
Technologies Inc.; from 
2009 to present: CEO of 
Raintower Films/Odyssey 
Media Inc.; from 1996 to 
present: CEO of Insight 
Films; from 2007 to 2015: 
director of Whistler Gold 
Exploration Inc.; in 2015; 
senior officer and director of 
Blizzard Finance Corp.; 
from 2002 to 2015: director 
of Empire Metals Corp.; 
from 2011 to 2013: CEO 
and director of Folkstone 
Capital Corp.; and from 
2011 to 2013; CEO and 
director of Sophia Capital 
Corp. 

Director and 
officer of 

Wonderfilm 
since 

January 10, 
2014 

1,515,001 
(in addition 
to 153,615 

performance 
shares) 

8.60% 7.40% 

Dennis L. 
Nerland, LLB 
(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6) 
Calgary, AB, 
Canada 
 
Director 

Partner, Shea Nerland 
Calnan LLP, 1990 to present 

Director of 
Westshire II 
from June 1, 

2015 to 
Present 

125,000 
(20,841 

Westshire II 
Options) 

0.75% 0.65% 
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Name, 
Municipality of 
Residence and 

Position or 
Office(1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Principal Occupation and 
Positions During the Last 

Five Years 

Period or 
Periods 
During 
Which 
Each 

Proposed 
Director 

Has Served 
as a 

Director of 
Wonderfilm 

or 
Westshire 

II 

 
 

Resulting 
Issuer 
Shares 
Held 

Directly or 
Indirectly(2) 

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Issued and 
Outstanding 

Shares 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 

and 
Assuming 
Minimum 

Raise and No 
Funds Raised 

in the 
Wonderfilm 

Non-
Brokered 
Private 

Placement  
 

(Fully Diluted) 

Approximate 
Percentage of 

Issued and 
Outstanding 

Shares 
following the 
completion of 

the 
Wonderfilm 
Acquisition 

and 
Assuming 
Maximum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-

Brokered 
Private 

Placement 
 

(Fully Diluted) 
Norman Tsui, 
CA, MSc 
Richmond, B.C., 
Canada 
 
Executive Vice 
President and 
Director 

CEO and director of Liberty 
Biopharma Inc. since 
December 2010 

Director and 
officer of 

Westshire II 
from June 1, 

2015 to 
Present 

331,162 
(31,260 

Westshire II 
Options) 

1.87% 
 

1.61% 
 

Szu Min Chiu, 
BA, MSA(3) 
Richmond, B.C., 
Canada 
 
Director  

Vice President and director 
of Liberty Biopharma Inc. 
since December 2010 

Director of 
Westshire II 
from June 1, 

2015 to 
Present 

331,162 
(20,841 

Westshire II 
Options) 

1.81% 1.56% 

Alan Tam, 
CPA, CA 
Vancouver, 
B.C., Canada 
 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

CFO of Liberty Biopharma 
Inc. since December 2010; 
CFO, Corporate Secretary 
and Director of Westshire 
Capital II Corp. 

Director and 
officer of 

Westshire II 
from June 1, 

2015 to 
Present 

306,162 
(31,260 

Westshire II 
Options) 

1.74% 1.50% 

Mouane 
Sengsavang, 
LLB 
Vancouver, 
B.C., Canada 
 
Corporate 
Secretary 

Owner, Buttonwood Law 
Corporation, since 2010 

N/A 15,000 0.08% 0.07% 

 
Notes: 
 
(1) Messrs. Carsted, Neweduk, and Ng were members of the Westshire II Board at the time of its IPO. Effective 
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upon the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, Messrs. Carsted, Neweduk, and Ng will resign as 
directors. The term of office of each director of the Resulting Issuer will expire at the next annual general 
meeting of the Resulting Issuer or at such time as their respective successors shall be duly appointed or 
elected. 
 

(2) On completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, the directors, officers and promoters of the Resulting Issuer, 
as a group, will, on a non-fully diluted basis, own, directly or indirectly, 2,777,102 Resulting Issuer Shares, 
representing approximately 14.32% of 19,396,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, assuming the Minimum Raise 
and assuming that no funds are raised in the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, and 12.88% of 
21,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares, assuming the Maximum Raise and assuming that no funds are raised in 
the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. On a fully diluted basis, assuming the Maximum Raise 
and maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, the directors, officers and promoters of the 
Resulting Issuer, as a group, will own, directly or indirectly, 2,881,304 Resulting Issuer Shares, representing 
approximately 12.77% of 22,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares. See also “Interests of Insiders” on page 14 
and “Directors, Officers and Promoters” on page 52. The Westshire II Brokered Private Placement investors 
will hold approximately 1,000,000 Westshire II Shares, assuming the Minimum Raise, representing 
approximately 5.16% of 19,396,429 issued and outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares on a non-diluted basis, 
and assuming that no funds are raised in the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. On a non-diluted 
basis, assuming the Maximum Raise and maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, the 
Westshire II Brokered Private Placement investors will hold approximately 3,000,000 Westshire II Shares, 
representing approximately 13.30% of 22,556,429 issued and outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares, and 
13.30% on a fully diluted basis of 22,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares. The Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 
Private Placement investors will hold approximately 1,000,000 Wonderfilm Shares, assuming the maximum 
Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement and assuming the Minimum Raise, representing approximately 
4.90% of 20,396,429 issued and outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares on a non-diluted basis. On a fully diluted 
basis, assuming the Maximum Raise and maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement, the 
Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement investors will own 1,000,000 Wonderfilm Shares, representing 
approximately 4.43% of 22,556,429 Resulting Issuer Shares. 
 
The number of Resulting Issuer Shares held by the directors, officers and promoters of the Resulting Issuer 
does not include Westshire II Shares to be acquired by a director or officer who intends to participate in the 
Westshire II Brokered Private Placement or the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
 

(3) Proposed member of the Resulting Issuer’s Audit Committee.  
 
(4) Proposed member of the Resulting Issuer’s Compensation Committee.  
 
(5) Proposed member of the Resulting Issuer’s Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.  
 
(6) Proposed member of the Resulting Issuer’s Executive Committee.  
 
Management 
 
The following sets forth particulars on those individuals who will be directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer, 
including the positions they will hold with the Resulting Issuer on completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, their 
proposed responsibilities with the Resulting Issuer, the proportion of their time to be devoted to the Resulting Issuer, 
and their relevant educational background. The proportion of time indicated is an estimate and may increase or 
decrease as business needs dictate.  
 
Kirk Shaw, Chief Executive Officer and Director, age 61: Kirk Shaw has produced over 230 movies over his 30-year 
career and is best known for his production packaging and financing prowess. Mr. Shaw has contributed his talents to 
many U.S. television series and feature films, including the Oscar winning, “The Hurt Locker.” Mr. Shaw has worked 
with all major studios, plus notable stars such as Charlize Theron, Woody Harrelson, Kim Basinger, John Cusack, 
Ray Liotta and Cuba Gooding Jr. Mr. Shaw’s experience with public companies can be summarized as follows: from 
2016 to present: CEO of Wonderfilm; from 2009 to present: CEO of Raintower Films/Odyssey Media Inc.; and from 
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1996 to present: CEO of Insight Films. 
 
Mr. Shaw will devote the majority of his time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the 
management of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Norman Tsui, Executive Vice President and Director, age 46: Mr. Tsui will join Wonderfilm as Executive Vice 
President and director on completion of the QT with Westshire II. Mr. Tsui has been financing, operating and investing 
in technology, media, biotechnology, and high-growth companies for over 25 years. He began his career at KPMG 
(Audit, Risk Management, Consulting and Corporate Finance) and has since been involved in divestitures, structured 
financings, IPOs, RTOs, CPCs and restructuring. He earned a BSc in Biology and MSc in Bio-resource Engineering 
from UBC. Mr. Tsui is also a CPA/CA.  
 
Mr. Tsui will devote the majority of his time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the 
management of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Dennis Nerland, Director, age 65: Mr. Nerland will join Wonderfilm as a director on completion of the QT with 
Westshire II. Mr. Nerland is a lawyer and has been a partner with the law firm Shea Nerland LLP since 1990, 
specializing in the areas of tax and trust law. Mr. Nerland is a current and past director of a number of private 
investment companies, a number of private operating companies, and a number of public companies listed on the TSX 
Venture and the Toronto Stock Exchange. Mr. Nerland has a Juris Doctor from the University of Calgary, a Master of 
Arts (Economics) from Carleton University, and a Bachelor of Science (Economics and Mathematics) from the 
University of Calgary. Mr. Nerland is a member of the Law Society of Alberta. Mr. Nerland has completed the Rotman 
/ Haskayne Directors Education Program and achieved the designation of Institute-certified Director (ICD.D) from 
the Institute of Corporate Directors in 2011.  
 
Mr. Nerland will devote 10% of his time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the management 
of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Szu Min Chiu, Director, age 44: Ms. Chiu will join Wonderfilm as a director on completion of the QT with Westshire 
II. Ms. Chiu is a senior executive and corporate director of various publicly traded and international companies. Ms. 
Chiu has been involved in real estate investments, international foreign investing and international corporate 
structuring and has held senior executive positions in Taiwan, China, Hong Kong, and Vancouver for multimillion 
dollar projects for over 20 years. Ms. Chiu is currently the Chair of the Board for Taiwan Kuo Kuang High School 
and Kuo Kuang Cultural Foundation. Ms. Chiu is a licensed B.C. real estate broker and has a BA in Economics from 
Taiwan Chinese Cultural University and a Master of Science, International Administration degree from Central 
Michigan University. From 1997 to 2009, Ms. Chiu was Executive Vice President of Hua Fong Marble Co. of Taiwan, 
R.O.C.; from 2010 to 2012, an independent business consultant; and from 2010 to 2013, President of Kuo Kuang 
Senior High School. 
 
Ms. Chiu will devote 10% of her time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the management of 
the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Alan Tam, Chief Financial Officer, age 44: Mr. Tam will join Wonderfilm as CFO on completion of the QT with 
Westshire II. Mr. Tam is a senior executive involved with structuring and planning of IPOs, RTOs and CPCs. Mr. 
Tam, with over 20 years of experience, has been involved in financing, operations, corporate services, mergers and 
acquisitions, and investor relations for four public companies in the past 7 years. Mr. Tam is a CPA/CA and has 
worked with biotechnology, start-up alternative energy and other corporations dealing with tax, regulatory, investment 
management, international cash and tax management, compliance and accounting matters. In 2011, Mr. Tam worked 
as a Senior Accountant at Novadx Ventures Inc., a mining investment company, and from 2007 to 2010, he was a 
Chartered Accountant at Lohn Caulder LLP. 
 
Mr. Tam will devote 20% of his time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the management of 
the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Mouane Sengsavang, Corporate Secretary, age 41: Ms. Sengsavang is the principal of Buttonwood Law Corporation 
and advises issuers in respect of public and private securities financings, as well as initial public offerings, reverse 
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takeovers, plans of arrangement, mergers and acquisitions, and corporate reorganizations. Ms. Sengsavang was called 
to the Bar of British Columbia in 2005, to the Bar of Alberta in 2006, and to the Bar of Ontario in 2012. Ms. 
Sengsavang has served as a director of a TSX Venture Exchange-listed biotechnology company and corporate 
secretary of a number of public companies. 
 
Ms. Sengsavang will devote 10% of her time necessary to perform the work required in connection with the 
management of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Promoter Consideration 
 
Norman Tsui is considered to be the promoter of Westshire II in that he took the initiative in founding and organizing 
Westshire II. Mr. Tsui beneficially owns, or controls or directs, indirectly or directly, 331,162 Resulting Issuer Shares 
and 31,260 Westshire II Options, representing 1.87% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Resulting Issuer on a 
fully-diluted basis assuming the Minimum Raise and assuming no funds are raised in the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered 
Private Placement, and 1.61% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Resulting Issuer on a fully-diluted basis 
assuming the Maximum Raise and assuming the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. See also 
“Interests of Insiders” and “Directors, Officers and Promoters”. 
 
Kirk Shaw is considered to be the promoter of Wonderfilm in that he took the initiative in founding and organizing 
Wonderfilm. Mr. Shaw beneficially owns, or controls or directs, indirectly or directly, 1,668,616 Resulting Issuer 
Shares and nil options, representing 8.60% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Resulting Issuer on a fully-
diluted basis assuming the Minimum Raise and assuming no funds are raised in the Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private 
Placement, and 7.40% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Resulting Issuer on a fully-diluted basis assuming 
the Maximum Raise and assuming the maximum Wonderfilm Non-Brokered Private Placement. See also “Principal 
Securityholders” and “Directors, Officers and Promoters”. 
 
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 
 
No proposed director, officer or Promoter of the Resulting Issuer or shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient number 
of securities of the Resulting Issuer to affect materially the control of the Resulting Issuer is or has, within the past 10 
years, been a director, officer or Promoter of any Person or issuer that, while such Person was acting in that capacity, 
was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied that Person or issuer access to any exemptions 
under applicable securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver-manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets 
of that Person.  
 
Penalties or Sanctions 
 
No current or proposed director or executive officer of Wonderfilm, Westshire II or the Resulting Issuer has, within 
the past ten years, been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or by a securities regulatory authority 
relating to securities legislation or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or has 
been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 
 
Personal Bankruptcies 
 
No current or proposed director, officer, or promoter of Wonderfilm, Westshire II or the Resulting Issuer has, within 
the past ten years, been declared bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement, or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager, or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that 
individual. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Some of the individuals expected to serve as directors or officers of the Resulting Issuer upon the completion of the 
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Wonderfilm Acquisition are also directors, officers and/or Promoters of other reporting and non-reporting issuers. See 
“Part IV: Information Concerning Wonderfilm – Acquisitions”. Aside from the potential conflict arising therefrom, as 
of the date of this Filing Statement and to the knowledge of the directors and officers of Westshire II and Wonderfilm, 
there are no existing conflicts of interest between the Resulting Issuer and any of the individuals proposed for 
appointment as directors or officers following the completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
 
Other Reporting Issuer Experience  
 
The following table sets out the proposed directors, officers and Promoters of the Resulting Issuer that are, or have 
been within the last five years, directors, officers or Promoters of other reporting issuers: 
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Name of Director, 
Officer or Promoter 

Name and Jurisdiction  
of Reporting Issuer 

Name of 
Trading Market Position From To 

Alan Tam 
Liberty Biopharma Inc., 
formerly Avagenesis Corp. 
(British Columbia) 

Exchange CFO December 
2010 Present 

Alan Tam Khot Infrastructure 
Holdings, Ltd. 

Canadian 
Securities 
Exchange 

CFO August 2017 Present 

Dennis Nerland Acceleware Ltd. (Alberta) Exchange Director April 2011 Present 

Dennis Nerland Critical Control Solutions 
Corp. TSX Director May 2001 Present 

Dennis Nerland Rosa Capital Inc. Exchange Director October 2012 Present 

Dennis Nerland 

Alston Energy Inc. 
(Alberta) (formerly 
Canrock Energy Corp. 
Petrosands Resources 
(Canada) Inc.) 

Exchange Director  September 
2011 Present 

Dennis Nerland Arkadia Capital Corp. 
(Alberta) Exchange 

Director, 
President, CEO 

and CFO 
July 2011 Present 

Dennis Nerland Crew Energy Inc. (Alberta) TSX Director September 
2003 Present 

Dennis Nerland 
Dee Three Exploration 
Ltd. (Alberta) (formerly 
Royal Capital Corp.) 

TSX Director 2007 Present 

Dennis Nerland FSI Energy Group Inc. 
(Alberta) Exchange Director November 

2000 Present 

Dennis Nerland 
Invicta Energy Corp. 
(Alberta) (formerly Royal 
Acquisition Corp.) 

Exchange Director and 
Chairman April 2010 May 2012 

Dennis Nerland 
Northern Lights 
Acquisition Corp. 
(Alberta) 

Exchange Director and 
Chairman 

September 
2009 May 2011 

Dennis Nerland Reliable Energy Ltd. 
(Alberta) Exchange Director June 2006 May 2012 

Dennis Nerland Savanna Energy Services 
Corp. (Alberta) 

TSX (ceased 
reporting in 2017) Director May 2005 August 2008 

Kirk Shaw Bearing Litihium Corp. 
(British Columbia) Exchange Director 2014 2017 

Kirk Shaw Totally Hip Technologies 
Inc. (British Columbia) Exchange Director 2017 Present 

Kirk Shaw Whistler Gold Exploration 
Inc. (British Columbia) NEX Director 2007 2015 

Kirk Shaw Blizzard Finance Corp. 
(British Columbia) 

Reporting Issuer 
Only 

Senior Officer 
and Director 2015 2015 

Kirk Shaw Empire Metals Corp. 
(British Columbia) Exchange Director 2002 2015 

Kirk Shaw Folkstone Capital Corp. 
(British Columbia) NEX CEO and 

Director 2011 2013 

Kirk Shaw Sophia Capital Corp. 
(British Columbia) Exchange CEO and 

Director 2011 2013 

Norman Tsui 
Liberty Biopharma Inc., 
formerly Avagenesis Corp. 
(British Columbia) 

Exchange 
Chief Executive 

Officer and 
Director 

December 
2010 Present 

Norman Tsui Times Telecom Inc. 
(British Columbia) Exchange Director October 2009 January 2011 
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Name of Director, 
Officer or Promoter 

Name and Jurisdiction  
of Reporting Issuer 

Name of 
Trading Market Position From To 

Norman Tsui Acceleware Corp. 
(Alberta) Exchange Chief Financial 

Officer January 2006 December 
2008 

Szu Min Chiu 
Liberty Biopharma Inc., 
formerly Avagenesis Corp. 
(British Columbia) 

Exchange Vice President 
and Director 

December 
2010 Present 

Mouane Sengsavang Two Owls Ventures Corp. 
(British Columbia) Exchange Corporate 

Secretary August 2017 Present 

Mouane Sengsavang 
Liberty Biopharma Inc., 
formerly Avagenesis Corp. 
(British Columbia) 

Exchange Corporate 
Secretary 

December 
2010 Present 

Mouane Sengsavang Biosign Technologies Inc. 
(Ontario) Exchange Director June 2010 June 2011 

 
Proposed Executive Compensation 
 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis  
 
It is anticipated that following the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the objectives and approach to executive 
compensation of the Resulting Issuer will be substantially the same as those of Wonderfilm. See “Information 
Concerning Wonderfilm – Executive Compensation”. 
 
Proposed Compensation 
 
Upon completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, Kirk Shaw will be appointed Chief Executive Officer and a director 
of the Resulting Issuer; Norman Tsui will be appointed Executive Vice President and a director of the Resulting Issuer; 
Alan Tam will be appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Resulting Issuer; Mouane Sengsavang will be appointed 
Corporate Secretary of the Resulting Issuer; and Kirk Shaw, Dennis L. Nerland, Szu Min Chiu, and Norman Tsui will 
be appointed as directors of the Resulting Issuer. The Resulting Issuer proposes to enter into consulting agreements 
with each of Messrs. Shaw, Tsui and Tam to provide services to the Resulting Issuer in their respective officer 
capacities at a fixed remuneration of $5,000 per month, subject to the ability of the Resulting Issuer to pay and subject 
to recommendations from the compensation committee, if and when constituted. 
 
Upon completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, it is anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will establish a 
compensation committee which will recommend how much, if any, compensation will be paid to directors and other 
senior officers for services rendered to the Resulting Issuer. The following table sets forth the compensation for the 
Resulting Issuer’s Named Executive Officers for the three years prior to giving effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition: 
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Name and 
Principal 
position 

Year 
Ended 
June 30 

Salary 
($) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity Incentive 
plan compensation 

($) 
Pension 
value ($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 
     

Annual 
incentive 

plans 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

   

Kirk Shaw, 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
Director 

 

2017 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $780,000 $780,000 
2016 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil  Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 
2015 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 

Norman 

Tsui, 
Executive 
Vice 
President 
and Director 

2017 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 
2016 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 
2015 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 

Alan Tam, 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer  

2017 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 
2016 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 
2015 $ Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $ Nil 

 
 
Investor Relations Arrangements 
 
No oral or written agreement has been entered into with any Person for the provision of investor relations services for 
the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Options to Purchase Securities 
 
Warrants  
 
Upon completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer will have 80,000 Westshire II Agent’s Warrants 
outstanding, assuming completion of the Minimum Raise, and 240,000 Westshire II Agent’s Warrants assuming 
completion of the Maximum Raise. In addition, there will be 87,544 Resulting Issuer common shares reserved for 
issuance under the Westshire II Existing Warrants.  
 
Options 
 
The following table discloses the Resulting Issuer warrants and Resulting Issuer options, as the case may be, to be 
held by executive officers (present and past), directors (present and past), employees, consultants, among others, of 
the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries on completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
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Holder 

Number of 
Resulting 

Issuer Shares 
Issuable if 
Resulting 

Issuer 
Warrants 

and/or Stock 
Options are 

Fully Exercised 
Exercise Price 

($) 
Date of 

Issuance Expiry Date 

Proposed officers of the 
Resulting Issuer as a 
group(1) 

Nil Resulting 
Issuer Warrants; 

and 62,521 
Resulting Issuer 
Stock Options 

$0.40 May 31, 2016 May 31, 2021 

Proposed directors of the 
Resulting Issuer as a 
group(2) 

Nil Resulting 
Issuer Warrants; 

and 41,682 
Resulting Issuer 
Stock Options  

$0.40 May 31, 2016 May 31, 2021 

All other employees of the 
Resulting Issuer as a group 

Nil Resulting 
Issuer Warrants; 

and Nil 
Resulting Issuer 
Stock Options 

N/A N/A N/A 

Proposed directors and 
officers of all subsidiaries 
of the Resulting Issuer as a 
group, excluding officers 
of the Resulting Issuer 

Nil Resulting 
Issuer Warrants; 

and Nil 
Resulting Issuer 
Stock Options 

N/A N/A N/A 

All others 

A minimum of 
80,000 and a 
maximum of 

240,000 
Westshire II 

Agent’s 
Warrants(3); and 

87,544(4) 
Westshire II 

Existing 
Warrants(2) 

$0.50 
Westshire II 

Agent’s 
Warrants 

  
$0.40 

Westshire II 
Existing 
Warrants  

Westshire II 
Agent’s 

Warrants on the 
closing date of 
the Westshire II 

Brokered 
Private 

Placement; 
Westshire II 

Existing 
Warrants on 

May 31, 2016 

Westshire II Agent’s Warrants expire two 
years from the closing date of the Westshire 
II Brokered Private Placement; Westshire II 
Existing Warrants expire on May 31, 2018 

All former officers and 
directors of Westshire II 
as a group 

62,523 
Resulting Issuer 

Stock 
Options(5)(6) 

$0.40 May 31, 2016 May 31, 2021 

All former officers and 
directors of Wonderfilm 
as a group 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 
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Notes:  
 
(1) 
 
 
(2) 
 
 
(3) 

Comprising the following officers of Westshire II: Norman Tsui (31,260 Resulting Issuer Options) and Alan 
Tam (31,260 Resulting Issuer Options). 
 
Comprising the following directors of Westshire II: Dennis Nerland (20,841 Resulting Issuer Options) and Szu 
Min Chiu (20,841 Resulting Issuer Options). 
 
Comprising all Westshire II Agent’s Warrants issued to the Agent upon the closing of the Westshire II Brokered 
Private Placement. Assuming the Minimum Raise, up to 80,000 Resulting Issuer Agent’s Warrants, and 
assuming the Maximum Raise, up to 240,000 Resulting Issuer Agent’s Warrants will be issued and outstanding, 
with each Westshire II Agent’s Warrant expiring two years from the closing date of the Westshire II Brokered 
Private Placement, as more fully defined elsewhere in this Filing Statement. See pages 12 and 45.  
 

(4) Comprising all Westshire II Existing Warrants issued to Mackie Research Capital Corporation upon the initial 
public offering of Westshire II. 
 

(5) Comprising the following three resigning directors of Westshire II: Douglas Carsted, Peter Neweduk, and 
Hilbert Ng. 
 

(6) Should each Westshire II director exercise his or her Westshire II Options at the applicable exercise price (being 
$0.40 per post-Consolidation Westshire II Share), only 166,725 Westshire II Shares will be issued. 
 

 
Stock Option Plan 
 
The Resulting Issuer will adopt the Westshire II Stock Option Plan. For a description of the Westshire II Stock Option 
Plan, see the heading “Part III: Information Concerning Westshire – Description of Securities – Stock Option Plan 
and Options Granted”. 
 
Escrowed Securities 
 
As of the date of this Filing Statement, all of the 2,000,000 Westshire II Shares issued prior to the initial public offering 
are deposited with TSX Trust Company (formerly Equity Financial Trust Company) under the CPC Escrow 
Agreement. Shares held by Principals or acquired by Principals of Westshire II or the Resulting Issuer prior to or in 
connection with the Qualifying Transaction will be deposited with TSX Trust Company under the Value Security 
Escrow Agreement.  
 
All Westshire II Shares acquired on exercise of stock options prior to the Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, 
must also be deposited in escrow and will be subject to escrow until the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued.  
 
In addition, subject to certain exemptions permitted by the Exchange, all Westshire II Shares acquired in the secondary 
market prior to the closing by any Person or company who becomes a Control Person or is a Non-Arm’s Length Party 
of the Resulting Issuer are required to be deposited in escrow. Subject to certain exemptions permitted by the 
Exchange, all securities of the Resulting Issuer held by Principals of the Resulting Issuer will be escrowed.  
 
In addition, certain Wonderfilm Shareholders deemed to be holders of founders’ shares pursuant to the policies of the 
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Exchange shall be subject to escrow in compliance with the policies of the Exchange,  
 
Resulting Issuer Shares 
 
There are three classes of escrow to which certain Resulting Issuer Shares will be subject: 
 

(i) CPC Escrow Shares;  
(ii) Value Security Escrow Shares; 
(iii) Other Discretionary Escrow Shares; and 
(iv) Seed Share Resale Restrictions.  

 
The CPC Escrow Shares are subject to an escrow pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement that continues as part of 
Westshire II’s IPO, while the Value Security Escrow Shares held by Principals of the Resulting Issuer, the performance 
shares held by certain consultants of Wonderfilm, and the seed shares held by certain shareholders of Wonderfilm will 
all be subject to escrow pursuant to the Value Security Escrow Agreement as a result of the Qualifying Transaction. 
 
A total of 500,000 Westshire II Shares (post-Consolidation) shall be considered to be CPC Escrow Shares and continue 
to be subject to the CPC Escrow Agreement; a total of 2,373,487 Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued to Principals of 
the Resulting Issuer in connection with the Qualifying Transaction will be subject to value escrow; a total of 7,473,935 
performance shares to be issued to certain individuals on the Wonderfilm production team will be subject to value 
escrow, and a total of 3,010,854 non-Principal Resulting Issuer Shares will be subject to seed share resale restrictions. 
 
CPC Escrow 
 
The following table sets forth the relevant particulars of the Westshire II Shares held in escrow by the Principals as of 
the date of this Filing Statement pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement. 
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Name and 

Municipality 
of Residence 

of 
Securityholder 

 
 

Escrow 
Classification 

Number of Securities held in escrow (percentage of class – fully diluted(1)) 
Prior to giving effect to the 

Wonderfilm Acquisition 
After giving effect to the Wonderfilm 

Acquisition 
 

Number of 
Westshire II 

Shares 

 
Percentage 

of Total 

 
Number of 
Resulting 

Issuer Shares  

Percentage 
of Total 

Assuming 
Minimum 
Raise and 

No 
Wonderfilm 

Non-
Brokered 
Private 

Placement 

Percentage 
of Total 

Assuming 
Maximum 
Raise and 
Maximum 

Wonderfilm 
Non-

Brokered 
Private 

Placement 
Norman Tsui, 
Richmond, BC CPC Escrow 200,000 2.60% 50,000 0.26% 0.22% 

Alan Tam, 
Vancouver, 
BC 

CPC Escrow 100,000 1.30% 25,000 0.13% 0.11% 

Szu Min Chiu, 
Richmond, BC CPC Escrow 200,000 2.60% 50,000 0.26% 0.22% 

Dennis 
Nerland, 
Calgary, AB 

CPC Escrow 500,000 6.51% 125,000 0.64% 0.55% 

Douglas 
Carsted, 
Calgary, AB 

CPC Escrow 400,000 5.20% 100,000 
 0.52% 0.44% 

Peter 
Neweduk, 
Calgary, AB 

CPC Escrow 400,000 5.20% 100,000 0.52% 0.44% 

Hilbert Ng, 
Richmond, BC CPC Escrow 200,000 2.60% 50,000 0.26% 0.22% 

Total 

 2,000,000 

26.01% 
(based on 
7,686,075 
issued and 
outstanding 
Westshire 
II Shares 
Fully 
Diluted) 

500,000 

2.58% 
(based on 
19,396,429 
outstanding 
Resulting 
Issuer 
Shares 
Fully 
Diluted) 

2.22% 
(based on 
22,556,429 
outstanding 
Resulting 
Issuer 
Shares 
Fully 
Diluted) 

Notes: 
  
(1) The fully diluted share capitalization table includes all Westshire II Agent's Warrants to be paid to the Agent in connection 

with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement. 
 
(2) 

 
Not including Westshire II Shares intended to be acquired by these individuals under the Westshire II Brokered Private 
Placement and not including any Wonderfilm Shares intended to be acquired by these individuals under the Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered Private Placement. 

 
Principal Escrow 
 
The following table sets forth the relevant particulars of the Westshire II Shares to be held in escrow by the Principals 
following completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
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Name and 

Municipality 
of Residence 

of 
Securityholder 

 
 

Escrow 
Classification(3) 

Number of Securities held in escrow (percentage of class – fully diluted(1)(2)) 
After giving effect to the Wonderfilm Acquisition 

 
Number of Resulting 

Issuer Shares  

Percentage of Total 
Assuming Minimum 

Raise and No 
Wonderfilm Non-
Brokered Private 

Placement 

Percentage of Total 
Assuming Maximum Raise 
and Maximum Wonderfilm 

Non-Brokered Private 
Placement 

Kirk Shaw, 
Vancouver, 
BC 

Value Escrow 1,515,001 Resulting 
Issuer Shares  

7.81% 6.72% 

Dennis 
Nerland 
Calgary, AB 

Value Escrow 20,841 Resulting 
Issuer Options 

0.10% 0.09% 

Norman Tsui, 
Richmond, 
BC Value Escrow 

281,162 Resulting 
Issuer Shares and 
31,260 Resulting 

Issuer Options 

1.61% 1.39% 

Alan Tam, 
Vancouver, 
BC Value Escrow 

281,162 Resulting 
Issuer Shares and 
31,260 Resulting 

Issuer Options 

1.61% 1.39% 

Szu Min Chiu, 
Richmond, 
BC Value Escrow 

281,162 Resulting 
Issuer Shares and 
20,841 Resulting 

Issuer Options 

1.56% 1.34% 

Mouane 
Sengsavang, 
Vancouver, 
BC 

Value Escrow 15,000 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

0.08% 0.07% 

Total 

 

2,373,487 Resulting 
Issuer Shares and 
104,202 Resulting 

Issuer Options 

12.77% 
(based on 19,396,429 
outstanding 
Resulting Issuer 
Shares Fully Diluted) 

11% 
(based on 22,556,429 
outstanding Resulting 
Issuer Shares Fully Diluted) 

Notes: 
  
(1) The fully diluted share capitalization table includes all Westshire II Agent's Warrants to be paid to the Agent in connection 

with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement. 
 
(2) 
 
 
 
(3) 

 
Not including Westshire II Shares intended to be acquired by these individuals under the Westshire II Brokered Private 
Placement and not including any Wonderfilm Shares intended to be acquired by these individuals under the Wonderfilm 
Non-Brokered Private Placement. 
 
Following Completion of the Qualifying Transaction, an aggregate of 2,373,487 Resulting Issuer Shares and 104,202 
Resulting Issuer Options will be held in escrow with TSX Trust Company pursuant to the terms of a Value Security Escrow 
Agreement. 

 
Other Discretionary Escrow 
 
The following table sets forth the relevant particulars of the Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued, and upon issuance, 
held in escrow, by the Wonderfilm production team, following completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. 
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Issue Date Shareholder 
(Group of 

Shareholders) 

Number of 
Securities 

Issue Price Resale Restriction 
and Reason 

Based on 
(1) attainment of 
annual division or 
corporate earnings 

goals over 3 years, and 
(2) achievement of 

company cumulative 
earnings goals for the 

same 3 years. 

Kirk Shaw 153,615 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

TBD Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Based on 
(1) attainment of 
annual division or 
corporate earnings 

goals over 3 years, and 
(2) achievement of 

company cumulative 
earnings goals for the 

same 3 years. 

Amy Saxon 2,992,500 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

TBD Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Based on 
(1) attainment of 
annual division or 
corporate earnings 

goals over 3 years, and 
(2) achievement of 

company cumulative 
earnings goals for the 

same 3 years. 

Daniel Grodnik 1,335,320 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

TBD Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Based on 
(1) attainment of 
annual division or 
corporate earnings 

goals over 3 years, and 
(2) achievement of 

company cumulative 
earnings goals for the 

same 3 years. 

Jeffrey Bowler 1,496,250 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

TBD Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Based on 
(1) attainment of 
annual division or 
corporate earnings 

goals over 3 years, and 
(2) achievement of 

company cumulative 
earnings goals for the 

same 3 years. 

Jeovanni Colon 1,496,250 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

TBD Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Total  7,473,935   
 
Seed Share Resale Restrictions 

Pursuant to Exchange Policy 5.4 - Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions, certain non-Principal 
holders of Wonderfilm Shares, upon exchange into Resulting Issuer Shares, will be subject to seed share resale 
restrictions (each, an “SSRR”). SSRRs are Exchange hold periods of various lengths which apply where seed shares 
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are issued to non-principals by private companies in connection with the Qualifying Transaction. The terms of the 
SSRRs are based on the length of time such Wonderfilm Shares have been held and the price at which such shares 
were originally issued.  

The non-principal shareholders of Wonderfilm Shares hold an aggregate of 3,010,854 Resulting Issuer Shares that 
will be subject to SSRRs upon the completion of the Qualifying Transaction pursuant to the following SSRR matrix: 
 

Issue Date Shareholder 
(Group of 

Shareholders) 

Number of 
Securities 

Issue Price Resale Restriction 
and Reason 

10-January-2014 Chi Zhang 614,460 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

Nominal Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

01-June-2016 Kristina Loganchuk 1,041,922 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

Nominal Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

01-June-2016 Ashley Bowler 498,750 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

Nominal Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

01-June-2016 Amy Saxon 498,750 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

Nominal Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

01-June-2016 Nancy Grodnik 356,972 Resulting 
Issuer Shares 

Nominal Escrow – in 
accordance with a 

Value Security 
Escrow Agreement 

Total  3,010,854   
 
Escrow Conditions  
 
Upon completion of the IPO, the Westshire II Shares set opposite the names of the individuals indicated in the above 
table were escrowed pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement. Originally, an aggregate of 2,000,000 Westshire II 
Shares were escrowed pursuant to the CPC Escrow Agreement and are subject to a three-year escrow period. Post-
Consolidation, an aggregate of 500,000 Resulting Issuer Shares issued pursuant to the IPO will be escrowed pursuant 
to the CPC Escrow Agreement and will be under the same release terms as the original 2,000,000 Westshire II Shares.  
 
In accordance with the Exchange Policy 5.4 - Escrow, Vendor Consideration and Resale Restrictions, if at least 75% 
of the Westshire II Shares issued pursuant to the Wonderfilm Acquisition are “value securities”, then all the Westshire 
II Shares issued to Principals of the Resulting Issuer pursuant to the Wonderfilm Acquisition will be deposited into 
escrow pursuant to a value security escrow agreement (a “Value Security Escrow Agreement”). “Value securities” 
are securities issued pursuant to a transaction for which the deemed value of the securities at least equals the value 
ascribed to the assets, using a valuation method acceptable to the Exchange, or securities that are otherwise determined 
by the Exchange to be “value securities” and required to be placed in escrow under a Value Security Escrow 
Agreement. However, if at least 75% of the Westshire II Shares issued pursuant to the Wonderfilm Acquisition are 
not “value securities”, all securities issued pursuant to the Wonderfilm Acquisition will be deposited into a surplus 
security escrow agreement (a “Surplus Security Escrow Agreement”). 
 
The principal distinction between a Value Security Escrow Agreement and a Surplus Security Escrow Agreement is 
the time period for release of securities from escrow. In the case of an Issuer that will be a Tier 2 Issuer when the Final 
Exchange Bulletin is issued, the Value Security Escrow Agreement provides for a three-year escrow release 
mechanism with 10% of the escrowed securities being releasable at the time of the Final Exchange Bulletin, and 15% 
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of the escrowed securities being releasable every 6 months thereafter, on each of the six-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-
month anniversaries of the Final Exchange Bulletin. In the case of a Resulting Issuer that will be a Tier 2 Issuer subject 
to a Surplus Security Escrow Agreement, when the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued, the Surplus Security Escrow 
Agreement provides for a three-year escrow release mechanism with 5% of the escrowed securities releasable at the 
time of the Final Exchange Bulletin, 5% on the date which is six months after the Final Exchange Bulletin, 10% on 
each of the dates which are 12 and 18 months after the Final Exchange Bulletin, 15% on each of the dates which are 
24 and 30 months after the Final Exchange Bulletin and 40% on the date which is 36 months after the Final Exchange 
Bulletin. 
 
In the case of an Issuer that will be a Tier 1 Issuer when the Final Exchange Bulletin is issued, the Value Security 
Escrow Agreement provides for an 18-month escrow release mechanism with 25% of the escrowed securities being 
releasable at the time of the Final Exchange Bulletin and with 25% of the escrowed securities being releasable every 
six months thereafter. In the case of a Resulting Issuer that will be a Tier 1 Issuer when the Final Exchange Bulletin 
is issued, the Surplus Security Escrow Agreement provides for an 18-month escrow release mechanism with 10% of 
the escrowed securities being releasable upon the issuance of the Final Exchange Bulletin, 20% on the date which is 
six months after the Final Exchange Bulletin, 30% on the date which is 12 months after the Final Exchange Bulletin 
and 40% on the date which is 18 months after the Final Exchange Bulletin. 
 
Resulting Issuer Escrow Release Schedule 
 
Assuming the Resulting Issuer Shares are listed on the Exchange as a Tier 2 Issuer and that the Resulting Issuer 
Shares are Value Shares (as that term is defined in the policies of the Exchange), the schedule of release of the 
Vendor Escrow Shares will be as follows: 
 

Release Dates Percentage of Total Escrowed Securities 
to be Released 

At the time of the Final Exchange Bulletin 10% of the escrow securities 
Six months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 
12 months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 
18 months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 
24 months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 
30 months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 
36 months from the Final Exchange Bulletin 15% of the remaining escrow securities 

 
Transfer of Escrowed Securities 
 
The Exchange requires that, where securities subject to escrow are to be held by a Company, such Company will be 
required to agree not to carry out, while its securities are in escrow, any transaction that would result in the change of 
control of the Company. Any such Company will be required to further undertake to the Exchange that, to the extent 
reasonably possible, it will not permit or authorize any issuance or transfer of securities which could reasonably result 
in a change of control of the Company. 
 
All holders of Vendor Escrow Shares must obtain Exchange consent to transfer such securities, other than in specified 
circumstances set out in the applicable escrow agreement. 
 
Auditor 
 
It is expected that A Chan and Company LLP, Chartered Accountants, the current auditor of Westshire II and 
Wonderfilm, will be appointed the auditor of the Resulting Issuer upon completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition. A 
Chan and Company LLP’s offices are located at Unit 114B, 2nd Floor, 8988 Fraserton Court, Burnaby, British 
Columbia, V5J 5H8. 
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
 
It is expected that TSX Trust Company, which is currently Westshire II’s registrar and transfer agent, will serve as the 
Resulting Issuer’s registrar and transfer agent. It is expected that transfers of the Resulting Issuer Shares may be 
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recorded at registers maintained by TSX Trust Company, through its regional offices at Suite 2700, 650 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 4N9. 
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PART VII - GENERAL MATTERS 
 
Relationships 
 
Except for the agreement entered into with the Agent in connection with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, 
there are no actual or anticipated agreements between either Wonderfilm or Westshire II with any registrant to provide 
sponsorship or corporate finance services either now or in the future. 
 
Agent and Sponsor Relationships 
 
In accordance with the terms of the Engagement Letter, the Agent has agreed to act as the exclusive agent in connection 
with the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement, consisting of the issue and sale of Westshire II Shares at $0.50 per 
Westshire II Share, to raise minimum gross proceeds of $500,000 and maximum gross proceeds of $1,500,000.  
 
In consideration for the services received, Westshire II will pay to the Agent a cash commission equal to 8% of the 
gross proceeds of the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement (exclusive of those investors on the list of prospective 
investors provided by Westshire II (the “President's List”)), and will grant to the Agent Westshire II Agent’s Warrants 
equal to 8% of the number of Westshire II Shares issued under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement (exclusive 
of the number of Westshire II Shares issued to investors on the President's List). For investors on the President’s List, 
Westshire II has agreed to pay to the Agent a cash commission equal to 2% of the gross proceeds of the Westshire II 
Brokered Private Placement raised from investors on the President’s List and grant Westshire II Agent’s Warrants 
equal to 2% of the number of Westshire II Shares issued under the Westshire II Brokered Private Placement to 
investors on the President’s List. Westshire II will also pay to the Agent a corporate finance fee of $27,500.  
 
A general policy of the Exchange requires that a sponsor be retained to prepare a sponsor report in connection with 
any proposed Qualifying Transaction. The Resulting Issuer has applied for and received a sponsorship exemption 
dated March 1, 2018, pursuant to section 3.4(a)(ii) of Policy 2.2 of the Exchange’s corporate finance manual. 
 
Interests of Experts 
 
The following Professional Persons whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by that Person  
are named as having prepared or certified a part of this Filing Statement or having prepared or certified a report or 
valuation described or included in this Filing Statement:  
 

(a) Westshire II’s auditor, A Chan and Company LLP of Burnaby, British Columbia. A Chan and 
Company LLP has advised Westshire II that it is independent of Westshire II within the meaning of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British 
Columbia.   

 
(b)  Wonderfilm’s auditor, A Chan and Company LLP of Burnaby, British Columbia. A Chan and 

Company LLP has advised Wonderfilm that it is independent of Wonderfilm within the meaning of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of British 
Columbia.    

 
To the knowledge of the management of Westshire II and Wonderfilm, as of the date hereof, no Professional Person 
or any Associate or Affiliate of a Professional Person, has any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in the securities 
or property of Westshire II, Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of Westshire II, 
Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer, and no Professional Person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as 
a director, officer or employee of the Resulting Issuer or of any Associate or Affiliate of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
Other Material Facts 
 
There are no other material facts about Westshire II, Wonderfilm or the Resulting Issuer that are not disclosed in this 
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Filing Statement. 
 
Approval of the Directors 
 
The contents and sending of this Filing Statement have been approved by the Westshire II Board. Where information 
contained in this Filing Statement rests particularly within the knowledge of a Person other than Westshire II, 
Westshire II has relied upon information furnished by such Person. 
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PART VIII - FINANCIAL STATEMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
Attached to and forming a part of this Filing Statement are: 
 

Appendix A Annual Financial Statements of Westshire II for the year ended June 30, 2017. 
 

Appendix B Annual MD&A of Westshire II for the year ended June 30, 2017.  
 

Appendix C Interim Financial Statements of Westshire II for the six-month period ended December 31, 
2017.  

 
Appendix D 

 
Interim MD&A of Westshire II for the six-month period ended December 31, 2017.  

  
Appendix E Annual Financial Statements of Wonderfilm for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 

2016. 
 

Appendix F 
 
 
Appendix G 
 
 
Appendix H 
 

Annual MD&A of Wonderfilm for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016. 
 
 
Interim Financial Statements of Wonderfilm for the three month period ended September 30, 
2017. 
 
Interim MD&A of Wonderfilm for the three month period ended September 30, 2017. 
 

Appendix I Pro-Forma Consolidated Statements of the Resulting Issuer. 
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WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
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          UNIT 114B (2nd Floor)                                              

8988 FRASERTON COURT                                        
BURNABY, BC V5J 5H8         
 
T: 604.239.0868                                                   
F: 604.239.0866    

          
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To: the Shareholders of 
 Westshire Capital II Corp.        
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Westshire Capital II Corp. (the “Corporation”), which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
statements of cash flows and statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 
2016, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation  of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as at 
June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flow for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 
30, 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  
      
                                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                                   “A Chan & Company LLP”             
                                                                                                                                                  Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

 

Burnaby, British Columbia 
October 10, 2017 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                       

                                                        
                                     

A CHAN AND COMPANY LLP 
                    CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 



 

WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at June 30, 2017 and 2016 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 
  2017 2016 
 
Assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) $ 370,821 $ 425,785 
 
  $ 370,821 $ 425,785  
 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 
Trade and other payables (notes 7) $ 360 $ 2,421 
Accruals 8,498 3,500 
  8,858 5,921 
 
Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital (note 4) 489,558 489,558 
Contributed surplus (note 4) 51,764 51,764   
Accumulated deficit (179,359)                (121,458)                              

 361,963 419,864 
Nature of operations (note 1) 
Subsequent event (note 9) 
 
  $ 370,821 $ 425,785  
 
 
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
October 10, 2017 and were signed on its behalf by:  
 
 
“Norman Tsui”     “Alan Tam”       
Norman Tsui     Alan Tam 
Director     Director 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

In Canadian Dollars 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Expenses: 

General and administration $ 24,586 $ 25,173 
Professional fees 33,315 57,996 
Share based compensation (note 4) - 38,289 

 
Loss before other items (57,901)                (121,458)                              
 
Net loss, which is total comprehensive loss for the year $ (57,901) $       (121,458) 
 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (note 2) $ (0.01) $ (0.32) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
 

WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 
  Number of Share Contributed Accumulated 
  shares capital surplus deficit Total 
 
Balance June 30, 2015 1  1 $ - $ - $ 1 
 
Cancellation of incorporator share (1) (1) - - (1) 
Subscription receivable                   1,600,000            80,000                      -                      -  80,000 
Issuance of common shares 
(Note 4(b)) 400,000 20,000 - - 20,000 
 
Issuance of common shares 

non-brokered (Note 4(b)) 4,669,000  466,900 - - 466,900 
 
Share issuance costs  
(Note 4(b))  (77,342) - - (77,342)  
 
Options issued (Note 4(d)) - - 51,764 - 51,764 
 
Loss for the year - - - (121,458) (121,458) 
  
Balance June 30, 2016 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (121,458) $ 419,864 
 
Loss for the year - - - (57,901) (57,901) 
  
Balance June 30, 2017 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (179,359) $ 361,963 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 
  2017 2016 
 
Cash (used in) provided by:  
 
Operations: 

Loss for the year $ (57,901) $ (121,458) 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital and non-cash items: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,937  5,921 
Share based compensation - 38,289 

Cash used in operating activities (54,964) (77,248) 
 
Financing: 

Issuance of common shares net of cash costs - 503,032 
Cash provided by financing activities - 503,032 

 
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (54,964) 425,784 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 425,785  1 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 370,821 $ 425,785 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
Westshire Capital II Corporation (the “Corporation”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions 
of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on June 1, 2015 and is a Capital Pool 
Company (“CPC”) as defined pursuant to Policy 2.4 of TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (“TSX 
Venture”).  The Corporation proposes to identify and evaluate corporations, businesses or assets 
for acquisition and once identified and evaluated, to negotiate an acquisition or participation 
subject to receipt of shareholder and regulatory approval.  The head office, principal address and 
records office of the Corporation are located at Suite #2270 – 8788 McKim Way, Richmond, 
British Columbia, V6X 4E2. 
 
As at June 30, 2017, the Corporation had no business operations and its only significant asset was 
cash. During the current fiscal year ending June 30, 2017, the Corporation did not enter into any 
agreements to acquire an interest in a business or assets. As a CPC, the Corporation's principal 
business will be the identification and evaluation of assets, properties or businesses with a view to 
acquisition or participation therein, subject, in certain cases, to shareholder approval and 
acceptance by the TSX Venture. Where an acquisition or participation in a proposed transaction 
is warranted (the “Qualifying Transaction”), additional funding may be required. The ability of 
the Corporation to fund its potential future operations and commitments is dependent upon the 
ability of the Corporation to obtain additional financing. There is no assurance that the 
Corporation will complete a Qualifying Transaction within twenty-four months from the date the 
Corporation's shares are listed on the TSX Venture, at which time the TSX Venture may suspend 
or de-list the Corporation's shares from trading.  
 
These financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the 
carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities should the Corporation be unable to 
continue as a going concern.  

 
These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on October 10, 
2017. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 

 
These financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   
 
These financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are stated at their fair 
value. The Corporation’s principal accounting policies are outlined below:  

 
 
 
 

 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Functional and Presentation Currency 
 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional 
currency and presentation currency. 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consists of proceeds from the issuance of share capital and is held with 
a high credit quality financial institution, unrestricted cash held in lawyer’s trust accounts for 
general purpose and all short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature, cashable, and have 
an original maturity date of three months or less.  As at June 30, 2017, there is $Nil included as 
cash equivalents. 
 

The proceeds raised from the issuance of share capital and from the initial public offering (the 
“Offering”) may only be used to identify and evaluate assets or businesses for future investment, 
with the exception that up to 30% of the gross proceeds may be used to cover prescribed costs of 
issuing the common shares or administrative and general expenses of the Corporation. These 
restrictions apply until the completion of a Qualifying Transaction by the Corporation as defined 
under the policies of the TSX Venture.  
 

Income Taxes 
 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case the income tax is also recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income.  
 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, 
or substantively enacted, at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off the amounts, and the Corporation intends to settle on a net basis, 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of all qualifying temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred 
income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the 
deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that the assets can be recovered.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax 
balances relate to the same taxation authority.  
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. 
 

Share Capital 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of 
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. 
 
 
 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
The following new or amended standards which have not been applied within these financial 
statements, will or may have an effect on the Corporation’s future financial statements:  
 
x IFRS 2: Share-based Payment (Effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017)  
x IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017)  
x IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to replace IAS 11, IAS 18, IFRIC 13, 

IFRIC 15 IFRIC 18 and SIC-31 (Effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017) 
 
The Corporation has not yet assessed the impact of these standards or determined whether they 
will adopt the standards early. 

 
Financial Instruments  

 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Corporation has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets and liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 

All financial instruments are recorded initially at fair value.  In subsequent periods, all financial 
instruments are measured based on the classification adopted for the financial instruments: held to 
maturity, loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, 
FVTPL liabilities or other liabilities. 
 

FVTPL assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with the change in the fair 
value recognized in net income (loss) during the period.  The Corporation’s FVTPL assets include 
cash and cash equivalents. 
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the 
amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and 
receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment.  

 
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value 
through the profit or loss, or other financial liabilities, as appropriate.  
 
The Corporation determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All 
financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Corporation’s other financial 
liabilities include accrued liabilities. Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 
Share Based Payments  
 
Equity-settled share based payments for directors, officers and employees are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant and recorded as compensation expense in the financial statements. The 
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Corporation’s estimate of shares that will 
eventually vest. Any consideration paid by directors, officers, employees and consultants on 
exercise of equity-settled share based payments is credited to share capital. Shares are issued from 
treasury upon the exercise of equity-settled share based instruments.  
 
Compensation expense on stock options granted to non-employees is measured at the earlier of 
the completion of performance and the date the options are vested using the fair value method and 
is recorded as an expense in the same period as if the Corporation had paid cash for the goods or 
services received.  
 
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment cannot be 
reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a Black-Scholes valuation model. The 
expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects 
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations. 

 
Critical accounting judgements and estimates 
 
The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual experience may differ from these estimates and 
assumptions. 
 
The effect of a change in accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in 
comprehensive income in the period of the change. 
 
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year in 
these financial statements are accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  

 
Impairment 
 
i) Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than deferred income tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or group of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 
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Impairment (continued) 
 
i) Non-financial assets (continued) 

 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is 
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cost flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.  
Impairment losses are recognized in net income (loss). 
 

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss has been recognized. 
 

ii) Financial assets 
 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset 
that can be estimated reliably. 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognized in net income 
(loss) and reflected in an allowance account against receivables.  When a subsequent event causes 
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through 
net income (loss). 
 
Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net earnings (loss) available to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting 
period.  Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share 
except that the weighted average share outstanding are increased to include additional shares for 
the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive.  The number of additional shares 
is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that the 
proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price 
during the reporting periods. 
 
Diluted earning or loss per share is calculated by adjusting the number of common shares for the 
effect of dilutive options.   
 
Shares held in escrow that are only released upon contingent events are not included in the 
calculations. 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 
  

  2017 2016 
  
 Cash $ 370,821 $ 425,785 

  
  $ 370,821 $ 425,785 
  
 

4. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
a) Authorized 

 
 Unlimited number of common shares 
  
b) Issued  

 
 6,669,000 common shares issued for cash $ 566,900  
     
 On June 1, 2015 and November 9, 2015, the Corporation issued a total of 2,000,000 common 

shares at a price of $0.05 per share for proceeds of $100,000.   
 
On, May 31, 2016, the Corporation issued a total of 4,669,000 common shares at a price of 
$0.10 per share for proceeds of $466,900.  Share issuance cash costs totaled $63,867.  

  
c) Escrowed shares 

 
Pursuant to an escrow agreement dated as of April 13, 2016 among the Corporation, TMX 
Equity Transfer Services (“TMX Equity”) and certain shareholders of the Corporation, 
2,000,000 of the issued and outstanding common shares have been deposited in escrow as at a 
date of auditors’ report.  Upon the Corporation completing a Qualifying Transaction, as 
defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (the “TSX Venture”).  Common 
shares held pursuant to the escrow agreement shall be released as to 10% immediately 
following the issuance of the bulletin of the TSX Venture announcing final acceptance of the 
Qualifying Transaction (the “Initial Release”) and an additional 15% every six months 
commencing six months following the Initial Release. 
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d) 

 
Stock Option Plan 
 
The Corporation has adopted an incentive stock option plan in accordance with the 
policies of the TSX Venture (the “Stock Option Plan”) which provides that the Board of 
Directors of the Corporation may from time to time, in its discretion, grant to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants of the Corporation nontransferable options to purchase 
common shares, provided that the number of common shares reserved for issuance under 
the Stock Option Plan shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the issued and outstanding 
common shares. The options are exercisable for the period of up to ten (10) years. In 
addition, the number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one person shall not 
exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares and the number of 
common shares reserved for issuance to any one consultant will not exceed two percent 
(2%) of the issued and outstanding common shares. The Board of Directors determines the 
price per common share and the number of common shares, which may be allocated to 
each director, officer, employee and consultant and all other terms and conditions of the 
option, subject to the rules of TSX Venture.   
 
As at June 30, 2017, there were 350,175 agent options outstanding with exercise price of 
$0.10 over 24 months from May 31, 2016. The Company had previously recognized 
$13,475 in compensation upon issuance of the agent options as share issuance costs.  These 
options are vested 100% on the grant date. The fair values of these options were determined 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions of risk-free interest rate 
of 0.61%, expected life of options of 1 year and annualized volatility of 100%. 
 
As at June 30, 2017, there were 666,900 stock options granted to officers and directors 
with exercise price of $0.10 over 5 years from May 31, 2016. The Company had 
previously recognized $38,289 in compensation upon issuance of the stock options as share 
based payments.  These options are vested 100% on the grant date. The fair values of these 
options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions 
of risk-free interest rate of 0.62%, expected life of options of 2.5 years and annualized 
volatility of 100%.  

 
Fair Values 
 

At June 30, 2017, the Corporation’s financial instruments consisted of cash and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities.  The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying 
values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments.  The Corporation classifies 
its cash and cash equivalents as FVTPL assets, and its accounts payable and accrued liabilities as 
other financial liabilities.   
 
 
 
 

  
 

4. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

SHARE CAPITAL 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
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Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations.  Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of 
credit risks consist principally of cash.  To minimize the credit risk the Corporation places these 
instruments with a high credit quality financial institution.   
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Corporation is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 

Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due.  The Corporation currently settles its financial obligations out of cash.  The ability 
to do this relies on the Corporation raising equity financing in a timely manner and by 
maintaining sufficient cash in excess of anticipated needs. 

  
6. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

 
The Corporation's capital currently consists of common shares. Its principal source of cash is 
from the issuance of common shares. The Corporation's capital management objectives are to 
safeguard its ability to continue as a going-concern and to have sufficient capital to be able to 
identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a business or assets. The Corporation does not 
have any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. The Corporation manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Corporation may attempt to issue new shares.  

 
7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Corporation, 
together with its affiliates and the Corporation’s key management personnel. The transactions are 
in the normal course of operations.  

(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Trade and other payables $ 87 $ 2,346  
 
(b) Transactions during the year with a company related through common founding shareholders: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Professional fee $ 10,000 $ 4,000 
Office expense 14,400 12,000 
 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
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8. INCOME TAXES 
 
Income taxes attributable to the loss for the year in these financial statements differ from accounts 
computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% - 2017 as 
follows. 

 
        2017 2016 
 
Loss before income taxes $           (57,901) $ (121,458)  
 
Expected tax recovery (2017 – 26.5%, 2016 – 26.5%) $           (15,344) $ (32,186) 
Share based payment                         -  10,147 
Share issue costs                         -                (16,925) 
Permanent difference                    361               - 
Temporary difference not recognized and others                (14,983)  38,964 

Income tax recovery $                     -  $ - 
 
At June 30, 2017, the following tax effects of temporary differences have not been recorded, as 
their future benefit is not probable. 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Future income tax assets: 
 Non-capital losses $ 37,022 $ 22,039 
 Share issuance costs               16,925                  16,925 

Valuation allowance              (53,947)                (38,964) 
 
Total $                     - $ - 
 
At June 30, 2017, the Corporation has non-capital losses carried forward for tax purposes, which 
are available to reduce taxable income in the future.   

The losses expire as follows: 
 

 
2036  $ 22,039 
2037   14,983 
   $             37,022 
 

  
9. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 
On August 22, 2017, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation to complete a business combination to constitute as the 
Company’s Qualifying Transaction as defined in Policy 2.4 of the Corporate Finance Manual of 
the TSX Venture Exchange.  
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This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) presents an analysis of the financial position of 
Westshire Capital II Corp.’s (the “Corporation” or “Westshire”) for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 
2016.  The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of 
the Corporation for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 including the notes contained therein.  
These audited financial statements are presented in Canadian currency and were prepared using 
accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards appropriate in the 
circumstances.  
 
Additional information relating to Westshire, including our prospectus dated May 11, 2016 regarding 
our initial public offering (the “Offering”), is available on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) website at www.sedar.com.    
 
All capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning assigned to such terms under the 
TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (“TSXV” or the “Exchange”) Policy 2.4 - Capital Pool Companies (the “CPC 
Policy”). 
 
Date of Report 
 
This MD&A is dated October 10, 2017. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements relating to amongst other things, expected future 
events and financial and operating results of the Corporation. In some cases, forward-looking 
statements can be identified by words such as "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "forecast", 
"may", "will", "project", "should", "believe", or similar expressions. These forward-looking statements by 
their nature involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contemplated by such statements, including the "Risks and Uncertainties" discussed in this MD&A. 
Forward-looking statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties including but not limited to, 
market and general economic conditions, changes in regulatory environments affecting the 
Corporation’s business and the availability and terms of financing. Although the Corporation considers 
the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based to be reasonable at the time 
they were prepared, actual results and events may differ materially from those included in, 
contemplated or implied by such forward-looking statements.  The Corporation cautions the reader that 
these assumptions regarding future events, many of which are beyond the control of management, may 
ultimately prove to be incorrect. 
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Description of Business 
 
The Corporation was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia) on June 1, 2015 and is classified as a Capital Pool Company (a “CPC”) as defined in the CPC 
Policy. As a CPC, the Corporation’s current business is to identify and evaluate businesses and assets 
with a view to completing a Qualifying Transaction (“QT”) as such term is defined in the CPC Policy. Any 
proposed Qualifying Transaction must be accepted by the Exchange and in the case of a non-arm’s 
length Qualifying Transaction is also subject to "majority of the minority approval" in accordance with 
the CPC Policy. The Corporation has not conducted commercial operations other than to identify and 
pursue potential acquisitions or interests. Until completion of the Qualifying Transaction, the 
Corporation will not carry on any business other than the identification and evaluation of businesses or 
assets with a view to completing a potential Qualifying Transaction. With the consent of the Exchange, 
this may include the raising of additional funds in order to finance an acquisition. Except as described in 
the Corporation’s prospectus dated May 11, 2016, the funds to be raised pursuant to the Corporation’s 
Offering and any subsequent financing will be utilized only for the identification and evaluation of 
potential Qualifying Transactions and not for any deposit, loan or direct investment in a potential 
acquisition. 
  
Although the Corporation believes it has enough capital resources to complete a Qualifying Transaction, 
there is no guarantee that the Corporation will be able to do so within the time limitations permissible 
under the policies of the TSXV.  If the Corporation does not complete a Qualifying Transaction within the 
time limitations permissible, the TSXV may suspend or de-list the Corporations shares from trading. 
Where an acquisition is warranted and results in a Qualifying Transaction, additional funding may be 
required. The Corporations ability to fund its potential future operations and commitments could be 
dependent upon its ability to obtain additional financing. 
 
Significant Events and Transactions 
 
As at June 30, 2017, the Corporation had not completed its Qualifying Transaction and all business 
activity was directed towards the identification of a Qualifying Transaction.  
 
Selected Financial Information 
 
The following selected financial data is derived from the audited financial statements of the Corporation 
prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and is in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
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Selected Annual Information 
 

 As at 
June 30, 2017 

As at 
June 30, 2016 

Revenue $   - $   - 
Net loss $57,901 $121,458 
Net loss per share (basic and diluted) ($0.01) ($0.32) 
Total assets $370,821 $425,785 
Total non-current liabilities $   -  $   - 

 
For the period ended June 30, 2017, the Corporation reported no discontinued operations and did not 
declare any cash dividends.   
 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
 

 June 30, 
2017 

March 31,  
2017 

December 31, 
2016 

September 30, 
2016 

Revenue $   - $   - $   - $   - 
Net loss $19,151 $13,250 $16,817 $8,683 
Net loss per share (basic and diluted) ($0.00) ($0.00) ($0.00) ($0.00) 
Total assets $370,821 $393,529 $401,245 $420,034 
Total non-current liabilities $   - $   - $   - $   -  

 
Results of Operations and Additional Disclosure for Venture Corporations without Significant Revenue 
 
The Corporation does not have any operations and will not conduct any business other than the 
identification and evaluation of business and assets for potential acquisition. 
 
As at June 30, 2017, the Corporation had no assets other than cash in the amount of $370,821.  As at 
June 30, 2017, the Corporation had liabilities including accounts payable and accrued liabilities of 
$8,858. 
 
The Corporation’s direct public company costs include professional fees for audit and legal, transfer 
agent fees, Exchange listing and filing fees and costs of preparing, printing and filing continuous 
disclosure documents.    
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As at June 30, 2017, the Corporation had working capital of $361,963, which included $370,821 in cash.    
 
In the prior year on May 31, 2016 the Corporation completed its Offering resulting in the issuance of 
4,669,000 common shares in the capital of the Corporation at a price of $0.10 per share.  Gross 
proceeds to the Company from the Offering amounted to $466,900.  Management believes that the 
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funds available subsequent to the completion of the offering are sufficient for the Corporation to meet 
its ongoing obligations.   
 
The Corporation has not pledged any of its assets as security for loans, and is not otherwise subject to 
any debt covenants.   
 
Until such time as the Corporation identifies a business enterprise for the Qualifying Transaction, it is 
contemplated that the working capital requirements of the Corporation will relate generally to the 
expenses of maintaining the listing of the Corporation’s common shares on the Exchange, other 
expenses associated with the Corporation’s continuous disclosure obligations under applicable securities 
legislation and costs incurred in identifying, evaluating and executing a potential Qualifying Transaction. 
The only material ongoing contractual obligations of the Corporation relates to the payment of transfer 
agency fees and legal, audit and accounting fees. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Corporation does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that 
have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial 
condition of the Corporation. 
 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 
The Corporation has not engaged in any transactions with related parties other than the allotment and 
issuance of shares to its directors and officers, and the reimbursement of expenses incurred associated 
with the Corporations business. 
 
Transactions during the year with a company related through common founding shareholders: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Professional fee $ 10,000 $ 4,000 
Office expense 14,400 12,000 
 
The transactions were in the normal course of business and related to general and administrative 
expenses associated with administering a public company such as general office costs and professional 
fees for preparing and filing continuous disclosure documents 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Corporation has transferred substantially 
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all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported 
in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset them.  
 
At initial recognition, the Corporation classifies its financial assets in the following categories depending 
on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. The Corporation’s loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash 
equivalents and are included in recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously current assets due to their short-term nature. 
Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when 
material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and 
receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for 
impairment.  
 
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through the 
profit or loss, or other financial liabilities, as appropriate.  
 
The Corporation determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial 
liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. The Corporation’s other financial liabilities include accrued 
liabilities. Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data  
 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares of which 6,669,000 
common shares are issued and outstanding as at the date of this MD&A. 2,000,000 of these common 
shares are held in escrow to be released pro rata to the holders thereof as to 10% upon the issuance of 
notice of final acceptance of a Qualifying Transaction by the Exchange, with the balance in six equal 
tranches of 15% every six months thereafter over a period of 36 months. 

As at June 30, 2017 and the date of this MD&A, the following is a description of the outstanding equity 
securities and convertible securities previously issued by the Corporation: 
 

 Authorized Outstanding at 
June 30, 2017 

Outstanding at 
 the Date of this 

MD&A 
Voting or equity securities issued and 
outstanding 

Unlimited 
Common Shares 

6,669,000 
Common Shares 

6,669,000 
Common Shares 

Securities convertible or exercisable 
into voting or equity securities – stock 
options 

Stock Options to 
acquire up to 10% 

of outstanding 
Common Shares 

666,900 Incentive 
Stock Options 

666,900 Incentive 
Stock Options 
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 Authorized Outstanding at 
June 30, 2017 

Outstanding at 
 the Date of this 

MD&A 
Securities convertible or exercisable 
into voting or equity securities – 
agent’s options 

350,175 350,175 Agent’s 
Options 

350,175 Agent’s 
Options 

 
Management of Capital 
 
The Corporation's capital currently consists of common shares. Its principal source of cash is from the 
issuance of common shares. The Corporation's capital management objectives are to safeguard its 
ability to continue as a going-concern and to have sufficient capital to be able to identify, evaluate and 
then acquire an interest in a business or assets. The Corporation does not have any externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subject. The Corporation manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Corporation may attempt to issue new shares. 
 
Accounting for Stock Options and Agent's Options  
 
The Corporation has adopted an incentive stock option plan (the "Plan"), whereby it may grant options 
to directors, officers, employees, and consultants of the Corporation. The maximum number of shares 
that may be reserved for issuance under the Plan is limited to 10% of the issued common shares of the 
Corporation at any time with no one individual being granted more than 5% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares. The exercise price of options granted under the Plan shall not be less than 
the price of the Corporation's common shares on the day proceeding the day the options are granted, 
less any discounted price permitted by the Exchange.  
 
On the closing of the prior year offering on May 31, 2016, the Corporation granted an aggregate of 
669,000 options to purchase common shares to the Directors and Officers of the Corporation, these 
options are exercisable at a price of $0.10 per common share for a period of five years from the date of 
the completion of the Offering. 
 
In addition to the incentive stock options, the Corporation granted to the Agent 350,175 non-
transferable options to purchase common shares equal to 7.5% of the shares issued in connection with 
the Offering.  These options are exercisable at a price of $0.10 per common share for a period of 24 
months from the date of the completion of the Offering. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Corporation has a limited history of existence. There can be no assurance that a Qualifying 
Transaction will be completed. Equity or debt financing may be required to complete a Qualifying 
Transaction. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to obtain adequate financing 
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to continue. The securities of the Corporation should be considered a highly speculative investment. The 
following risk factors should be given special consideration when evaluating an investment in any of the 
Corporation's securities:  
 

(a) until completion of a Qualifying Transaction, the Corporation is not permitted to carry on any 
business other than the identification and evaluation of potential Qualifying Transactions;  

(b) the Corporation has had no business activity and has not acquired any material assets since its 
incorporation other than cash; 

(c) the Corporation does not have a history of earnings, nor has it paid any dividends and will not 
generate earnings or pay dividends until at least after the completion of the Qualifying 
Transaction;  

(d) the Corporation has only limited funds with which to identify and evaluate potential Qualifying 
Transactions and there can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to identify a 
suitable Qualifying Transaction;  

(e) even if a proposed Qualifying Transaction is identified, there can be no assurance that the 
Corporation will be able to successfully complete the transaction;  

(f) the Qualifying Transaction may be financed in all or part by the issuance of additional securities 
by the Corporation and this may result in further dilution to the investor, which dilution may be 
significant and which may also result in a change of control of the Corporation;  

(g) there can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for the common shares will develop 
and an investor may find it difficult to resell its common shares;  

(h) if the Corporation fails to complete a Qualifying Transaction within 24 months of listing, the TSX 
Venture Exchange could suspend or delist the common shares of the Corporation and an interim 
cease trade order may be issued against the Corporation's securities by an applicable securities 
commission if its common shares are suspended from trading on or delisted from the TSX 
Venture Exchange or otherwise; and  

(i) the Corporation competes with many Capital Pool Companies that are seeking suitable 
Qualifying Transactions. In addition, other Capital Pool Companies may have substantially 
greater financial and technical resources than the Corporation. 

  
Although management of the Corporation is working diligently to identify and complete a Qualifying 
Transaction, there is no assurance that a Qualifying Transaction will be completed. The continued 
operation of the Corporation is dependent on its ability to complete a Qualifying Transaction and 
generate profitable operations in the future. 
 
In addition, if the Corporation fails to complete a Qualifying Transaction within the time limitations 
permissible, the Exchange could suspend or delist the Corporation’s common shares, in which event the 
applicable securities regulatory authorities may issue a cease trade order against the Corporation’s 
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securities. In addition, delisting by the Exchange will result in the cancellation of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of the Corporation held by related parties. 
 
Other MD&A Requirements 

The Corporation has evaluated its internal controls and financial reporting procedures and has found 
them to be effective with the objective of reporting the Corporation's financial transactions. The 
Corporation is not required to file an Annual Information Form under current security legislation and 
thus has not filed one, however, a prospectus dated May 11, 2016 has been filed on the regulator’s web 
at site www.sedar.com. 
 
Approval 
 
The board of directors of the Corporation has approved the disclosure contained in this MD&A. 
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WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A Capital Pool Corporation) 

 
Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 

Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
In Canadian Dollars 

 
 
  December 31,  June 30, 
  2017 2017 
 
Assets 
 
Cash $ 627,636 $ 370,821 
Prepaid 10,000 - 
 
  $ 637,636 $ 370,821  
 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 
Trade and other payables (note 6) $ 3,780 $ 360 
Accruals 260 8,498 
Share subscription deposit (note 7) 375,000 - 
  379,040 8,858 
 
Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital (note 3) 489,558 489,558 
Contributed surplus (note 3) 51,764 51,764  
Accumulated deficit (282,726) (179,359)                              

 258,596 361,963 
Nature of operations (note 1) 
 
  $ 637,636 $ 370,821  
 
 
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
February 8, 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:  
 
 
“Norman Tsui”     “Alan Tam”       
Norman Tsui     Alan Tam 
Director     Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
In Canadian Dollars 

 
 
   Three months ended   Six months ended  
  December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, 
  2017 2016 2017 2016 
 
Expenses: 

General and administration $ 724 $ 3,979 $ 22,087 $ 10,477 
Professional fees 41,584 12,847 81,280 15,023 
 
Loss before the  

undernoted items (42,308) (16,817) (103,367) (25,500) 
 
 
Net loss, which is comprehensive 

loss for the period $ (42,308) $ (16,817) $ (103,367) $ (25,500)  
 
Net loss per share, basic (note 3) $ (0.01) $ (0.00) $ (0.02) $ (0.00) 
 
Net loss per share, diluted (note 3)  (0.01)  (0.00)  (0.02)  (0.00) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
 

WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES  
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

In Canadian Dollars 
	
  Number of Share Contributed Accumulated 
  shares capital surplus deficit Total 
 
Balance June 30, 2016 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (121,458) $ 419,864 
 
Net loss for the period - - - (25,500) (25,500) 
  
Balance December 31, 2016 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (146,958) $ 394,364 
 
	
  Number of Share Contributed Accumulated 
  shares capital surplus deficit Total 
 
Balance June 30, 2017 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (179,359) $ 361,963 
 
Net loss for the period - - - (103,367) (103,367) 
  
Balance December 31, 2017 6,669,000 $ 489,558 $ 51,764 $ (282,726) $ 258,596 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



 
WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
In Canadian Dollars 

 
 
  Six months ended  Six months ended 
  December 31,  December 31, 
  2017 2016 
 
Cash (used in) provided by:  
 
Operations: 

Loss for the period $ (103,367)   $ (25,500) 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital  
and non-cash items: 

Prepaid (10,000)  -  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (4,818)  960 

Cash used in operating activities (118,185)  (24,540) 
 
Financing: 

Share subscription deposit received (note 7) 375,000  - 
Cash provided by financing activities 375,000  - 
  

Increase (decrease) in cash 256,815  (24,540) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 370,821  425,785 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 627,636   $ 401,245 
	
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
Westshire Capital II Corporation (the “Corporation”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions 
of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on June 1, 2015 and is a Capital Pool 
Company (“CPC”) as defined pursuant to Policy 2.4 of TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (“TSX 
Venture”).  The Corporation proposes to identify and evaluate corporations, businesses or assets 
for acquisition and once identified and evaluated, to negotiate an acquisition or participation 
subject to receipt of shareholder and regulatory approval.  The head office, principal address and 
records office of the Corporation are located at Suite #2270 – 8788 McKim Way, Richmond, 
British Columbia, V6X 4E2. 
 
As at December 31, 2017, the Corporation had no business operations and its only significant 
asset was cash. The Corporation has not entered into any agreements to acquire an interest in a 
business or assets. As a CPC, the Corporation's principal business will be the identification and 
evaluation of assets, properties or businesses with a view to acquisition or participation therein, 
subject, in certain cases, to shareholder approval and acceptance by the TSX Venture. Where an 
acquisition or participation in a proposed transaction is warranted (the “Qualifying Transaction”), 
additional funding may be required. The ability of the Corporation to fund its potential future 
operations and commitments is dependent upon the ability of the Corporation to obtain additional 
financing. There is no assurance that the Corporation will complete a Qualifying Transaction 
within twenty-four months from the date the Corporation's shares are listed on the TSX Venture, 
at which time the TSX Venture may suspend or de-list the Corporation's shares from trading.  
 
The proceeds raised from the issuance of share capital and from the initial public offering (the 
“Offering”) may only be used to identify and evaluate assets or businesses for future investment, 
with the exception that up to 30% of the gross proceeds may be used to cover prescribed costs of 
issuing the common shares or administrative and general expenses of the Corporation. These 
restrictions apply until the completion of a Qualifying Transaction by the Corporation as defined 
under the policies of the TSX Venture.  
 
These financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the 
carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities should the Corporation be unable to 
continue as a going concern.  

 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
Statement of Compliance 

 
The unaudited condensed interim financial statements were prepared using the same accounting 
policies and methods as those used in the Corporation’s audited financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2017. These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”. 
The unaudited condensed interim financial statements do not include all of the information 
required for full annual financial statements. These unaudited condensed interim financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s audited financial statements for 
the year ended June 30, 2017.  

 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of measurement 
 
The unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis and are presented in Canadian Dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional currency and 
presentation currency. 
 
Accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions  
 
The preparation of the unaudited condensed interim financial statements requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the quarterly statements and reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are 
continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
However, actual outcomes can differ from these estimates. Significant judgments made by 
management in the process of applying accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements include the application of the going 
concern assumption, the estimates for share based payments using the Black-Scholes options 
valuation model, and the determination of related parties.  

 
3. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
a) Authorized 

 
 Unlimited number of common shares 
  
b) Issued  

 
 6,669,000 common shares issued for cash $ 566,900  
     
 On June 1, 2015 and November 9, 2015, the Corporation issued a total of 2,000,000 

common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for proceeds of $100,000.   
 
On, May 31, 2016, the Corporation issued a total of 4,669,000 common shares at a price 
of $0.10 per share for proceeds of $466,900.  Share issuance cash costs totaled $63,867.  

 
c) Escrowed shares 

 
Pursuant to an escrow agreement dated as of April 13, 2016 among the Corporation, 
TMX Equity Transfer Services (“TMX Equity”) and certain shareholders of the 
Corporation, 2,000,000 of the issued and outstanding common shares have been 
deposited in escrow. Upon the Corporation completing a Qualifying Transaction, as 
defined in Policy 2.4 of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (the “TSX Venture”).  Common 
shares held pursuant to the escrow agreement shall be released as to 10% immediately 
following the issuance of the bulletin of the TSX Venture announcing final acceptance of 
the Qualifying Transaction (the “Initial Release”) and an additional 15% every six 
months commencing six months following the Initial Release. 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

 
d) 

 
Stock Option Plan 
 
The Corporation has adopted an incentive stock option plan in accordance with the policies of 
the TSX Venture (the “Stock Option Plan”) which provides that the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation may from time to time, in its discretion, grant to directors, officers, employees 
and consultants of the Corporation nontransferable options to purchase common shares, 
provided that the number of common shares reserved for issuance under the Stock Option Plan 
shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the issued and outstanding common shares. The options 
are exercisable for the period of up to ten (10) years. In addition, the number of common 
shares reserved for issuance to any one person shall not exceed five percent (5%) of the issued 
and outstanding common shares and the number of common shares reserved for issuance to 
any one consultant will not exceed two percent (2%) of the issued and outstanding common 
shares. The Board of Directors determines the price per common share and the number of 
common shares, which may be allocated to each director, officer, employee and consultant 
and all other terms and conditions of the option, subject to the rules of TSX Venture.   
 
As at December 31, 2017, there were 350,175 agent options outstanding with exercise price of 
$0.10 over 24 months from May 31, 2016. The Company has previously recognized $13,475 in 
compensation upon issuance of the agent options as share issuance costs.  These options are 
vested 100% on the grant date. The fair values of these options were determined using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions of risk-free interest rate of 0.61%, 
expected life of options of 1 year and annualized volatility of 100%. 
 
As at December 31, 2017, there were 666,900 stock options granted to officers and directors 
with exercise price of $0.10 over 5 years from May 31, 2016. The Company has previously 
recognized $38,289 in compensation upon issuance of the stock options as share based 
payments.  These options are vested 100% on the grant date. The fair values of these options 
were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the assumptions of risk-free 
interest rate of 0.62%, expected life of options of 2.5 years and annualized volatility of 100%. 

  
4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
Fair Values 
 

At December 31, 2017, the Corporation’s financial instruments consisted of cash and accounts 
payable.  The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to 
the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments.  The Corporation classifies its cash as 
FVTPL assets, and its accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities.   
 

Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations.  Financial instruments that potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of 
credit risks consist principally of cash.  To minimize the credit risk the Corporation places these 
instruments with a high credit quality financial institution.   
 
 
 

 3. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Corporation is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due.  The Corporation currently settles its financial obligations out of cash.  The ability 
to do this relies on the Corporation raising equity financing in a timely manner and by 
maintaining sufficient cash in excess of anticipated needs. 

  
5. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

 
The Corporation's capital currently consists of common shares. Its principal source of cash is 
from the issuance of common shares. The Corporation's capital management objectives are to 
safeguard its ability to continue as a going-concern and to have sufficient capital to be able to 
identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a business or assets. The Corporation does not 
have any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. The Corporation manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Corporation may attempt to issue new shares.  

 
6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Corporation, 
together with its affiliates and the Corporation’s key management personnel. The transactions are 
in the normal course of operations.  

(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
  December 31, June 30, 
  2017 2017 
 
Trade and other payables $ 3,780 $ 87 
 
(b) Transactions during with a company related through common founding shareholders: 
 
  Six months ended Six months ended 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2017 2016 
 
Professional fee $ 4,000 $ 5,000 
Office expense 3,600 7,200 
 
 

 
 
 



WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 
(A CAPITAL POOL CORPORATION) 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017 

In Canadian Dollars 
 

 

7. DEFINITIVE AGREEMENT TO COMPLETE A BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 

On August 22, 2017, the Corporation entered into a non-binding letter of intent with The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation (“Wonderfilm”) to complete a business combination whereby 
Wonderfilm would amalgamate with a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation, which would 
in turn complete a short-form vertical amalgamation with the Corporation, and continue as one 
corporation to carry on the business of Wonderfilm (the “Transaction”).  

On November 27, 2017, the Corporation entered into a Definitive Agreement in Principle with 
Wonderfilm.   

The Transaction is subject to a number of significant conditions including, but not limited to: (a) 
the receipt of Exchange approval of the Transaction; (b) the completion of a brokered private 
placement by the Corporation of common shares at a price of $0.50 per share for gross proceeds 
of not less than $500,000 and not more than $1,500,000; and (c) receipt of Wonderfilm 
shareholder approval.  

The Transaction is intended to constitute the Corporation’s “Qualifying Transaction” as defined 
in Policy 2.4 of the Corporate Finance Manual of the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”). 

As at December 31, 2017, the Transaction had not been completed.  
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Management’s	Discussion	and	Analysis	
	

Three	and	six	month	periods	ending	December	31,	2017	and	2016	
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This	management’s	discussion	and	analysis	 (“MD&A”)	presents	an	analysis	of	 the	 financial	position	of	
Westshire	 Capital	 II	 Corp.’s	 (the	 “Corporation”	 or	 “Westshire”)	 for	 the	 three	 and	 six	 month	 periods	
ending	 December	 31,	 2017	 and	 2016.	 	 The	 following	 information	 should	 be	 read	 in	 conjunction	 the	
audited	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	 Corporation	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 June	 30,	 2017.	 	 These	 financial	
statements	are	presented	in	Canadian	currency	and	were	prepared	using	accounting	policies	consistent	
with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	appropriate	in	the	circumstances.		
	
Additional	information	relating	to	Westshire	is	available	on	the	System	for	Electronic	Document	Analysis	
and	Retrieval	(“SEDAR”)	website	at	www.sedar.com.				
	
All	capitalized	terms	used	but	not	defined	herein	have	the	meaning	assigned	to	such	terms	under	 the	
TSX	 Venture	 Exchange	 Inc.	 (“TSXV”	 or	 the	 “Exchange”)	 Policy	 2.4	 -	 Capital	 Pool	 Companies	 (the	 “CPC	
Policy”).	
	
Date	of	Report	

	
This	MD&A	is	dated	February	8,	2018.	
	
Forward-Looking	Statements	

	

This	MD&A	may	contain	forward-looking	statements	relating	to	amongst	other	things,	expected	future	
events	 and	 financial	 and	 operating	 results	 of	 the	 Corporation.	 In	 some	 cases,	 forward-looking	
statements	can	be	identified	by	words	such	as	"anticipate",	"continue",	"estimate",	"expect",	"forecast",	
"may",	"will",	"project",	"should",	"believe",	or	similar	expressions.	These	forward-looking	statements	by	
their	nature	involve	risks	and	uncertainties	that	could	cause	actual	results	to	differ	materially	from	those	
contemplated	 by	 such	 statements,	 including	 the	 "Risks	 and	 Uncertainties"	 discussed	 in	 this	 MD&A.	
Forward-looking	statements	are	subject	to	inherent	risks	and	uncertainties	including	but	not	limited	to,	
market	 and	 general	 economic	 conditions,	 changes	 in	 regulatory	 environments	 affecting	 the	
Corporation’s	business	and	the	availability	and	terms	of	 financing.	Although	the	Corporation	considers	
the	 assumptions	 on	which	 these	 forward-looking	 statements	 are	 based	 to	 be	 reasonable	 at	 the	 time	
they	 were	 prepared,	 actual	 results	 and	 events	 may	 differ	 materially	 from	 those	 included	 in,	
contemplated	or	implied	by	such	forward-looking	statements.		The	Corporation	cautions	the	reader	that	
these	assumptions	regarding	future	events,	many	of	which	are	beyond	the	control	of	management,	may	
ultimately	prove	to	be	incorrect.	
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Description	of	Business	

	
The	Corporation	was	 incorporated	pursuant	to	the	provisions	of	the	Business	Corporations	Act	(British	
Columbia)	on	June	1,	2015	and	is	classified	as	a	Capital	Pool	Company	(a	“CPC”)	as	defined	in	the	CPC	
Policy.	 As	 a	 CPC,	 the	Corporation’s	 current	 business	 is	 to	 identify	 and	 evaluate	 businesses	 and	 assets	
with	a	view	to	completing	a	Qualifying	Transaction	(“QT”)	as	such	term	is	defined	in	the	CPC	Policy.	Any	
proposed	 Qualifying	 Transaction	 must	 be	 accepted	 by	 the	 Exchange	 and	 in	 the	 case	 of	 a	 non-arm’s	
length	Qualifying	Transaction	 is	also	subject	to	"majority	of	 the	minority	approval"	 in	accordance	with	
the	CPC	Policy.	 The	Corporation	has	not	 conducted	 commercial	operations	other	 than	 to	 identify	 and	
pursue	 potential	 acquisitions	 or	 interests.	 Until	 completion	 of	 the	 Qualifying	 Transaction,	 the	
Corporation	will	not	carry	on	any	business	other	than	the	identification	and	evaluation	of	businesses	or	
assets	with	a	view	to	completing	a	potential	Qualifying	Transaction.	With	the	consent	of	the	Exchange,	
this	may	include	the	raising	of	additional	funds	in	order	to	finance	an	acquisition.	Except	as	described	in	
the	Corporation’s	prospectus	dated	May	11,	2016,	the	funds	to	be	raised	pursuant	to	the	Corporation’s	
Offering	 and	 any	 subsequent	 financing	 will	 be	 utilized	 only	 for	 the	 identification	 and	 evaluation	 of	
potential	 Qualifying	 Transactions	 and	 not	 for	 any	 deposit,	 loan	 or	 direct	 investment	 in	 a	 potential	
acquisition.	
		
Although	the	Corporation	believes	it	has	enough	capital	resources	to	complete	a	Qualifying	Transaction,	
there	is	no	guarantee	that	the	Corporation	will	be	able	to	do	so	within	the	time	limitations	permissible	
under	the	policies	of	the	TSXV.		If	the	Corporation	does	not	complete	a	Qualifying	Transaction	within	the	
time	 limitations	 permissible,	 the	 TSXV	 may	 suspend	 or	 de-list	 the	 Corporations	 shares	 from	 trading.	
Where	 an	 acquisition	 is	warranted	 and	 results	 in	 a	Qualifying	 Transaction,	 additional	 funding	may	 be	
required.	 The	 Corporations	 ability	 to	 fund	 its	 potential	 future	 operations	 and	 commitments	 could	 be	
dependent	upon	its	ability	to	obtain	additional	financing.	
	
The	Corporation	issued	a	total	of	2,000,000	common	shares	on	June	1,	2015	and	November	9,	2015	to	
its	directors	and	officers	at	a	price	of	$0.05	per	share	for	gross	proceeds	of	$100,000.		All	2,000,000	of	
these	shares	were	placed	in	escrow	as	part	of	the	Offering	(see	below)	in	accordance	with	the	policies	of	
the	Exchange	and	an	Escrow	Agreement	dated	April	13,	2016.	
	
On	May	11,	2016	the	Corporation	filed	a	prospectus	with	the	securities	regulatory	authorities	in	Alberta,	
British	 Columbia	 and	 Ontario	 relating	 to	 the	 issue	 of	 a	 minimum	 of	 3,000,000	 and	 a	 maximum	 of	
8,000,000	 common	 shares	 at	 a	 price	 of	 $0.10	 per	 share	 (the	 "Prospectus"),	 and	 became	 a	 reporting	
issuer	in	Alberta,	British	Columbia	and	Ontario.		
	
Pursuant	to	an	Agency	Agreement	between	the	Corporation	and	Mackie	Research	Capital	Corporation.	
(the	 "Agent")	 dated	 May	 11,	 2016,	 the	 Corporation	 agreed	 to	 issue	 a	 minimum	 of	 3,000,000	 to	 a	
maximum	of	 8,000,000	 common	 shares	 at	 a	 price	 of	 $0.10	 per	 share	 (the	 "Offering")	 appointing	 the	
Agent	as	 its	agent	for	the	Offering.	The	Corporation	agreed	to	pay	the	Agent	a	commission	of	7.5%	of	
the	gross	proceeds	raised,	a	corporate	finance	fee	of	$12,500	plus	GST,	and	to	reimburse	the	Agent	for	
its	legal	fees	and	disbursements	under	the	Offering,	estimated	to	be	$10,000	plus	applicable	taxes.	The	
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Agent	 was	 also	 granted	 a	 non-transferable	 option	 to	 purchase	 common	 shares	 equal	 to	 7.5%	 of	 the	
common	shares	sold	at	a	price	of	$0.10	per	common	share,	expiring	twenty-four	months	after	the	date	
of	the	listing	of	the	common	shares	on	the	Exchange.		
	
On	 May	 31,	 2016,	 the	 Corporation	 completed	 its	 initial	 public	 offering	 (the	 “Offering”)	 and	 issued	
4,669,000	 common	 shares	 at	 $0.10	 per	 share	 for	 gross	 proceeds	 of	 $466,900.	 	 Upon	 closing	 of	 the	
Offering,	 there	 were	 6,669,000	 common	 shares	 outstanding	 of	 which	 2,000,000	 common	 shares	 are	
currently	being	held	in	escrow.			
		
Pursuant	to	a	resolution	of	the	board	of	directors,	 the	Corporation	established	a	stock	option	plan	for	
the	benefit	of	 its	directors,	officers	and	consultants.	 Immediately	following	the	closing	of	the	Offering,	
on	May	31,	2016,	the	Corporation	granted	to	its	directors	and	officers	an	aggregate	of	666,900	options	
to	acquire	common	shares	in	the	capital	of	the	Corporation.		These	options	are	exercisable	at	a	price	of	
$0.10	per	common	share	for	a	period	of	five	years	from	the	date	of	the	completion	of	the	Offering.	
	
The	 Corporation’s	 common	 shares	 listed	 for	 trading	 on	 the	 TSXV	 on	May	 31,	 2016	 under	 the	 trading	
symbol	WSH.P.	
	
On	August	22,	2017,	 the	Corporation	entered	 into	a	non-binding	 letter	of	 intent	with	The	Wonderfilm	
Media	 Corporation	 (“Wonderfilm”)	 to	 complete	 a	 business	 combination	 whereby	Wonderfilm	 would	
amalgamate	with	a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	the	Corporation,	which	would	in	turn	complete	a	short-
form	 vertical	 amalgamation	 with	 the	 Corporation,	 and	 continue	 as	 one	 corporation	 to	 carry	 on	 the	
business	of	Wonderfilm	(the	“Transaction”).		
	
On	 November	 27,	 2017,	 the	 Corporation	 entered	 into	 a	 Definitive	 Agreement	 in	 Principle	 with	
Wonderfilm.	
 
The	 Transaction	 is	 subject	 to	 a	 number	 of	 significant	 conditions	 including,	 but	 not	 limited	 to:	 (a)	 the	
receipt	of	Exchange	approval	of	the	Transaction;	(b)	the	completion	of	a	brokered	private	placement	by	
the	 Corporation	 of	 common	 shares	 at	 a	 price	 of	 $0.50	 per	 share	 for	 gross	 proceeds	 of	 not	 less	 than	
$500,000	and	not	more	than	$1,500,000;	and	(c)	receipt	of	Wonderfilm	shareholder	approval.		
 
The	Transaction	is	intended	to	constitute	the	Corporation’s	“Qualifying	Transaction”	as	defined	in	Policy	
2.4	of	the	Corporate	Finance	Manual	of	the	TSX	Venture	Exchange	(the	“Exchange”).	
	
As	at	December	31,	2017,	the	Transaction	had	not	been	completed.		
 
Selected	Financial	Information	

	
The	 following	 selected	 financial	 data	 is	 derived	 from	 the	 audited	 annual	 financial	 statements	 and	
unaudited	condensed	interim	financial	statements	of	the	Corporation	prepared	within	acceptable	limits	
of	materiality	and	is	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	
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Selected	Annual	Information	

	

	 As	at	

June	30,	2017	

As	at	

June	30,	2016	

As	at	

June	30,	2015	

Revenue	 $			-	 $			-	 $			-	
Net	loss	 $57,901	 $121,458	 $			-	
Net	loss	per	share	(basic	and	diluted)	 ($0.01)	 ($0.32)	 $			-	
Total	assets	 $370,821	 $425,785	 $			1	
Total	non-current	liabilities	 $			-	 $			-		 $			-	
	
For	the	three	and	six	month	periods	ending	December	31,	2017	and	2016,	the	Corporation	reported	no	
discontinued	operations	and	did	not	declare	any	cash	dividends.			
	
Summary	of	Quarterly	Results	

	

	 December	

31,	2017	

September	

30,	2017	

Revenue	 $			-	 $			-	
Net	loss	 42,308	 $61,059	
Net	loss	per	share	(basic	and	diluted)	 ($0.01)	 ($0.01)	
Total	assets	 $637,636	 $367,839	
Total	non-current	liabilities	 $			-	 $			-		
	

	

	 June	30,	

2017	

March	31,		

2017	

December	

31,	2016	

September	

30,	2016	

Revenue	 $			-	 $			-	 $			-	 $			-	
Net	loss	 $19,151	 $13,250	 $16,817	 $8,683	
Net	loss	per	share	(basic	and	diluted)	 ($0.00)	 ($0.00)	 ($0.00)	 ($0.00)	
Total	assets	 $370,821	 $393,529	 $401,245	 $420,034	
Total	non-current	liabilities	 $			-	 $			-	 $			-	 $			-		
	
Results	of	Operations	and	Additional	Disclosure	for	Venture	Corporations	without	Significant	Revenue	

	

The	 Corporation	 does	 not	 have	 any	 operations	 and	 will	 not	 conduct	 any	 business	 other	 than	 the	
identification	and	evaluation	of	business	and	assets	for	potential	acquisition.	
	
As	at	December	31,	2017,	the	Corporation	had	no	assets	other	than	cash	in	the	amount	of	$627,636	and	
prepaid	 expense	 of	 $10,000.	 	 As	 at	 December	 31,	 2017,	 the	 Corporation	 had	 operating	 liabilities	
including	 accounts	 payable	 and	 accruals	 of	 $4,040.	 	 In	 addition,	 the	 Corporation	 received	 share	
subscription	deposits	of	$375,000.	
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The	 Corporation’s	 direct	 expenditures	 include	 preparation	 of	 annual	 financial	 statements	 and	
management	 discussion	 and	 analysis,	 preparation	 of	 interim	 financial	 statements	 and	 management	
discussion	 and	 analysis	 and	 costs	 to	 maintain	 a	 public	 company.	 	 Public	 company	 costs	 include	
professional	 fees	 for	 audit	 and	 legal,	 transfer	 agent	 fees,	 Exchange	 listing	 and	 filing	 fees,	 costs	 of	
preparing,	 printing	 and	 filing	 continuous	 disclosure	 documents	 and	 material	 for	 the	 Corporation’s	
Annual	General	Meeting.		
	
Due	to	the	signing	of	the	Definitive	Agreement	 in	Principle	with	Wonderfilm,	the	Corporation	incurred	
additional	 professional	 fee	 expenses	 for	 legal	 costs,	 broker	 agent	 fees,	 TSXV	 Qualifying	 Transaction	
review	fees	and	consulting	on	business	plan	development.		
	
Liquidity	and	Capital	Resources	

	
As	at	December	31,	2017,	the	Corporation	had	working	capital	of	$258,596,	which	included	$637,636	in	
cash	 and	 prepiad	 expense	 and	 $375,000	 in	 share	 subscription	 deposit	 liability.	Management	 believes	
that	the	funds	available	are	sufficient	for	the	Corporation	to	meet	its	ongoing	obligations.			
	
The	Corporation	has	not	pledged	any	of	its	assets	as	security	for	loans,	and	is	not	otherwise	subject	to	
any	debt	covenants.			
	
Until	 such	 time	as	 the	Corporation	 identifies	a	business	enterprise	 for	 the	Qualifying	Transaction,	 it	 is	
contemplated	 that	 the	 working	 capital	 requirements	 of	 the	 Corporation	 will	 relate	 generally	 to	 the	
expenses	 of	 maintaining	 the	 listing	 of	 the	 Corporation’s	 common	 shares	 on	 the	 Exchange,	 other	
expenses	associated	with	the	Corporation’s	continuous	disclosure	obligations	under	applicable	securities	
legislation	and	costs	incurred	in	identifying,	evaluating	and	executing	a	potential	Qualifying	Transaction.	
The	only	material	ongoing	contractual	obligations	of	the	Corporation	relates	to	the	payment	of	transfer	
agency	fees	and	legal,	audit	and	accounting	fees.	
	

Off-Balance	Sheet	Arrangements	

	

As	 of	 the	 date	 of	 this	 filing,	 the	 Corporation	 does	 not	 have	 any	 off-balance	 sheet	 arrangements	 that	
have,	or	are	reasonably	likely	to	have,	a	current	or	future	effect	on	the	results	of	operations	or	financial	
condition	of	the	Corporation.	
	
Transactions	with	Related	Parties	

	
The	Corporation	has	not	engaged	in	any	transactions	with	related	parties	other	than	the	allotment	and	
issuance	of	shares	to	its	directors	and	officers,	the	reimbursement	of	expenses	incurred	associated	with	
the	 Corporations	 business	 and	 professional	 fees	 associated	 with	 the	 completion	 of	 a	 Qualifying	
Transaction.	
	
Transactions	with	a	company	related	through	common	founding	shareholders:	
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	 	 Six	months	ended	 Six	months	ended	
	 	 	December	31,	 December	31,		
	 	 2017	 2016	
	
Professional	fee	 $	 4,000	 $	 5,000	
Office	expense	 3,600	 7,200	
	
Financial	Instruments	

	

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	recognized	when	the	Corporation	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	
provisions	 of	 the	 instrument.	 Financial	 assets	 are	 derecognized	when	 the	 rights	 to	 receive	 cash	 flows	
from	the	assets	have	expired	or	have	been	transferred	and	the	Corporation	has	transferred	substantially	
all	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership.	Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	and	the	net	amount	reported	
in	the	balance	sheet	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset.		
	
At	initial	recognition,	the	Corporation	classifies	its	financial	assets	in	the	following	categories	depending	
on	the	purpose	for	which	the	instruments	were	acquired.	
	
Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	
not	quoted	in	an	active	market.	The	Corporation’s	loans	and	receivables	are	comprised	of	cash	and	cash	
equivalents	and	are	included	in	recognized	amounts	and	there	is	an	intention	to	settle	on	a	net	basis,	or	
realize	 the	 asset	 and	 settle	 the	 liability	 simultaneously	 current	 assets	 due	 to	 their	 short-term	nature.	
Loans	 and	 receivables	 are	 initially	 recognized	 at	 the	 amount	 expected	 to	 be	 received	 less,	 when	
material,	 a	 discount	 to	 reduce	 the	 loans	 and	 receivables	 to	 fair	 value.	 Subsequently,	 loans	 and	
receivables	 are	 measured	 at	 amortized	 cost	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 method	 less	 a	 provision	 for	
impairment.		
	
Financial	liabilities	within	the	scope	of	IAS	39	are	classified	as	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	the	
profit	or	loss,	or	other	financial	liabilities,	as	appropriate.		
	
The	Corporation	determines	the	classification	of	its	financial	liabilities	at	initial	recognition.	All	financial	
liabilities	are	recognized	initially	at	fair	value.	The	Corporation’s	other	financial	liabilities	include	accrued	
liabilities.	 Subsequent	 to	 initial	 recognition,	 other	 financial	 liabilities	 are	measured	 at	 amortized	 cost	
using	the	effective	interest	method.	
	
Disclosure	of	Outstanding	Share	Data		

	

The	 Corporation	 is	 authorized	 to	 issue	 an	 unlimited	 number	 of	 common	 shares	 of	 which	 6,669,000	
common	shares	are	 issued	and	outstanding	as	at	 the	date	of	 this	MD&A.	2,000,000	of	 these	common	
shares	are	held	in	escrow	to	be	released	pro	rata	to	the	holders	thereof	as	to	10%	upon	the	issuance	of	
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notice	 of	 final	 acceptance	 of	 a	Qualifying	 Transaction	 by	 the	 Exchange,	with	 the	 balance	 in	 six	 equal	
tranches	of	15%	every	six	months	thereafter	over	a	period	of	36	months.	

As	at	December	31,	2017	and	the	date	of	this	MD&A,	the	following	is	a	description	of	the	outstanding	
equity	securities	and	convertible	securities	previously	issued	by	the	Corporation:	
	
	 Authorized	 Outstanding	at	

December	31,	

2017	

Outstanding	at	

	the	Date	of	this	

MD&A	

Voting	 or	 equity	 securities	 issued	 and	
outstanding	

Unlimited	
Common	Shares	

6,669,000	
Common	Shares	

6,669,000	
Common	Shares	

Securities	 convertible	 or	 exercisable	 into	
voting	or	equity	securities	–	stock	options	

Stock	Options	to	
acquire	up	to	10%	
of	outstanding	
Common	Shares	

666,900	Incentive	
Stock	Options	

666,900	Incentive	
Stock	Options	

	 Authorized	 Outstanding	at	

December	31,	

2017	

Outstanding	at	

	the	Date	of	this	

MD&A	

Securities	 convertible	 or	 exercisable	 into	
voting	or	equity	securities	–	agent’s	options	

350,175	 350,175	Agent’s	
Options	

350,175	Agent’s	
Options	

	

Management	of	Capital	

	

The	Corporation's	capital	currently	consists	of	common	shares.	 Its	principal	source	of	cash	 is	 from	the	
issuance	 of	 common	 shares.	 The	 Corporation's	 capital	 management	 objectives	 are	 to	 safeguard	 its	
ability	to	continue	as	a	going-concern	and	to	have	sufficient	capital	to	be	able	to	identify,	evaluate	and	
then	acquire	an	interest	in	a	business	or	assets.	The	Corporation	does	not	have	any	externally	imposed	
capital	 requirements	 to	which	 it	 is	 subject.	The	Corporation	manages	 the	capital	 structure	and	makes	
adjustments	to	it	in	light	of	changes	in	economic	conditions	and	the	risk	characteristics	of	the	underlying	
assets.	To	maintain	or	adjust	the	capital	structure,	the	Corporation	may	attempt	to	issue	new	shares.	
	

Accounting	for	Stock	Options	and	Agent's	Options		

	
The	Corporation	has	adopted	an	incentive	stock	option	plan	(the	"Plan"),	whereby	it	may	grant	options	
to	directors,	officers,	employees,	and	consultants	of	the	Corporation.	The	maximum	number	of	shares	
that	may	be	reserved	for	issuance	under	the	Plan	is	limited	to	10%	of	the	issued	common	shares	of	the	
Corporation	 at	 any	 time	 with	 no	 one	 individual	 being	 granted	 more	 than	 5%	 of	 the	 issued	 and	
outstanding	common	shares.	The	exercise	price	of	options	granted	under	the	Plan	shall	not	be	less	than	
the	price	of	the	Corporation's	common	shares	on	the	day	proceeding	the	day	the	options	are	granted,	
less	any	discounted	price	permitted	by	the	Exchange.		
	
Upon	closing	of	the	offering,	on	May	31,	2016,	the	Corporation	granted	an	aggregate	of	666,900	options	
to	 purchase	 common	 shares	 to	 the	 Directors	 and	 Officers	 of	 the	 Corporation,	 these	 options	 are	
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exercisable	 at	 a	 price	 of	 $0.10	 per	 common	 share	 for	 a	 period	 of	 five	 years	 from	 the	 date	 of	 the	
completion	of	the	Offering.	
	
In	 addition	 to	 the	 incentive	 stock	 options,	 the	 Corporation	 granted	 to	 the	 Agent	 350,175	 non-
transferable	options	to	purchase	common	shares	equal	to	7.5%	of	the	shares	issued	in	connection	with	
the	Offering.	 	 These	options	are	exercisable	at	 a	price	of	$0.10	per	 common	 share	 for	 a	period	of	24	
months	from	the	date	of	the	completion	of	the	Offering.	
	
Risks	and	Uncertainties	

	
The	 Corporation	 has	 a	 limited	 history	 of	 existence.	 There	 can	 be	 no	 assurance	 that	 a	 Qualifying	
Transaction	 will	 be	 completed.	 Equity	 or	 debt	 financing	 may	 be	 required	 to	 complete	 a	 Qualifying	
Transaction.	There	can	be	no	assurance	that	the	Corporation	will	be	able	to	obtain	adequate	financing	
to	continue.	The	securities	of	the	Corporation	should	be	considered	a	highly	speculative	investment.	The	
following	risk	factors	should	be	given	special	consideration	when	evaluating	an	investment	in	any	of	the	
Corporation's	securities:		
	

(a) until	 completion	of	a	Qualifying	Transaction,	 the	Corporation	 is	not	permitted	 to	carry	on	any	
business	other	than	the	identification	and	evaluation	of	potential	Qualifying	Transactions;		

(b) the	Corporation	has	had	no	business	activity	and	has	not	acquired	any	material	assets	since	its	
incorporation	other	than	cash;	

(c) the	Corporation	does	not	have	a	history	of	earnings,	nor	has	it	paid	any	dividends	and	will	not	
generate	 earnings	 or	 pay	 dividends	 until	 at	 least	 after	 the	 completion	 of	 the	 Qualifying	
Transaction;		

(d) the	Corporation	has	only	limited	funds	with	which	to	identify	and	evaluate	potential	Qualifying	
Transactions	 and	 there	 can	 be	 no	 assurance	 that	 the	 Corporation	 will	 be	 able	 to	 identify	 a	
suitable	Qualifying	Transaction;		

(e) even	 if	 a	 proposed	 Qualifying	 Transaction	 is	 identified,	 there	 can	 be	 no	 assurance	 that	 the	
Corporation	will	be	able	to	successfully	complete	the	transaction;		

(f) the	Qualifying	Transaction	may	be	financed	in	all	or	part	by	the	issuance	of	additional	securities	
by	the	Corporation	and	this	may	result	in	further	dilution	to	the	investor,	which	dilution	may	be	
significant	and	which	may	also	result	in	a	change	of	control	of	the	Corporation;		

(g) there	can	be	no	assurance	that	an	active	and	liquid	market	for	the	common	shares	will	develop	
and	an	investor	may	find	it	difficult	to	resell	its	common	shares;		

(h) if	the	Corporation	fails	to	complete	a	Qualifying	Transaction	within	24	months	of	listing,	the	TSX	
Venture	Exchange	could	suspend	or	delist	the	common	shares	of	the	Corporation	and	an	interim	
cease	trade	order	may	be	issued	against	the	Corporation's	securities	by	an	applicable	securities	
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commission	 if	 its	 common	 shares	 are	 suspended	 from	 trading	 on	 or	 delisted	 from	 the	 TSX	
Venture	Exchange	or	otherwise;	and		

(i) the	 Corporation	 competes	 with	 many	 Capital	 Pool	 Companies	 that	 are	 seeking	 suitable	
Qualifying	 Transactions.	 In	 addition,	 other	 Capital	 Pool	 Companies	 may	 have	 substantially	
greater	financial	and	technical	resources	than	the	Corporation.	

	 	
Although	management	 of	 the	 Corporation	 is	working	 diligently	 to	 identify	 and	 complete	 a	 Qualifying	
Transaction,	 there	 is	 no	 assurance	 that	 a	 Qualifying	 Transaction	 will	 be	 completed.	 The	 continued	
operation	 of	 the	 Corporation	 is	 dependent	 on	 its	 ability	 to	 complete	 a	 Qualifying	 Transaction	 and	
generate	profitable	operations	in	the	future.	
	
In	 addition,	 if	 the	 Corporation	 fails	 to	 complete	 a	 Qualifying	 Transaction	 within	 the	 time	 limitations	
permissible,	the	Exchange	could	suspend	or	delist	the	Corporation’s	common	shares,	in	which	event	the	
applicable	 securities	 regulatory	 authorities	 may	 issue	 a	 cease	 trade	 order	 against	 the	 Corporation’s	
securities.	 In	 addition,	 delisting	 by	 the	 Exchange	 will	 result	 in	 the	 cancellation	 of	 the	 issued	 and	
outstanding	common	shares	of	the	Corporation	held	by	related	parties.	
	
Other	MD&A	Requirements	

The	Corporation	 has	 evaluated	 its	 internal	 controls	 and	 financial	 reporting	 procedures	 and	has	 found	
them	 to	 be	 effective	 with	 the	 objective	 of	 reporting	 the	 Corporation's	 financial	 transactions.	 The	
Corporation	 is	 not	 required	 to	 file	 an	Annual	 Information	 Form	under	 current	 security	 legislation	 and	
thus	has	not	filed	one,	however,	a	prospectus	dated	May	11,	2016	has	been	filed	on	the	regulator’s	web	
at	site	www.sedar.com.	
	

Approval	

	
The	board	of	directors	of	the	Corporation	has	approved	the	disclosure	contained	in	this	MD&A.	
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Financial Statements  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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8988 FRASERTON COURT                                        
BURNABY, BC V5J 5H8         
 
T: 604.239.0868                                                   
F: 604.239.0866    
  

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
To: the Shareholders of 
 The Wonderfilm Media Corporation           
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Wonderfilm Media Corporation (the “Company”), which 
comprise the statements of financial position as at June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, and the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, statements of cash flows and statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation  of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at June 
30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flow for the years then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.  
  
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company has 
incurred losses to date.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicates the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
  
                                                                                                            

                                                                                                                                            
				“A Chan & Company LLP”		                                                                                                                              
Chartered Professional Accountants  

Burnaby, British Columbia 
January 30, 2018       

                                                                      

                 
                                                                           

       A CHAN AND COMPANY LLP 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
As at June 30, 2017 and 2016 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Assets 
 
Cash  $ (24) $ 511 
Accounts receivable (note 7) 819,000 - 
  818,976 511 
 
Movie production royalty asset (note 9 & note 4) 3,795,300 - 
  $ 4,614,276 $ 511  
 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities (note 7) $ 854,975 $ 471 
  854,975 471 
 
Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital (note 6) 3,788,278 511 
Accumulated deficit (28,977) (471) 

 3,759,301 40 
Corporate information and going concern (note 1) 
Subsequent event (note 11) 
 
  $ 4,614,276 $ 511  
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
 “Kirk Shaw”  Director   
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Income: 

Production consulting (note 7) $ 300,000 $ - 
Distribution services (note 7) 480,000 - 

  780,000 - 
 
Expenses: 

General and administration $ 10,994 $ - 
Management fees (note 7) 780,000 - 
Professional fees 15,045 44 

  806,039 44 
 
Net loss, which is total comprehensive loss for the year $ (26,039) $ (44) 
 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (note 6(c)) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 
 
  Number of Share Contributed Accumulated 
  shares capital surplus deficit Total 
 
Balance June 30, 2015 3,013,500 $ 511 $ - $ (427) $ 84 
 
Loss for the year - - - (44) (44) 
 
 
Balance June 30, 2016 3,013,500  511  -  (471)  40 
 
Amalgamation of share capital & deficit - 2,467 - (2,467) - 
 (Note 6(b)) 
 
Acquisition of movie royalty asset 2,769,000  3,322,800 - - 3,322,800 
 (Note 6(b)) 
 
Acquisition of Wonderfilm Media Acquiree 925,000 462,500 - - 462,500 
 (Note 4 and 6(b)) 
 
Loss for the year - - - (26,039) (26,039) 
  
Balance June 30, 2017 6,707,500 $ 3,788,278 $ - $ (28,977) $ 3,759,301 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Cash (used in) provided by:  
 
Operations: 

Loss for the year $ (26,039) $ (44) 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 

Accounts receivable  (819,000) - 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities 854,504 44 

Cash provided in operating activities 9,465 - 
 
Financing: 

Issuance of common shares - - 
Cash provided by financing activities - - 

 
Investing: 

Assumption of trade payables and accrued liabilities  
 on acquisition of Wonderfilm Media (10,000) - 
Cash used by investing activities (10,000) - 

 
Decrease in cash (535) - 
 
Cash, beginning of year 511  511 
 
Cash, end of year $ (24) $ 511 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
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Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 
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1. Corporate information and going concern: 

The Wonderfilm Media Corporation, (“Wonderfilm” or “the Company”) was incorporated on 
January 10, 2014 under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and was formerly 
named Nine Tailed Films Inc. (See Note 4).  

Wonderfilm is a worldwide film and television media production company with a core business of 
producing independent films and made-for-television movies for global business to business 
distribution.   

As at June 30, 2017, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $28,977. During the year ended 
June 30, 2017, the Company had a net loss of $26,039, and negative cash flow from operations 
of $535.  

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to raise adequate 
financing and to develop profitable operations in the future. The Company has generated 
operating losses since inception. The application of the going concern concept is dependent on 
the Company’s ability to become operationally viable and receive continued financial support from 
its shareholders and from external financing. These conditions raise significant doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management is of the opinion that sufficient 
working capital will be obtained from future profitable operations or external financing to meet the 
Company’s liabilities and commitments. 

There can be no assurances that the Company will be successful in developing profitable 
operations or raising additional cash to finance operations or that the continued support of 
shareholders will be available. These financial statements have been prepared using the going 
concern assumption, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 
recoverability of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  These financial statements were 
approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on January 30, 2018. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments, which are recorded at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these 
estimates.  

Significant judgments made by management in the process of applying accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements include the application of the going concern assumption, revenue recognition of 
production and distribution services, the determination of whether an acquisition is a business 
subject to business combination accounting, the allocation of purchase consideration to 
acquired assets and assumed liabilities, and the determination of related parties. 

 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Revenue: 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales 
taxes or duty.  

 (b) Foreign currency transactions: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Canadian dollar functional currency of 
the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Canadian 
dollars at the exchange rate at that date.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Foreign currency transactions (continued): 

Foreign currency differences arising from settlement of foreign currency translation are 
recognized in profit and loss.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. 

(c) Financial instruments: 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets: 

The Company initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are 
originated. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 
on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or 
liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  

The Company has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables. 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and 
receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Cash and accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables. 

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for 
trading or if the Company manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 
decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Company’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in net loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Financial instruments (continued): 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued): 

Any short-term investments, consisting of highly liquid interest bearing securities with 
maturities at the date of purchase between three months and one year, are classified as 
held for trading. 

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities on the trade date at which the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire.  

Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. Such financial 
liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

(iii) Share capital: 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from 
equity, net of any tax effects.  

(d) Movie production royalty asset: 

Movie assets: 

Movie royalty assets that are acquired by the Company in an acquisition that have a finite 
useful life are measured at acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life of the royalty asset from the date that it is available for sale, since this most closely 
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset. The Company continually evaluates the remaining useful life of its royalty asset being 
amortized to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the 
remaining period of amortization.  

 (e) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A 
financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(e) Impairment (continued): 

(i) Financial assets (continued): 
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.  

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency 
by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company 
would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, or 
the disappearance of an active market for a security.  In addition, for an investment in an 
equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is 
objective evidence of impairment.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at an amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  
Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 
receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the 
unwinding of the discount.  When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

(ii) Non-financial assets: 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than tax credits 
receivable, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups 
of assets (the cash-generating unit, or “CGU”).  

If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding 
of the discount is recognized as finance costs. 

There are no provisions recorded for the Company.   

 (g) Lease payments: 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part 
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance 
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to 
each year during the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for in the year in which they are incurred. 

The company did not have any lease arrangements at June 30, 2017. 

(h) Loss per share: 

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year.  The Company uses the treasury stock method to compute the dilutive effect 
of options, warrants and similar instruments.  Under this method the dilutive effect on loss per 
share is recognized based on the use of proceeds that could be obtained upon exercise of 
such options, warrants and similar instruments.  It assumes that the proceeds would be used 
to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period.  This calculation 
generally produces an anti-dilutive effect for loss years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Income taxes: 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized in earnings except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or to 
items recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.   

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 

(j) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

(i) IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers: 

On May 28, 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  
The new standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and 
two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model 
features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how 
much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have 
been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.  The 
new standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2018 and is 
available for early adoption. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued): 

(i) IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers: 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 15 on its financial statements 
and expects to apply the standard for the annual period beginning on July 1, 2018. 

(ii) IFRS 16 - Leases: 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, the much-anticipated standard on lease 
accounting. IFRS 16 eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which 
distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating 
leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to 
current finance lease accounting. 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 16, Leases, which is the IASB’s 
replacement of IAS 17, Leases. IFRS 16 will require lessees to recognize a lease liability 
that reflected future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use-asset’ for most lease contracts. 
IFRS 16 is required to be applied for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with 
early adoption permitted, but only in conjunction with the adoption of IFRS 15. The 
Company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard.  

4. Acquisition: 

On June 29, 2017, the Company amalgamated with The Wonderfilm Media Corporation 
(“Wonderfilm Acquiree”), a private company incorporated in the Province of British Columbia 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of an acquisition agreement and continued operations under 
the name of the newly acquired company, The Wonderfilm Media Corporation. 

Management has determined that this transaction does not qualify as a business combination in 
accordance with IFRS 3. Accordingly, it was accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The fair 
value of the purchased assets was measured using the negotiated value of the issued common 
shares on the transaction date as negotiated between unrelated third parties.  

The following table summarizes the fair value of Wonderfilm Acquiree identifiable assets acquired 
at the date of acquisition: 
 
 
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 

Movie production royalty asset   $ 472,500 
Accrued liabilities   (10,000) 

 
Total   $ 462,500 
 
Consideration paid: 

Share capital   $ 462,500 
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5. Financial instruments: 

(a) Fair values: 

The Company categorizes its fair value estimates using a fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used to measure fair value.  The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the 
reliability of the inputs used to determine fair value as follows: 

Level 1:  observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; 

Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either 
directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3:  unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the 
reporting entity to develop its own assumptions. 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, which are measured at Level 1, and 
trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of the 
instruments. The carrying value of short-term investments equals their value as they are 
classified as held for trading. The Company categorized the fair value measurement of its 
short-term investments in Level 1. 

(b) Financial risk management: 

The following provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the Company’s 
exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk, and how the Company manages those risks. 

(i) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

The Company’s credit risk is attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company 
manages such risk by holding cash and cash equivalents as operating bank accounts 
and guaranteed investment certificates (“GICs”) with Canadian chartered banks with 
minimum DBRS ratings of AA (S&P AA-). 

(ii) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another 
financial asset.  The Company’s primary source of liquidity is its cash reserves.  The 
Company believes it will be able to develop profitable operations or raise sufficient funds 
to meet current and foreseeable financial requirements. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued): 

(b) Financial risk management (continued): 

(iii) Currency risk: 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Company is generally not subject to currency risk.  There were no foreign currency 
forward contracts outstanding at June 30, 2017 and 2016. 

 (iv) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as at June 30, 2017.  
 

6. Share capital: 

(a) Authorized share capital: 

Unlimited voting, participating common shares, with no par value 

(b) Issued share capital: 

On August 1, 2016, the Company issued of a total of 2,769,000 common shares at value of 
$1.20 per share, to a related party for the assignment of 40 production movies from 2013 to 
2016.  

On June 29, 2017, the Company completed a share exchange transaction with third party 
Wonderfilm Acquiree, which consisted of the issuance of a total of 925,000 common shares 
at a negotiated price of $0.50 per share. The share capital and deficit of the Wonderfilm 
Acquiree has been combined with the Company’s share capital and deficit in accordance with 
the amalgamation. 

 (c) Earnings per share computation: 

The following table sets forth the computation of loss per common share:  
 
  2017 2016 
 
Loss for the year $ (26,039) $ (44) 
 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 5,542,273 2,046,925 
 
Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.00)  (0.00) 
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7. Related party transactions: 

Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Company and the 
Company’s key management personnel.  The transactions are in the normal course of operations 
and have been valued in these financial statements at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.   

(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Accounts receivable $ 819,000 $ - 
Trade and other payables 819,000 
 

(b) Transactions during the year with Raintower Films and Raintower Releasing, companies 
related through a common significant shareholder: 

 
  2017 2016 
Production consulting income 300,000 - 
Distribution services income 480,000 - 
Management fees 780,000 - 
 

8. Income taxes: 

Income taxes attributable to the loss for the year in these financial statements differ from amounts 
computed by applying the Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26% (2016 - 26%) as 
follows: 
 
  2017 2016 
 
Loss before income taxes $ (26,039) $ (44) 
 
Expected tax recovery $ (6,770) $ (11) 
Tax effect of: 

Tax losses not recognized and other 6,770 11 
 

Income tax recovery $ - $ - 
 
At June 30, 2017, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for tax purposes, which 
are available to reduce taxable income in future years in Canada of $26,511. 

The losses in Canada expire as follows: 
 
 
2034  382 
2035  45 
2036   45 
2037   26,039 
   $ 26,511 
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9. Movie production royalty asset 

 In August 2016, the Company acquired the royalty rights to distribute 40 movies titles originally 
produced from 2013 to 2016 by issuing 2,769,000 common shares at value of $1.20 per share for 
total of $3,322,800. According to the royalty rights assignment agreement, the Company owns 
the right to start re-distribution of these movies titles again commencing 2018 and thus no 
amortization has been charged to the operations during the year. 

 In June 2017, the Wonderfilm Acquiree acquired certain royalty rights to distribute 7 movies titles 
originally produced in 2017. As a result of acquiring the Wonderfilm Acquiree by issuing 925,000 
common shares of the Company at value of $0.50 per share, the Company has assigned these 
royalty rights a fair value of $472,500 (See Note 4). Again, according to the royalty rights 
assignment agreement, the Company owns the right to start re-distribution of these movies titles 
commencing 2018 and thus no amortization has been charged to the operations during the year. 

 
10.  Capital management 
 

The Company considers its capital to be comprised of shareholders’ deficiency, loans and 
licensing fees. 
 
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding 
support for the development and marketing of the Company’s movie project while maintaining the 
necessary corporate and administrative functions to facilitate these activities. This is done 
primarily through equity financing and non-refundable licensing fees received. Future financings 
are dependent on market conditions and there can be no assurance the Company will be able to 
raise funds on acceptable terms in the future. There were no changes to the Company’s 
approach to capital management during the year ended June 30, 2017. The Company is not 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

11. Subsequent Event: 

On November 17, 2017, the Company entered into a letter of agreement with Westshire Capital II 
Corp. (Westshire II) to amalgamate.  The proposed transaction is intended to constitute 
Westshire II’s “Qualifying Transaction” as defined in Policy 2.4 of the Corporate Finance Manual 
of the TSX Venture Exchange.   



APPENDIX F 
 

Annual MD&A of Wonderfilm for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION. 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016  

 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) presents an analysis of the financial position of The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation (the “Company” or “Wonderfilm”) for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.  The 
following information should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2017, including the notes contained therein.  These financial statements are presented in Canadian 
currency and were prepared in accordance with accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting 
Standards appropriate in the circumstances.  
 
Date of Report 
 
This MD&A is dated January 30, 2018. 
 
Explanatory Note 
 
This MD&A for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, has been prepared to assist readers in understanding the 
financial performance of the Company.  
 
Forward Looking Statements 
 
The information set forth in this MD&A contains statements concerning future results, future performance, 
intentions, objectives, plans and expectations that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements. These 
statements concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of the Company  are preceded by, followed 
by or include the words ‘believes’, ‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘forecasts’, or similar 
expressions. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. These forward-looking 
statements are based on current expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not 
limited to, those identified in the “Risks Factors” section. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments 
with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business 
decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which underlying the forward-
looking statements are reasonable, any of the assumptions could prove inaccurate. These factors should be 
considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Unless required by 
securities legislation, the Company has no intention and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether written or oral, that may be made by or on the Company’s behalf. 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
Wonderfilm is focused on establishing itself as a reliable supplier of TV content and Indie Films to domestic, 
international and US buyers. Wonderfilm’s content development is geared toward low risk, commercial productions 
that are able to access tax incentives marketable to key content purchasers.  
 
Production consulting income increased by $300,000 from $nil compared to the prior year ended June, 30, 2016.  
The increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current year whereas in the prior year, 
there was no activity.  
 
Distribution service income increased by $480,000 from $nil compared to the prior year ended June, 30, 2016.  The 
increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current year whereas in the prior year, 
there was no activity.    
  
G&A expenses increased by $10,994 from $nil compared to the prior year ended June, 30, 2016.  The increase was 
due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current year whereas in the prior year, there was no 
activity.    
 
Management fee expenses increased by $780,000 from $nil compared to the prior year ended June, 30, 2016.  The 
increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current year whereas in the prior year, 
there was no activity.    



 
Professional fee expenses increased by $15,045 from $44 compared to the prior year ended June, 30, 2016.  The 
increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current year whereas in the prior year, 
there was no activity.    
 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following financial data, which has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 

 Year ended 
June 30, 2017 

(Audited) 

Year ended 
June 30, 2016 

(Audited) 
Total Revenue $780,000 $0 
Expenses:   
     G&A $10,994 $0 
     Management fees $780,000 $0 
     Professional fees $15,045 $44 
Net loss $(26,039) $(44) 
Total liabilities 
Total assets 

$854,975 
$4,614,276 

$471  
$511 

Shareholders’ equity $3,759,301 $40 
Net loss per share  
(basic and diluted) 

$(0.00) $(0.00) 

 
  

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 & 2016 
 
During the year ending June 30, 2017, the Company provided approximately $9,465 in cash from operating 
activities, and consumed approximately $10,000 from investing and financing activities, for net cash outflow of 
$535, leaving a negative balance of $24 at June 30, 2017. 
 
During the year ending June 30, 2016, the Company had limited activity which only consisted of maintenance of the 
Company’s status.   
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Please refer to the Company’s audited annual financial statements for year ended June 30, 2017, for a complete list 
of the Company’s current accounting policies.   

DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2017 the Company accomplished the following: 
 

• Commences operations as a movie production company by organizing resources, skilled individuals and a 
management team;  

• Acquired movie production royalty assets; 
• Initiated a business plan of expansion of a future potential slate of movie production project. 

Wonderfilm is a movie production company specializing in the made of TV and streaming service markets.  
 
Wonderfilm anticipates that any funds raised in the future will be used for movie production financing, sales and 
marketing, and general corporate use.   
 



Market  
 
While Hollywood still produces impressive blockbusters, major funding is more difficult to come by, and the 
industry is simultaneously moving to many different formats as consumers no longer rush to the cinema to see a 
movie. Consumers can now watch films on multiple devices any time they wish to do so and practically anywhere in 
the world.  Consumers want an experience, and they want to take that experience with them to share and discuss on 
social media.  
 
Many of the leading motion picture studios are part of larger media conglomerates that often include television, 
video and streaming services, music services, newspaper, cable, and magazine segments, and many of these 
constitute online content. The industry offers attractive possibilities for foreign investors, both large and small, and 
provides film production and related tax incentives.  
 
Across all creative content sectors, there are opportunities for investment and growth both in (1) partnerships, 
production and tax discounts in many U.S. states and (2) the creation of TV formats and content for streaming. With 
the shift toward digital production and distribution, foreign firms are seeking out U.S. digital and animation 
expertise in all new formats. Drawing on formidable strengths, the U.S. film industry has a proven ability to produce 
blockbuster movies that generate hundreds of millions of dollars, including revenues from distribution across strong 
domestic and international networks. Success in the industry is based on creativity and financing, and the industry is 
largely self-regulated.  
 
Movie-going is extremely popular in emerging markets such as Brazil, China and India, and in the more developed 
markets, there is a leveling off for box office receipts as consumers also opt to view movies on personal devices in 
addition to visiting movie theaters. Depending on the source consulted, all of the seven top markets are amongst the 
top 10 to 20 countries in spending on movies worldwide.  
 
The United States has groomed many a famous Canadian entertainer as their own as far back as silent film star Mary 
Pickford, through the golden years of film and music with Christopher Plummer, Donald Sutherland, Glenn Ford, 
Norma Shearer and Robert Goulet to Alanis Morissette, Anne Murray, Assassin’s Creed, Bryan Adams, Dan 
Aykroyd, Eugene Levy, Howie Mandel, Jason Priestley, Jim Carrey, Justin Bieber, Keanu Reeves, Matthew Perry, 
Michael J. Fox, Nia Vardalos, Ryan Gosling, Ryan Reynolds, Sarah McLachlan, Seth Rogan, Shania Twain, Pamela 
Anderson, Paul Anka, Peter Jennings, William Shatner and many other Canadian M&E exports; Americans also 
enjoy notable acts like Cirque de Soleil, Celine Deon and Michael Buble - just to mention a few. With a large 
economy, highly educated population, and strong high-tech and media sectors, it is no surprise that Canada ranks in 
the top markets.  
 
Canada’s filmed entertainment market will grow at a modest 1.9 percent from 2015 and 2019, from US$3.1 to 
US$3.4 billion, and by 2019, box office revenues will constitute 42 percent of film earnings.(1)  Canada holds co- 
production treaties with over 50 countries and enjoys a robust relationship with the U.S filmed entertainment 
industry; the United States conducts joint projects without such an official agreement, and both tax and filming 
incentives are available.  Over-the-top (OTT) streaming and streaming content will grow at 17.4 percent during this 
period.(1) While physical home video will continue to decline, it will still constitute a US$976 million market in 
2019, TV subscriptions will experience a slow and stagnant growth, staying close to US$7.6 billion from 2015 to 
2019.(1)  
 
Netflix is expanding rapidly and faces competition from Canadian cable company competitors like Shomi and 
CraveTV Video.  Rental kiosk company Digiboo is establishing itself in the Canadian market, signaling growth 
opportunities both for digital content and physical rentals.  Cineplex is operating successfully in the market as well, 
offering digital rentals. Canadians are increasingly choosing TV series over feature films, and movies are more often 
viewed on TV rather than at the theaters.  
 
Consumers are accessing content on-demand across multiple platforms. There is also a disparity between demand 
for French versus English language content, which warrants further exploration and could signal good growth 
opportunities for content creators of English filmed entertainment if they target the right market segment. T he 



Canadian government requires 60 percent of televised content to be Canadian, and Canadian broadcasters have to 
spend 30 percent of their revenues on Canadian programs.  
 
Hollywood represents the iconic filmed entertainment industry, and while the U.S. marketplace remains the most 
valuable for production and consumption from a revenue perspective, film sectors and creative communities are 
thriving around the world.  Both film and television are moving towards new digital models of consumption and 
distribution, and video has become a cheaper alternative to production while streaming services have overtaken 
traditional modes of accessing and viewing movies and TV shows.  Movie theatres have to offer complementary 
services to compete with digital devices, free (including pirated) content and consumer’s desire to access content 
24/7. The golden age of film may have passed, but the saying still holds true: if you can make it in Hollywood you 
can make it anywhere.  Filmed entertainment revenues will grow at a healthy 4.6 percent from 2015 to 2019 to reach 
US$35.3 billion in the United States(1). 
 
(1) Pricewaterhouse Coopers, “Global media and entertainment outlook,” 
http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer  
 
(2) Theatrical Market Statistics 2016, Motion Picture Association of America 
 
SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION 
 
Pursuant to National Instrument 51-102F1 Management’s Discussion & Analysis, a reporting issuer is required to 
summarize the results of operations for each of the eight most recently completed fiscal quarters ending at the end of 
the most recently completed financial period (numbers in CAN $).  Wonderfilm is not and has not been a reporting 
issuer for the last eight fiscal quarters and has therefore not prepared any interim financial information for any of the 
preceding fiscal quarters. 
 
DIVIDENDS  
 
There are no restrictions that could prevent the Company from paying dividends on its common shares.  Wonderfilm 
has not paid any dividends on its common shares as it not contemplated that the Company will pay any dividends in 
the immediate or foreseeable future.  It is the Company’s intention to use all available cash flow to finance further 
production projects.  
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY 
 
At June 30, 2017 Wonderfilm had negative working capital of ($35,999).  Wonderfilm intends to complete the 
business combination and concurrent financing with Westshire Capital II Corp. which, after paying transaction-
related costs, will mainly be used for general corporate purposes. 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Future financings are expected to fund future planned production expenditures required to meet the Company’s 
planned movie production activity.   
 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

Wonderfilm has no existing contractual obligations other than as described in this MD&A. There are no off-balance 
sheet arrangements. 

TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES 

Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Company and the Company’s key 
management personnel.  The transactions are in the normal course of operations and have been valued in these 
financial statements at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 
related parties.   



(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
 2017 2016 
 
Accounts receivable $ 819,000 $ - 
Trade and other payables 819,000 
 
(b) Transactions during the year with Raintower Films and Raintower Releasing, companies related through a 
common significant shareholder: 
 
 2017 2016 
Production consulting income 300,000 - 
Distribution services income 480,000 - 
Management fees 780,000 - 
 
 
 
RISK FACTORS 
 
The following risk factors relate to the business of Wonderfilm. 
   
Wonderfilm Currently Has Limited Financial History and Operating Cash Flow 
 
Since incorporation on January 10, 2014, Wonderfilm has had limited financial activity and negative cash flow.  
There can be no certainty that Wonderfilm will ever achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flow from its 
operating activities. In addition, Wonderfilm’s working capital and funding needs may vary significantly depending 
upon a number of factors including, but not limited to: 
 
• progress of Wonderfilm’s production, financing, and distribution activities; 
• collaborative license agreements with third parties; 
• opportunities to in-license beneficial productions or potential acquisitions; 
• potential milestone or other payments that Wonderfilm may make to licensors or corporate partners;  
• technological and market consumption and distribution models or alternative forms of entertainment 

delivery that affect Wonderfilm’s potential revenue levels or competitive position in the marketplace; 
• the level of sales and gross profit; 
• costs associated with production, labour and services costs, and Wonderfilm’s ability to realize operation 

and production efficiencies; 
• fluctuations in certain working capital items, including library assets, short-term loans, and accounts 

receivable, that may be necessary to support the growth of Wonderfilm’s business; and 
• expenses associated with litigation. 

Early Stage 

Wonderfilm is an early stage company and as such, Wonderfilm is subject to many risks including under-
capitalization, cash shortages, and limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of 
revenue.  There is no assurance that Wonderfilm will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ 
investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. Wonderfilm’s 
prospects must be considered speculative in light of the risks, expenses, and difficulties frequently encountered by 
companies in their early stages of operations, particularly in the highly competitive and rapidly evolving markets in 
which Wonderfilm operates. To attempt to address these risks, Wonderfilm must, among other things, successfully 
implement its business plan, marketing, and commercialization strategies, respond to competitive developments, and 
attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel.  A substantial risk is involved in investing in Wonderfilm because, 
as a smaller commercial enterprise that has fewer resources than an established company, Wonderfilm’s 
management may be more likely to make mistakes, and Wonderfilm may be more vulnerable operationally and 
financially to any mistakes that may be made, as well as to external factors beyond Wonderfilm’s control. 



Wonderfilm May Not be Able to Successfully Execute its Business Plan 
 
The execution of Wonderfilm’s business plan poses many challenges and is based on a number of assumptions. 
Wonderfilm may not be able to successfully execute its business plan. If Wonderfilm experiences significant cost 
overruns, or if its business plan is more costly than it anticipates, certain activities may be delayed or eliminated, 
resulting in changes or delays to its current plans, or Wonderfilm may be compelled to secure additional funding 
(which may or may not be available) to execute its business plan. Wonderfilm cannot predict with certainty its future 
revenues or results from its operations. If the assumptions on which its revenues or expenditures forecasts are based 
change, the benefits of Wonderfilm’s business plan may change as well. In addition, Wonderfilm may consider 
expanding its business beyond what is currently contemplated in its business plan. Depending on the financing 
requirements of a potential business expansion, Wonderfilm may be required to raise additional capital through the 
issuance of equity or debt. If Wonderfilm is unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms, it may be unable 
to pursue a potential business expansion. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Capital Requirements and Financial Risks 
 
The business requires a substantial investment of capital. The production, acquisition, and distribution of motion 
picture and television content requires substantial capital. A significant amount of time may elapse between 
Wonderfilm’s expenditure of funds and the receipt of revenues after release or distribution of such content.  This 
may require a significant portion of funds from equity, credit, and other financing sources to fund the business.  
Although the risks of production exposure are reduced through tax credit programs, government and industry 
programs, other studios and co-financiers and other sources, there can be no assurance that these arrangements will 
continue to be successfully implemented or will not be subject to substantial financial risks relating to the 
production, acquisition, and distribution of future indie film and television content. In addition, if the production 
slate or the production budgets increase through internal growth or acquisition, there may be an increase to overhead 
and/or larger up-front payments for talent acquisition and, consequently, these increases bear greater financial risks. 
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Additional Capital Requirements 

Wonderfilm may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If Wonderfilm raises 
additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, Wonderfilm’s existing 
shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities Wonderfilm issues could have rights, 
preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of Wonderfilm Shares. Any debt financing secured by 
Wonderfilm in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to its capital raising activities and other 
financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for it to obtain additional capital and to pursue 
business opportunities. 

Wonderfilm can provide no assurance that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available on reasonable terms 
or at all to support its business growth and to respond to business challenges and failure to obtain sufficient debt or 
equity financing when required could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows. 

Wonderfilm expects to incur short-term losses and generate negative cash flow until it can produce sufficient 
revenues to cover its costs. Wonderfilm may never become profitable. Even if it does achieve profitability, 
Wonderfilm may be unable to sustain or increase its profitability in the future. For the reasons discussed in more 
detail below, there are substantial uncertainties associated with Wonderfilm achieving and sustaining profitability. 
Wonderfilm expects its cash reserves will be reduced due to future operating losses and working capital 
requirements, and it cannot provide certainty as to how long its cash reserves will last or that it will be able to access 
additional capital if and when necessary. 
 
Wonderfilm May Need to Raise Additional Capital in the Future to Fund its Operations 
 
Wonderfilm may require substantial additional capital resources to further its production-packaging business model.  
Future cash requirements may vary materially from those expected if Wonderfilm elects to produce indie films, 



acquire indie films or experiences operational production delays or unexpected increases in costs related to the 
maintenance, defense, and enforcement of proprietary intellectual properties and tax credit refunds.  
  
Sources of additional funding include collaborations and licensing arrangements, public or private equity, or debt 
financing.  
  
If Wonderfilm’s commercialization activities do not show positive results, or if capital market conditions in general, 
or with respect to entertainment motion picture companies in particular, are unfavorable, Wonderfilm may be unable 
to raise funds when needed or on acceptable terms.  
  
Any Additional Equity Financings May Be Dilutive to Wonderfilm’s Existing Stockholders 
 
If sufficient capital is not available, Wonderfilm may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, eliminate or divest 
one or more of its library assets or productions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s 
business, financial condition, prospects, or results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Broad Discretion Over the Use of Net Proceeds 
  
Wonderfilm will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from any future capital raises. Because of 
the number and variability of factors that will determine Wonderfilm’s use of such proceeds, the ultimate use might 
vary substantially from the planned use. Investors may not agree with how Wonderfilm allocates or spends the 
proceeds from future capital raises. Wonderfilm may pursue collaborations that ultimately do not result in an 
increase in the market value of the common shares and that instead increase Wonderfilm’s losses. 
 
Budget Overruns May Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business 
 
While Wonderfilm’s business model requires efficiency in the production of indie films and television content, 
actual production costs may exceed their budgets. The production, completion, and distribution of such content can 
be subject to a number of uncertainties, including delays and increased expenditures due to disruptions or events 
beyond Wonderfilm’s control.  As a result, if each production incurs substantial budget overruns, additional 
financing may need to be sourced. There are no assurances regarding the availability of such additional financing or 
on mutually acceptable terms, or that such costs will be recouped. Budget overruns could also prevent a picture from 
being completed or released, thereby having a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Results of Operations are Difficult to Predict and Depend on a Variety of Factors  
 
Results may fluctuate due to the timing, mix, number, and availability of indie films produced or acquired and home 
entertainment releases, as well as license periods for content. The operating results may increase or decrease during 
a particular period or fiscal year due to differences in the number and/or mix of films released compared to the 
corresponding period in the prior fiscal year.  Moreover, the results of operations may be impacted by the 
commercial success of all of Wonderfilm’s indie films and televisions productions. There is no assurance that the 
production, acquisition, and distribution of all current and future motion pictures will be managed successfully to 
receive critical acclaim or perform well commercially. Any inability to achieve such commercial success could have 
a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
Operating results also fluctuate due to accounting practices which may recognize the acquisition and sale of indie 
films in different periods than the recognition of related revenues, which may occur in later periods. In addition, the 
comparability of results may be affected by changes in accounting guidance or changes in Wonderfilm’s ownership 
of certain assets. Accordingly, the results of operations from year to year may not be directly comparable to prior 
reporting periods.  As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the results of operations may fluctuate significantly 
from period to period, and the results of any one period may not be indicative of the results for any future period. 
 
Many Production or Co-Financing Partners Do Not Have Long-Term Arrangements 
 
Wonderfilm typically does not enter into long-term production contracts with the creative producers of motion 
picture and television content that it produces, acquires or distributes. Moreover, Wonderfilm generally has certain 



derivative rights that provide for distribution rights to, for example, prequels, sequels, and remakes of certain 
content that Wonderfilm may produce, acquire or distribute.  However, there is no guarantee that Wonderfilm will 
produce, acquire or distribute future content by any creative producer or co-financing partner, and a failure to do so 
could adversely affect the business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm.   
 
There are No Long-Term Agreements with Retailers   
 
There is no assurance that favourable relationships with retailers and distributors will develop or, if developed, will 
be maintained or that they will not be adversely affected by economic conditions.  If any retailer or distributor 
reduces or cancels a significant order or becomes bankrupt, it could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
financial condition, operating results, liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on the Commercial Success of Motion Pictures and Television Programming, which 
is Unpredictable 
 
Generally, the popularity of Wonderfilm’s programs depends on many factors, including the critical acclaim they 
receive, the format of their initial release, their talent, their genre and their specific subject matter, audience reaction, 
the quality and acceptance of motion pictures or television content that Wonderfilm’s competitors release into the 
marketplace at or near the same time, critical reviews, the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and 
leisure activities, general economic conditions, and other tangible and intangible factors, many of which Wonderfilm 
does not control and all of which may change. Wonderfilm cannot predict the future effects of these factors with 
certainty. In addition, because a performance in ancillary markets, such as home video and pay and free television, is 
often directly related to its box office performance or television ratings, poor box office results or poor television 
ratings may negatively affect future revenue streams. Wonderfilm’s success will depend on the experience and 
judgment of its management to select and develop new investment and production opportunities. Wonderfilm cannot 
assure that its motion pictures and television programming will obtain favourable reviews or ratings, that its motion 
pictures will perform well at the box office or in ancillary markets, or that broadcasters will license the rights to 
broadcast any of its television programs in the development or renewal of licenses to broadcast programs in its 
library. Additionally, Wonderfilm cannot assure that any original programming content will appeal to its distributors 
and subscribers. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Business Involves Risks of Liability Claims for Content of Material, Which Could Adversely Affect its 
Business, Results of Operations, and Financial Condition 
 
As a distributor of media content, Wonderfilm may face potential liability for defamation, invasion of privacy, 
negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, and other claims based on the nature and content of the materials 
distributed. These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against producers and distributors of 
media content. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage 
could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and 
prospects. 
 
Piracy of Films and Television Programs Could Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business Over Time 
 
Piracy is extensive in many parts of the world and is made easier by the availability of digital copies of content and 
technological advances allowing conversion of films and television content into digital formats. This trend facilitates 
the creation, transmission, and sharing of high quality unauthorized copies of motion pictures and television content. 
The proliferation of unauthorized copies of these products has had and will likely continue to have an adverse effect 
on Wonderfilm’s business, because these products reduce the revenue it receives from its products. In order to 
contain this problem, Wonderfilm may have to implement elaborate and costly security and anti-piracy measures, 
which could result in significant expenses and losses of revenue. 
 
There is No Assurance that Even the Highest Levels of Security and Anti-Piracy Measures Will Prevent Piracy 
 
In particular, unauthorized copying and piracy are prevalent in countries outside of the United States, Canada, and 
Western Europe, whose legal systems may make it difficult for Wonderfilm to enforce its intellectual property 
rights. While the United States government has publicly considered implementing trade sanctions against specific 



countries that, in its opinion, do not make appropriate efforts to prevent copyright infringements of United States-
produced motion pictures and television content, there can be no assurance that any such sanctions will be enacted 
or, if enacted, will be effective. In addition, if enacted, such sanctions could impact the amount of revenue that 
Wonderfilm realizes from the international exploitation of its content. 
 
Protecting and Defending Against Intellectual Property Claims May Have a Material Adverse Effect on 
Wonderfilm’s Business 
 
Wonderfilm’s ability to compete depends, in part, upon successful protection of its intellectual property. 
Wonderfilm attempt to protect proprietary and intellectual property rights to its productions through available 
copyright and trademark laws and licensing and distribution arrangements with reputable international companies in 
specific territories and media for limited durations. Despite these precautions, existing copyright and trademark laws 
afford only limited practical protection in certain countries where Wonderfilm distributes its products. As a result, it 
may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy and distribute Wonderfilm’s productions or certain portions 
or applications of its intended productions, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Litigation may also be necessary to enforce Wonderfilm’s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, or 
to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement or 
invalidity. Any such litigation, infringement or invalidity claims could result in substantial costs and the diversion of 
resources and could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, 
liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm’s more successful and popular film or television products or franchises may experience higher levels of 
infringing activity, particularly around key release dates. Alleged infringers have claimed and may claim that their 
products are permitted under fair use or similar doctrines, that they are entitled to compensatory or punitive damages 
because Wonderfilm’s efforts to protect its intellectual property rights are illegal or improper, and that its key 
trademarks or other significant intellectual property are invalid. Such claims, even if meritless, may result in adverse 
publicity or costly litigation. Wonderfilm will vigorously defend its copyrights and trademarks from infringing 
products and activity, which can result in litigation. Wonderfilm may receive unfavorable preliminary or interim 
rulings in the course of litigation, and there can be no assurance that a favorable final outcome will be obtained in all 
cases. Additionally, one of the risks of the film and television production business is the possibility that others may 
claim that Wonderfilm’s productions and production techniques misappropriate or infringe the intellectual property 
rights of third parties with respect to their previously developed films and televisions series, stories, characters, other 
entertainment or intellectual property. Regardless of the validity or the success of the assertion of any such claims, 
Wonderfilm could incur significant costs and diversion of resources in enforcing its intellectual property rights or in 
defending against such claims, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Risks From Doing Business Internationally 
 
Wonderfilm distributes content outside the United States and derive revenues from international sources. 
 
 As a result, Wonderfilm’s business is subject to certain risks inherent in international business, many of which are 
beyond its control.  
 
These risks may include: 
• laws and policies affecting trade, investment and taxes, including laws and policies relating to the repatriation of 
funds and withholding taxes, and changes in these laws; 
• anti-corruption laws and regulations such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act that 
impose strict requirements on how Wonderfilm conducts its foreign operations and changes in these laws and 
regulations; 
• changes in local regulatory requirements, including restrictions on content and differing cultural tastes and 
attitudes; 
• international jurisdictions where laws are less protective of intellectual property and varying attitudes towards the 
piracy of intellectual property; 



• financial instability and increased market concentration of buyers in foreign television markets, including in 
European pay television markets; 
• the instability of foreign economies and governments; 
• fluctuating foreign exchange rates; 
• the spread of communicable diseases in such jurisdictions, which may impact business in such jurisdictions; and 
• war and acts of terrorism. 
 
Events or developments related to these and other risks associated with international trade could adversely affect 
Wonderfilm’s revenues from non-U.S. sources, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. Protection of electronically stored data is costly and if 
Wonderfilm’s data is compromised in spite of this protection, Wonderfilm may incur additional costs, lost 
opportunities, and damage to its reputation. 
 
Wonderfilm maintains information in digital form as necessary to conduct its business, including confidential and 
proprietary information, copies of films, television programs and other content, and personal information regarding 
its employees.  
 
Data maintained in digital form is subject to the risk of intrusion, tampering, and theft. Wonderfilm develops and 
maintains systems to prevent this from occurring, but it is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as 
technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become more sophisticated. Moreover, despite 
Wonderfilm’s efforts, the possibility of intrusion, tampering, and theft cannot be eliminated entirely, and risks 
associated with each of these acts remain. In addition, Wonderfilm provides confidential information, digital content 
and personal information to third parties when it is necessary to pursue business objectives. While Wonderfilm 
obtains assurances that these third parties will protect this information and, where appropriate, monitor the 
protections employed by these third parties, there is a risk that data systems of these third parties may be 
compromised. If Wonderfilm’s data systems or data systems of these third parties are compromised, Wonderfilm’s 
ability to conduct its business may be impaired, it may lose profitable opportunities or the value of those 
opportunities may be diminished and it may lose revenue as a result of unlicensed use of its intellectual property. A 
breach of Wonderfilm’s network security or other theft or misuse of confidential and proprietary information, digital 
content or personal employee information could subject Wonderfilm to business, regulatory, litigation, and 
reputation risk, which could have a materially adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Incurs Expenditures in Foreign Currency and Does Not Hedge Against Foreign Currency Risks 

Wonderfilm operates in Canada and the United States and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 
transactions denominated in a foreign currency. The operating results and the financial position of Wonderfilm are 
reported in Canadian dollars. The fluctuations of the operating currencies in relation to the Canadian dollar will, 
consequently, have an impact upon the reporting results of Wonderfilm and may also affect the value of 
Wonderfilm’s assets and liabilities.  
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Competition in All Aspects of Its Business 
 
Wonderfilm is smaller and less diversified than many of its competitors.  
 
Unlike Wonderfilm, an independent distributor and producer, most of the major United States studios are part of 
large diversified corporate groups with a variety of other operations that can provide both the means of distributing 
their products and stable sources of earnings that may allow them to better offset fluctuations in the financial 
performance of their motion picture and television operations. The major studios also have more resources with 
which to compete for ideas, storylines, and scripts created by third parties as well as for actors, directors, and other 
personnel required for production. These resources may also give them an advantage in acquiring other businesses 
or assets, including film libraries, that Wonderfilm might also be interested in acquiring. 
 
The Motion Picture Industry is Highly Competitive 
 



The number of motion pictures released by Wonderfilm’s competitors may create an oversupply of product in the 
market, reduce its share of box office receipts, and make it more difficult for Wonderfilm’s films to succeed 
commercially. The limited supply of motion picture screens compounds this product oversupply problem, which 
may be most pronounced during peak release times such as holidays, when theater attendance is expected to be 
highest. As a result of changes in the theatrical exhibition industry, including reorganizations and consolidations, 
and major studio releases occupying more screens, the number of screens available to Wonderfilm when it wants to 
release a picture may decrease. If the number of motion picture screens decreases, box office receipts, and the 
correlating future revenue streams, such as from home entertainment and pay and free television, of Wonderfilm’s 
motion pictures may also decrease. Moreover, Wonderfilm cannot guarantee that it can release all of its films when 
they are otherwise scheduled due to production or other delays, or a change in the schedule of a major studio. Any 
such change could adversely impact a film's financial performance. In addition, if Wonderfilm cannot change its 
schedule after such a change by a major studio because it is too close to the release date, the major studio's release 
and its typically larger promotion budget may adversely impact the financial performance of Wonderfilm’s film. 
 
The Home Entertainment Industry is Highly Competitive  
 
Wonderfilm competes with all of the major United States studios which distribute their theatrical, television, and 
titles acquired from third parties on DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media and have marketing budgets greater than 
Wonderfilm’s budgets. Wonderfilm not only competes for ultimate consumer sales, but also with these parties and 
independent home entertainment distributors for location and shelf space placement at retailers and other 
distributors. The quality and quantity of titles as well as the quality of Wonderfilm’s marketing programs determines 
how much shelf space it is able to garner at any given time as retailers and other distributors look to maximize sales. 
Wonderfilm also competes with United States studios and other distributors that may have certain competitive 
advantages over the company to acquire the rights to sell or rent DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media. 
Wonderfilm’s ability to license and produce quality content in sufficient quantities has a direct impact on its ability 
to acquire shelf space at retail locations and on websites. In addition, certain of Wonderfilm’s content is obtained 
through agreements with other parties that have produced or own the rights to such content, while other United 
States studios may produce most of the content they distribute. 
 
Wonderfilm’s DVDs/Blu-ray discs sales and other media sales are also impacted by myriad choices consumers have 
to view entertainment content, including over-the-air broadcast television, cable television networks, online services, 
mobile services, radio, print media, motion picture theaters, and other sources of information and entertainment. The 
increasing availability of content from these varying media outlets may reduce Wonderfilm’s ability to sell DVDs/ 
Blu-ray discs and other media in the future, particularly during difficult economic conditions. 
 
Wonderfilm Must Successfully Respond to Rapid Technological Changes and Alternative Forms of Delivery or 
Storage to Remain Competitive 
 
The entertainment industry continues to undergo significant developments as advances in technologies and new 
methods of product delivery and storage (including the emergence of alternative distribution platforms), and certain 
changes in consumer behaviour driven by these developments emerge. New technologies affect the demand for 
Wonderfilm’s content, the manner in which its content is distributed to consumers, the sources and nature of 
competing content offerings, and the time and manner in which consumers acquire and view its content. New 
technologies also may affect Wonderfilm’s ability to maintain or grow its business and may increase its capital 
expenditures.  
 
Wonderfilm and its Distributors Must Adapt its Businesses to Shifting Patterns of Content Consumption and 
Changing Consumer Behavior and Preferences Through the Adoption and Exploitation of New Technologies 
 
For instance, such changes may impact the revenue Wonderfilm is able to generate from traditional distribution 
methods by decreasing the viewership of its networks on systems of cable operators, satellite television providers, 
and telecommunication companies, or by decreasing the number of households subscribing to services offered by 
those distributors. If Wonderfilm cannot successfully exploit these and other emerging technologies, its appeal to 
targeted audiences might decline which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 



Dependence on Management and Key Personnel 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends largely upon the continued services of its executive officers and other key 
employees. From time to time, there may be changes in Wonderfilm’s executive management team resulting from 
the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt its business. If Wonderfilm is unable to attract and retain 
top talents, its ability to compete may be harmed. Wonderfilm’s success is also highly dependent on its continuing 
ability to identify, hire, train, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel. Competition for highly skilled 
entertainment executives and other employees is high in Wonderfilm’s industry, and Wonderfilm may not be 
successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Failure to attract and retain qualified executive officers and 
other key employees could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on Attracting and Retaining Talent 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends upon the continued efforts, abilities, and expertise of key employees, including 
production, creative, and technical personnel. Wonderfilm’s success also depends on its ability to identify, attract, 
hire, train, and retain such personnel. Wonderfilm has entered into agreements with production executives but does 
not currently have significant “key person” life insurance policies for any employees. Although it is standard in the 
industry to rely on employment agreements as a method of retaining the services of key employees, these 
agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. In addition, competition for the limited number 
of business, production, and creative personnel necessary to create and distribute Wonderfilm’s entertainment 
content is intense and may grow in the future. Wonderfilm may not be successful in identifying, attracting, hiring, 
training, and retaining such personnel in the future, and its inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Could Be Adversely Affected by Strikes or Other Union Job Actions  
 
Wonderfilm is directly or indirectly dependent upon highly specialized union members who are essential to the 
production of motion pictures and television content. A strike by, or a lockout of, one or more of the unions that 
provide personnel essential to the production of motion pictures or television content could delay or halt 
Wonderfilm’s ongoing production activities, or could cause a delay or interruption in its release of new motion 
pictures and television content. A strike may result in increased costs and decreased revenue, which could have a 
material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors, officers, and other members of management of Wonderfilm serve (and may in the future 
serve) as directors, officers, and members of management of other companies and therefore, it is possible that a 
conflict may arise between their duties as a director, officer or member of management of Wonderfilm and their 
duties as a director, officer or member of management of such other companies. The directors and officers of 
Wonderfilm are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors and officers for corporate 
opportunity and requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of interest and Wonderfilm will rely upon such laws 
in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its 
directors or officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with the BCBCA 
and they will govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations 
imposed upon them by law. 
 
It May Not Be Possible for Foreign Investors to Enforce Actions Against the Company, and its Directors and 
Officers  
  
Wonderfilm is a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. All of Wonderfilm’s 
directors and executive officers reside principally in Canada. Because all or a substantial portion of Wonderfilm’s 
assets and the assets of these persons are located in Canada, it may not be possible for foreign investors to effect 
service of process from outside of Canada upon Wonderfilm or those persons. Furthermore, it may not be possible to 
enforce against Wonderfilm foreign judgments obtained in courts outside of Canada based upon the civil liability 
provisions of the securities laws or other laws in those jurisdictions. 



 
Any Disruption at Wonderfilm’s Places of Business Could Delay Revenues or Increase its Expenses 
  
All of Wonderfilm’s operations are conducted at locations in Vancouver and Los Angeles.  A natural disaster, such 
as a fire, flood or earthquake, could cause substantial delays in Wonderfilm’s operations, damage or destroy its 
offices, and cause Wonderfilm to incur additional expenses. 
 
In addition, because Wonderfilm does not maintain “key person” life insurance on any of its executive officers, 
employees or consultants, any delay in replacing such persons, or an inability to replace them with persons of 
similar expertise, would have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Systems are Vulnerable to Damage and Failure  
  
Despite the implementation of security measures, Wonderfilm’s internal computer systems are vulnerable to damage 
from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical 
failure. Any system failure, accident or security breach that causes interruption in Wonderfilm’s operations could 
result in a material disruption of its projects. To the extent that any disruption or security breach results in a loss or 
damage to Wonderfilm’s data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, 
Wonderfilm may incur liability as a result. In addition, Wonderfilm’s technology program may be adversely affected 
and the further development of its technology may be delayed. Wonderfilm may also incur additional costs to 
remedy the damages caused by these disruptions or security breaches. 
 
Business Interruptions Could Adversely Affect Head Office Operations  
 
Wonderfilm’s operations are vulnerable to outages and interruptions due to fire, floods, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, and similar events beyond its control. Wonderfilm’s headquarters are located in 
Southern California, which is subject to earthquakes. Although Wonderfilm has developed certain plans to respond 
in the event of a disaster, there can be no assurance that they will be effective in the event of a specific disaster. In 
the event of a short-term power outage, Wonderfilm has installed uninterrupted power source equipment designed to 
protect its equipment. A long-term power outage, however, could disrupt Wonderfilm’s operations. Although 
Wonderfilm currently carries business interruption insurance for potential losses (including earthquake-related 
losses), there can be no assurance that such insurance will be sufficient to compensate Wonderfilm for losses that 
may occur or that such insurance may continue to be available on affordable terms. Any losses or damages incurred 
by Wonderfilm could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm is Subject to Risks Associated with Possible Acquisitions, Business Combinations, or Joint Ventures  
 
From time to time, Wonderfilm could be engaged in discussions and activities with respect to possible acquisitions, 
sale of assets, business combinations, or joint ventures intended to complement or expand the business. The 
anticipated benefit from any of the transactions Wonderfilm pursues may not be realized. Regardless of whether any 
such transaction is consummated, the negotiation of a potential transaction and the integration of the acquired 
business could incur significant costs and cause diversion of management's time and resources. Any such transaction 
could also result in impairment of goodwill and other intangibles, development write-offs, and other related 
expenses. Such transactions may pose challenges in the consolidation and integration of information technology, 
accounting systems, personnel, and operations. Wonderfilm may also have difficulty managing the combined entity 
in the short term if it experiences a significant loss of management personnel during the transition period after a 
significant acquisition.  No assurance can be given that expansion or acquisition opportunities will be successful, 
completed on time, or that Wonderfilm will realize expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue 
enhancements, synergies or other benefits. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Claims Against Wonderfilm Relating to Any Acquisition or Business Combination May Necessitate Seeking Claims 
Against the Seller for which the Seller May Not Indemnify Wonderfilm or that May Exceed the Seller's 
Indemnification Obligations  
 



There may be liabilities assumed in any acquisition or business combination that Wonderfilm did not discover or 
that it underestimated in the course of performing its due diligence. Although a seller generally will have 
indemnification obligations to Wonderfilm under an acquisition or merger agreement, these obligations usually will 
be subject to financial limitations, such as general deductibles and maximum recovery amounts, as well as time 
limitations. There is no assurance that Wonderfilm’s right to indemnification from any seller will be enforceable, 
collectible or sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the amount of any undiscovered or 
underestimated liabilities that Wonderfilm may incur. Any such liabilities could have a material adverse effect on 
the business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Growth May Cause Pressure on Wonderfilm’s Management and Systems 
 
Wonderfilm’s future growth may cause significant pressure on its management, and its operational, financial, and 
other resources and systems. Wonderfilm’s ability to manage its growth effectively will require the company to 
implement and improve its operational, financial, manufacturing, and management information systems, hire new 
personnel and then train, manage, and motivate these new employees. These demands may require the hiring of 
additional management personnel and the development of additional expertise within the existing management team. 
Any increase in resources devoted to production, business development, and distribution efforts without a 
corresponding increase in Wonderfilm’s operational, financial, and management information systems could have a 
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Never Declared or Paid a Dividend  
  
Wonderfilm has never declared or paid any dividends on the common shares. Wonderfilm currently intends to retain 
its future earnings, if any, to finance further research and the expansion of Wonderfilm’s business. As a result, the 
return on an investment in the Wonderfilm Shares will depend upon any future appreciation in value. There is no 
guarantee that the common shares will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which shareholders have 
purchased their shares. 
 
Global Economic Turmoil and Regional Economic Conditions in the United States Could Adversely Affect its 
Business 
 
Global economic turmoil may cause a general tightening in the credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increases in 
the rates of default and bankruptcy, levels of intervention from the United States federal government and other 
foreign governments, decreased consumer confidence, overall slower economic activity, and extreme volatility in 
credit, equity, and fixed income markets. A decrease in economic activity in the United States or in other regions of 
the world in which Wonderfilm does business could adversely affect demand for its content, thus reducing its 
revenues and earnings. A decline in economic conditions could reduce performance of Wonderfilm’s theatrical, 
television, and home entertainment releases. In addition, an increase in price levels generally could result in a shift 
in consumer demand away from the entertainment that Wonderfilm offers, which could also adversely affect its 
revenues and, at the same time, increase its costs. For instance, lower household income and decreases in United 
States consumer discretionary spending, which is sensitive to general economic conditions, may affect cable 
television and other video service subscriptions. 

Conditional Approval of Exchange 
 
The Exchange has conditionally accepted the Wonderfilm Acquisition subject to Westshire II fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the Exchange.  

There can be no assurance that Westshire II will be able to satisfy the requirements of the Exchange such that the 
Exchange will issue the Final Exchange Bulletin. 

  



APPENDIX G 
 

Interim Financial Statements of Wonderfilm for the three month period ended September 
30, 2017 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 

Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
(Unaudited) 
 
  September 30, June 30, 
  2017 2017 
 
Assets 
 
Cash  $ (90) $ (24) 
Accounts receivable - 819,000 
  (90) 818,976 
 
Movie production royalty asset 3,795,300 3,795,300 
  $ 3,795,210 $ 4,614,276  
 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 
 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities (note 5) $ 68,674 $ 854,975 
Subscription deposit   25,000  - 
  93,674 854,975 
 
Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital 3,788,278 3,788,278 
Accumulated deficit (86,742) (28,977) 

 3,701,536 3,759,301 
Corporate information and going concern (note 1) 
Subsequent event (note 10) 
 
  $ 3,795,210 $ 4,614,276  
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed interim financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
   Director   Director 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Condensed Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
(Unaudited) 
 
  Three months ended  Three months ended 
  September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
Income: 

Production consulting $ - $ - 
Distribution services - - 

  - - 
 
Expenses: 

General and administration $ 3,077 $ - 
Management fees (note 5) 11,970 - 
Professional fees 42,369 - 

   
Loss before the under-noted items (57,416) - 
 
Foreign exchange adjustment (349) - 
 
Net loss, which is total comprehensive loss for the period $ (57,765) $ - 
 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (note 4(b)) $  (0.00)  $ (0.00) 
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed interim financial statements. 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Condensed Interim Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
(Unaudited) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
 
  Number of Share Contributed Accumulated 
  shares capital surplus deficit Total 
 
Balance June 30, 2016 3,013,500 $ 511 $ - $ (471) $ 40 
 
Amalgamation of share capital & deficit - 2,467 - (2,467) - 
 
Acquisition of movie royalty asset 2,769,000  3,322,800 - - 3,322,800 
 
Loss for the period - - - - - 
  
Balance September 30, 2016 5,782,500 $ 3,325,778 $ - $ (2,938) $ 3,322,840 
 
 
Balance June 30, 2017 6,707,500  3,788,278  -  (28,977)  3,759,301 
 
Loss for the period - - - (57,765) (57,765) 
  
Balance September 30, 2017 6,707,500 $ 3,788,278 $ - $ (86,742) $ 3,701,526 
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed interim financial statements. 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
(Unaudited) 
 
  Three months ended  Three months ended 
  September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
Cash (used in) provided by:  
 
Operations: 

Loss for the period $ (57,765) $ - 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 

Accounts receivable  819,000 - 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities (786,301) - 

Cash provided in operating activities (25,066) - 
 
Financing: 

Share subscription  25,000 - 
Cash provided by financing activities - - 

 
Investing: 

  - - 
Cash used by investing activities - - 

 
Decrease in cash (66) - 
 
Cash, beginning of period (24)  - 
 
Cash, end of period $ (90) $ - 
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed interim financial statements. 
 
 



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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1. Corporate information and going concern: 

The Wonderfilm Media Corporation, (“Wonderfilm” or “the Company”) was incorporated on 
January 10, 2014 under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and was formerly 
named Nine Tailed Films Inc.  

Wonderfilm is a worldwide film and television media production company with a core business of 
producing independent films and made-for-television movies for global business to business 
distribution.   

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to raise adequate 
financing and to develop profitable operations in the future. The Company has generated 
operating losses since inception. The application of the going concern concept is dependent on 
the Company’s ability to become operationally viable and receive continued financial support from 
its shareholders and from external financing. These conditions raise significant doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management is of the opinion that sufficient 
working capital will be obtained from future profitable operations or external financing to meet the 
Company’s liabilities and commitments. 

There can be no assurances that the Company will be successful in developing profitable 
operations or raising additional cash to finance operations or that the continued support of 
shareholders will be available. These financial statements have been prepared using the going 
concern assumption, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 
recoverability of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The unaudited condensed interim financial statements, including comparatives, have been 
prepared using the same accounting policies as those used in the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2017.  These unaudited condensed 
interim financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting” and authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors on December 11, 2017. 

 

 
  



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued): 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, which are recorded at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of these unaudited condensed interim financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses.  

Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual outcomes can differ from these 
estimates. Significant judgments made by management in the process of applying accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited 
condensed interim financial statements include the application of the going concern 
assumption, revenue recognition of production and distribution services, the determination of 
whether an acquisition is a business subject to business combination accounting, the 
allocation of purchase consideration to acquired assets and assumed liabilities, and the 
determination of related parties. 

 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Revenue: 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales 
taxes or duty.  

 (b) Foreign currency transactions: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Canadian dollar functional currency of 
the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Canadian 
dollars at the exchange rate at that date.   

 

 
  



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Foreign currency transactions (continued): 

Foreign currency differences arising from settlement of foreign currency translation are 
recognized in profit and loss.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. 

(c) Financial instruments: 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets: 

The Company initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are 
originated. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 
on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate asset or 
liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  

The Company has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables. 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and 
receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Cash and accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables. 

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for 
trading or if the Company manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 
decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Company’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in net loss. 

 



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Financial instruments (continued): 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued): 

Any short-term investments, consisting of highly liquid interest bearing securities with 
maturities at the date of purchase between three months and one year, are classified as 
held for trading. 

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities on the trade date at which the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire.  

Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. Such financial 
liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

(iii) Share capital: 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from 
equity, net of any tax effects.  

(d) Movie production royalty asset: 

Movie assets: 

Movie royalty assets that are acquired by the Company in an acquisition that have a finite 
useful life are measured at acquisition cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life of the royalty asset from the date that it is available for sale, since this most closely 
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset. The Company continually evaluates the remaining useful life of its royalty asset being 
amortized to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the 
remaining period of amortization.  

 (e) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.  A 
financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred  

 



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 
(e) Impairment (continued): 

(i) Financial assets (continued): 
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on 
the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.  

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency 
by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company 
would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, or 
the disappearance of an active market for a security.  In addition, for an investment in an 
equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is 
objective evidence of impairment.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at an amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  
Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 
receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the 
unwinding of the discount.  When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

(ii) Non-financial assets: 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than tax credits 
receivable, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups 
of assets (the cash-generating unit, or “CGU”).  

If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.   



THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
Three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Provisions: 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding 
of the discount is recognized as finance costs. 

There are no provisions recorded for the Company.   

 (g) Lease payments: 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part 
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance 
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to 
each year during the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for in the year in which they are incurred. 

The company did not have any lease arrangements at September 30, 2017. 

(h) Loss per share: 

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year.  The Company uses the treasury stock method to compute the dilutive effect 
of options, warrants and similar instruments.  Under this method the dilutive effect on loss per 
share is recognized based on the use of proceeds that could be obtained upon exercise of 
such options, warrants and similar instruments.  It assumes that the proceeds would be used 
to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period.  This calculation 
generally produces an anti-dilutive effect for loss years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Income taxes: 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized in earnings except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or to 
items recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.   

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 

(j) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

(i) IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers: 

On May 28, 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  
The new standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and 
two approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model 
features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how 
much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have 
been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.  The 
new standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 31, 2018 and is 
available for early adoption. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued): 

(i) IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers: 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 15 on its financial statements 
and expects to apply the standard for the annual period beginning on July 1, 2018. 

(ii) IFRS 16 - Leases: 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, the much-anticipated standard on lease 
accounting. IFRS 16 eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which 
distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating 
leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to 
current finance lease accounting. 

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 16, Leases, which is the IASB’s 
replacement of IAS 17, Leases. IFRS 16 will require lessees to recognize a lease liability 
that reflected future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use-asset’ for most lease contracts. 
IFRS 16 is required to be applied for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with 
early adoption permitted, but only in conjunction with the adoption of IFRS 15. The 
Company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard.  

4. Share capital: 

(a) Authorized share capital: 

Unlimited voting, participating common shares, with no par value 

(b) Earnings per share computation: 

The following table sets forth the computation of loss per common share:  
 
  Three months ended  Three months ended 
  September 30, 2017 September 2016 
 
Loss for the period $ (57,765) $ - 
 
Weighted average number of common shares  
outstanding 6,707,500 4,849,467 
 
Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.00)  (0.00) 
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5. Related party transactions: 

Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Company and the 
Company’s key management personnel.  The transactions are in the normal course of operations 
and have been valued in these financial statements at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.   

(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
  Three months ended Three months ended 
  September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
Trade, other payables and accrued liabilities $ 2,870 $ - 
 

(b) Transactions during the period with companies related through a common significant 
shareholder: 

 
  Three months ended Three months ended 
  September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
Management fees $             11,971 $                     - 
 

6. Subsequent Event: 
On August 22, 2017, the Company entered into binding letter of intent with Westshire Capital II 
Corp. (Westshire II) to amalgamate.  The letter of intent was subsequently replaced by the 
amalgamation agreement dated November 17, 2017. The proposed transaction is intended to 
constitute Westshire II’s “Qualifying Transaction” as defined in Policy 2.4 of the Corporate 
Finance Manual of the TSX Venture Exchange.   
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION. 
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND 2016  

 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) presents an analysis of the financial position of The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation (the “Company” or “Wonderfilm”) for the period ended September 30, 2017 and 
2016.  The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2017 and the unaudited condensed interim financial statements for the period ended September 30, 
2017, including the notes contained therein.  These financial statements are presented in Canadian currency and 
were prepared in accordance with accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards 
appropriate in the circumstances.  
 
Date of Report 
 
This MD&A is dated December 11, 2017. 
 
Explanatory Note 
 
This MD&A for the period ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, has been prepared to assist readers in 
understanding the financial performance of the Company.  
 
Forward Looking Statements 
 
The information set forth in this MD&A contains statements concerning future results, future performance, 
intentions, objectives, plans and expectations that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements. These 
statements concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of the Company  are preceded by, followed 
by or include the words ‘believes’, ‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘forecasts’, or similar 
expressions. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. These forward-looking 
statements are based on current expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not 
limited to, those identified in the “Risks Factors” section. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments 
with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business 
decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which underlying the forward-
looking statements are reasonable, any of the assumptions could prove inaccurate. These factors should be 
considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Unless required by 
securities legislation, the Company has no intention and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether written or oral, that may be made by or on the Company’s behalf. 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
Wonderfilm is focused on establishing itself as a reliable supplier of TV content and Indie Films to domestic, 
international and US buyers. Wonderfilm’s content development is geared toward low risk, commercial productions 
that are able to access tax incentives marketable to key content purchasers.  
 
G&A expenses increased by $3,077 from $nil compared to the prior period ended September, 30, 2016.  The 
increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current period whereas in the prior 
comparative period, there was no activity.    
 
Management fee expenses increased by $11,970 from $nil compared to the prior period ended September, 30, 2016.  
The increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current period whereas in the prior 
comparative period, there was no activity.    
 
Professional fee expenses increased by $42,369 from $nil compared to the prior period ended September, 30, 2016.  
The increase was due to the commencement of activity of the Company in the current period and preparation of a 
potential qualifying transaction with Westshire Capital II Corp. whereas in the prior comparative period, there was 
no such activity.    
 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 



 
The following financial data, which has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 

 Year ended 
June 30, 2017 

(Audited) 

Year ended 
June 30, 2016 

(Audited) 
Total Revenue $780,000 $0 
Expenses:   
     G&A $10,994 $0 
     Management fees $780,000 $0 
     Professional fees $15,045 $44 
Net loss $(26,039) $(44) 
Total liabilities 
Total assets 

$854,975 
$4,614,276 

$471  
$511 

Shareholders’ equity $3,759,301 $40 
Net loss per share  
(basic and diluted) 

$(0.00) $(0.00) 

 
  

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 & 2016 
 
During the year ending June 30, 2017, the Company provided approximately $9,465 in cash from operating 
activities, and consumed approximately $10,000 from investing and financing activities, for net cash outflow of 
$535, leaving a negative balance of $24 at June 30, 2017. 
 
During the year ending June 30, 2016, the Company had limited activity which only consisted of maintenance of the 
Company’s status.   
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Please refer to the Company’s audited annual financial statements for year ended June 30, 2017, for a complete list 
of the Company’s current accounting policies.   

DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS 
 
For the period ended September 30, 2017 the Company accomplished the following: 
 

• Continued operations as a movie production company by organizing resources, skilled individuals and a 
management team;  

• Initiated a business plan of expansion of a future potential slate of movie production project; 
• Initiated discussions with Westshire Capital II Corp. for a potential qualifying transaction. 

Wonderfilm is a movie production company specializing in the made of TV and streaming service markets.  
 
Wonderfilm anticipates that any funds raised in the future will be used for movie production financing, sales and 
marketing, and general corporate use.   
 
Market  
 
While Hollywood still produces impressive blockbusters, major funding is more difficult to come by, and the 
industry is simultaneously moving to many different formats as consumers no longer rush to the cinema to see a 
movie. Consumers can now watch films on multiple devices any time they wish to do so and practically anywhere in 
the world.  Consumers want an experience, and they want to take that experience with them to share and discuss on 
social media.  



 
Many of the leading motion picture studios are part of larger media conglomerates that often include television, 
video and streaming services, music services, newspaper, cable, and magazine segments, and many of these 
constitute online content. The industry offers attractive possibilities for foreign investors, both large and small, and 
provides film production and related tax incentives.  
 
Across all creative content sectors, there are opportunities for investment and growth both in (1) partnerships, 
production and tax discounts in many U.S. states and (2) the creation of TV formats and content for streaming. With 
the shift toward digital production and distribution, foreign firms are seeking out U.S. digital and animation 
expertise in all new formats. Drawing on formidable strengths, the U.S. film industry has a proven ability to produce 
blockbuster movies that generate hundreds of millions of dollars, including revenues from distribution across strong 
domestic and international networks. Success in the industry is based on creativity and financing, and the industry is 
largely self-regulated.  
 
Movie-going is extremely popular in emerging markets such as Brazil, China and India, and in the more developed 
markets, there is a leveling off for box office receipts as consumers also opt to view movies on personal devices in 
addition to visiting movie theaters. Depending on the source consulted, all of the seven top markets are amongst the 
top 10 to 20 countries in spending on movies worldwide.  
 
The United States has groomed many a famous Canadian entertainer as their own as far back as silent film star Mary 
Pickford, through the golden years of film and music with Christopher Plummer, Donald Sutherland, Glenn Ford, 
Norma Shearer and Robert Goulet to Alanis Morissette, Anne Murray, Assassin’s Creed, Bryan Adams, Dan 
Aykroyd, Eugene Levy, Howie Mandel, Jason Priestley, Jim Carrey, Justin Bieber, Keanu Reeves, Matthew Perry, 
Michael J. Fox, Nia Vardalos, Ryan Gosling, Ryan Reynolds, Sarah McLachlan, Seth Rogan, Shania Twain, Pamela 
Anderson, Paul Anka, Peter Jennings, William Shatner and many other Canadian M&E exports; Americans also 
enjoy notable acts like Cirque de Soleil, Celine Deon and Michael Buble - just to mention a few. With a large 
economy, highly educated population, and strong high-tech and media sectors, it is no surprise that Canada ranks in 
the top markets.  
 
Canada’s filmed entertainment market will grow at a modest 1.9 percent from 2015 and 2019, from US$3.1 to 
US$3.4 billion, and by 2019, box office revenues will constitute 42 percent of film earnings.(1)  Canada holds co- 
production treaties with over 50 countries and enjoys a robust relationship with the U.S filmed entertainment 
industry; the United States conducts joint projects without such an official agreement, and both tax and filming 
incentives are available.  Over-the-top (OTT) streaming and streaming content will grow at 17.4 percent during this 
period.(1) While physical home video will continue to decline, it will still constitute a US$976 million market in 
2019, TV subscriptions will experience a slow and stagnant growth, staying close to US$7.6 billion from 2015 to 
2019.(1)  
 
Netflix is expanding rapidly and faces competition from Canadian cable company competitors like Shomi and 
CraveTV Video.  Rental kiosk company Digiboo is establishing itself in the Canadian market, signaling growth 
opportunities both for digital content and physical rentals.  Cineplex is operating successfully in the market as well, 
offering digital rentals. Canadians are increasingly choosing TV series over feature films, and movies are more often 
viewed on TV rather than at the theaters.  
 
Consumers are accessing content on-demand across multiple platforms. There is also a disparity between demand 
for French versus English language content, which warrants further exploration and could signal good growth 
opportunities for content creators of English filmed entertainment if they target the right market segment. T he 
Canadian government requires 60 percent of televised content to be Canadian, and Canadian broadcasters have to 
spend 30 percent of their revenues on Canadian programs.  
 
Hollywood represents the iconic filmed entertainment industry, and while the U.S. marketplace remains the most 
valuable for production and consumption from a revenue perspective, film sectors and creative communities are 
thriving around the world.  Both film and television are moving towards new digital models of consumption and 
distribution, and video has become a cheaper alternative to production while streaming services have overtaken 



traditional modes of accessing and viewing movies and TV shows.  Movie theatres have to offer complementary 
services to compete with digital devices, free (including pirated) content and consumer’s desire to access content 
24/7. The golden age of film may have passed, but the saying still holds true: if you can make it in Hollywood you 
can make it anywhere.  Filmed entertainment revenues will grow at a healthy 4.6 percent from 2015 to 2019 to reach 
US$35.3 billion in the United States(1). 
 
(1) Pricewaterhouse Coopers, “Global media and entertainment outlook,” 
http://www.pwcmediaoutlook.com/dataexplorer  
 
(2) Theatrical Market Statistics 2016, Motion Picture Association of America 
 
SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION 
 
Pursuant to National Instrument 51-102F1 Management’s Discussion & Analysis, a reporting issuer is required to 
summarize the results of operations for each of the eight most recently completed fiscal quarters ending at the end of 
the most recently completed financial period (numbers in CAN $).  Wonderfilm is not and has not been a reporting 
issuer for the last eight fiscal quarters and has therefore only prepared interim financial information for a limited 
number of the preceding fiscal quarters. 
 

  September 30  
2017 

Total Revenue  $               - 
Net loss  (57,765) 
Net loss per share  
(basic and diluted) 

 (0.00) 

 
  September 30  

2016 
Total Revenue  $               - 
Net loss  - 
Net loss per share  
(basic and diluted) 

 (0.00) 

 
DIVIDENDS  
 
There are no restrictions that could prevent the Company from paying dividends on its common shares.  Wonderfilm 
has not paid any dividends on its common shares as it not contemplated that the Company will pay any dividends in 
the immediate or foreseeable future.  It is the Company’s intention to use all available cash flow to finance further 
production projects.  
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY 
 
At September 30, 2017 Wonderfilm had negative working capital of ($93,764).  Wonderfilm intends to complete the 
business combination and concurrent financing with Westshire Capital II Corp. which, after paying transaction-
related costs, will mainly be used for general corporate purposes. 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Future financings are expected to fund future planned production expenditures required to meet the Company’s 
planned movie production activity.   
 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

Wonderfilm has no existing contractual obligations other than as described in this MD&A. There are no off-balance 
sheet arrangements. 

TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES 



Related parties include shareholders with a significant ownership interest in the Company and the Company’s key 
management personnel.  The transactions are in the normal course of operations and have been valued in these 
financial statements at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 
related parties.   

(a) Balances with related parties: 
 
 Three months ended  Three months ended 
 September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
Trade, other payables and accrued liabilities $ 2,870 $ - 
 
(b) Transactions during the period with companies related through a common significant shareholder: 
 
 Three months ended  Three months ended 
 September 30, 2017 September 30, 2016 
 
 
Management fees $       11,971 $                    - 
 
 
RISK FACTORS 
 
The following risk factors relate to the business of Wonderfilm. 
   
Wonderfilm Currently Has Limited Financial History and Operating Cash Flow 
 
Since incorporation on January 10, 2014, Wonderfilm has had limited financial activity and negative cash flow.  
There can be no certainty that Wonderfilm will ever achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flow from its 
operating activities. In addition, Wonderfilm’s working capital and funding needs may vary significantly depending 
upon a number of factors including, but not limited to: 
 
• progress of Wonderfilm’s production, financing, and distribution activities; 
• collaborative license agreements with third parties; 
• opportunities to in-license beneficial productions or potential acquisitions; 
• potential milestone or other payments that Wonderfilm may make to licensors or corporate partners;  
• technological and market consumption and distribution models or alternative forms of entertainment 

delivery that affect Wonderfilm’s potential revenue levels or competitive position in the marketplace; 
• the level of sales and gross profit; 
• costs associated with production, labour and services costs, and Wonderfilm’s ability to realize operation 

and production efficiencies; 
• fluctuations in certain working capital items, including library assets, short-term loans, and accounts 

receivable, that may be necessary to support the growth of Wonderfilm’s business; and 
• expenses associated with litigation. 

Early Stage 

Wonderfilm is an early stage company and as such, Wonderfilm is subject to many risks including under-
capitalization, cash shortages, and limitations with respect to personnel, financial and other resources and the lack of 
revenue.  There is no assurance that Wonderfilm will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ 
investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of its early stage of operations. Wonderfilm’s 
prospects must be considered speculative in light of the risks, expenses, and difficulties frequently encountered by 
companies in their early stages of operations, particularly in the highly competitive and rapidly evolving markets in 
which Wonderfilm operates. To attempt to address these risks, Wonderfilm must, among other things, successfully 
implement its business plan, marketing, and commercialization strategies, respond to competitive developments, and 
attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel.  A substantial risk is involved in investing in Wonderfilm because, 



as a smaller commercial enterprise that has fewer resources than an established company, Wonderfilm’s 
management may be more likely to make mistakes, and Wonderfilm may be more vulnerable operationally and 
financially to any mistakes that may be made, as well as to external factors beyond Wonderfilm’s control. 

Wonderfilm May Not be Able to Successfully Execute its Business Plan 
 
The execution of Wonderfilm’s business plan poses many challenges and is based on a number of assumptions. 
Wonderfilm may not be able to successfully execute its business plan. If Wonderfilm experiences significant cost 
overruns, or if its business plan is more costly than it anticipates, certain activities may be delayed or eliminated, 
resulting in changes or delays to its current plans, or Wonderfilm may be compelled to secure additional funding 
(which may or may not be available) to execute its business plan. Wonderfilm cannot predict with certainty its future 
revenues or results from its operations. If the assumptions on which its revenues or expenditures forecasts are based 
change, the benefits of Wonderfilm’s business plan may change as well. In addition, Wonderfilm may consider 
expanding its business beyond what is currently contemplated in its business plan. Depending on the financing 
requirements of a potential business expansion, Wonderfilm may be required to raise additional capital through the 
issuance of equity or debt. If Wonderfilm is unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms, it may be unable 
to pursue a potential business expansion. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Capital Requirements and Financial Risks 
 
The business requires a substantial investment of capital. The production, acquisition, and distribution of motion 
picture and television content requires substantial capital. A significant amount of time may elapse between 
Wonderfilm’s expenditure of funds and the receipt of revenues after release or distribution of such content.  This 
may require a significant portion of funds from equity, credit, and other financing sources to fund the business.  
Although the risks of production exposure are reduced through tax credit programs, government and industry 
programs, other studios and co-financiers and other sources, there can be no assurance that these arrangements will 
continue to be successfully implemented or will not be subject to substantial financial risks relating to the 
production, acquisition, and distribution of future indie film and television content. In addition, if the production 
slate or the production budgets increase through internal growth or acquisition, there may be an increase to overhead 
and/or larger up-front payments for talent acquisition and, consequently, these increases bear greater financial risks. 
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Additional Capital Requirements 

Wonderfilm may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If Wonderfilm raises 
additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, Wonderfilm’s existing 
shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities Wonderfilm issues could have rights, 
preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of Wonderfilm Shares. Any debt financing secured by 
Wonderfilm in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to its capital raising activities and other 
financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for it to obtain additional capital and to pursue 
business opportunities. 

Wonderfilm can provide no assurance that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available on reasonable terms 
or at all to support its business growth and to respond to business challenges and failure to obtain sufficient debt or 
equity financing when required could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows. 

Wonderfilm expects to incur short-term losses and generate negative cash flow until it can produce sufficient 
revenues to cover its costs. Wonderfilm may never become profitable. Even if it does achieve profitability, 
Wonderfilm may be unable to sustain or increase its profitability in the future. For the reasons discussed in more 
detail below, there are substantial uncertainties associated with Wonderfilm achieving and sustaining profitability. 
Wonderfilm expects its cash reserves will be reduced due to future operating losses and working capital 
requirements, and it cannot provide certainty as to how long its cash reserves will last or that it will be able to access 
additional capital if and when necessary. 
 
Wonderfilm May Need to Raise Additional Capital in the Future to Fund its Operations 



 
Wonderfilm may require substantial additional capital resources to further its production-packaging business model.  
Future cash requirements may vary materially from those expected if Wonderfilm elects to produce indie films, 
acquire indie films or experiences operational production delays or unexpected increases in costs related to the 
maintenance, defense, and enforcement of proprietary intellectual properties and tax credit refunds.  
  
Sources of additional funding include collaborations and licensing arrangements, public or private equity, or debt 
financing.  
  
If Wonderfilm’s commercialization activities do not show positive results, or if capital market conditions in general, 
or with respect to entertainment motion picture companies in particular, are unfavorable, Wonderfilm may be unable 
to raise funds when needed or on acceptable terms.  
  
Any Additional Equity Financings May Be Dilutive to Wonderfilm’s Existing Stockholders 
 
If sufficient capital is not available, Wonderfilm may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, eliminate or divest 
one or more of its library assets or productions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s 
business, financial condition, prospects, or results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Broad Discretion Over the Use of Net Proceeds 
  
Wonderfilm will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from any future capital raises. Because of 
the number and variability of factors that will determine Wonderfilm’s use of such proceeds, the ultimate use might 
vary substantially from the planned use. Investors may not agree with how Wonderfilm allocates or spends the 
proceeds from future capital raises. Wonderfilm may pursue collaborations that ultimately do not result in an 
increase in the market value of the common shares and that instead increase Wonderfilm’s losses. 
 
Budget Overruns May Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business 
 
While Wonderfilm’s business model requires efficiency in the production of indie films and television content, 
actual production costs may exceed their budgets. The production, completion, and distribution of such content can 
be subject to a number of uncertainties, including delays and increased expenditures due to disruptions or events 
beyond Wonderfilm’s control.  As a result, if each production incurs substantial budget overruns, additional 
financing may need to be sourced. There are no assurances regarding the availability of such additional financing or 
on mutually acceptable terms, or that such costs will be recouped. Budget overruns could also prevent a picture from 
being completed or released, thereby having a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, operating 
results, liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Results of Operations are Difficult to Predict and Depend on a Variety of Factors  
 
Results may fluctuate due to the timing, mix, number, and availability of indie films produced or acquired and home 
entertainment releases, as well as license periods for content. The operating results may increase or decrease during 
a particular period or fiscal year due to differences in the number and/or mix of films released compared to the 
corresponding period in the prior fiscal year.  Moreover, the results of operations may be impacted by the 
commercial success of all of Wonderfilm’s indie films and televisions productions. There is no assurance that the 
production, acquisition, and distribution of all current and future motion pictures will be managed successfully to 
receive critical acclaim or perform well commercially. Any inability to achieve such commercial success could have 
a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
Operating results also fluctuate due to accounting practices which may recognize the acquisition and sale of indie 
films in different periods than the recognition of related revenues, which may occur in later periods. In addition, the 
comparability of results may be affected by changes in accounting guidance or changes in Wonderfilm’s ownership 
of certain assets. Accordingly, the results of operations from year to year may not be directly comparable to prior 
reporting periods.  As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the results of operations may fluctuate significantly 
from period to period, and the results of any one period may not be indicative of the results for any future period. 
 
Many Production or Co-Financing Partners Do Not Have Long-Term Arrangements 



 
Wonderfilm typically does not enter into long-term production contracts with the creative producers of motion 
picture and television content that it produces, acquires or distributes. Moreover, Wonderfilm generally has certain 
derivative rights that provide for distribution rights to, for example, prequels, sequels, and remakes of certain 
content that Wonderfilm may produce, acquire or distribute.  However, there is no guarantee that Wonderfilm will 
produce, acquire or distribute future content by any creative producer or co-financing partner, and a failure to do so 
could adversely affect the business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm.   
 
There are No Long-Term Agreements with Retailers   
 
There is no assurance that favourable relationships with retailers and distributors will develop or, if developed, will 
be maintained or that they will not be adversely affected by economic conditions.  If any retailer or distributor 
reduces or cancels a significant order or becomes bankrupt, it could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
financial condition, operating results, liquidity and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on the Commercial Success of Motion Pictures and Television Programming, which 
is Unpredictable 
 
Generally, the popularity of Wonderfilm’s programs depends on many factors, including the critical acclaim they 
receive, the format of their initial release, their talent, their genre and their specific subject matter, audience reaction, 
the quality and acceptance of motion pictures or television content that Wonderfilm’s competitors release into the 
marketplace at or near the same time, critical reviews, the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and 
leisure activities, general economic conditions, and other tangible and intangible factors, many of which Wonderfilm 
does not control and all of which may change. Wonderfilm cannot predict the future effects of these factors with 
certainty. In addition, because a performance in ancillary markets, such as home video and pay and free television, is 
often directly related to its box office performance or television ratings, poor box office results or poor television 
ratings may negatively affect future revenue streams. Wonderfilm’s success will depend on the experience and 
judgment of its management to select and develop new investment and production opportunities. Wonderfilm cannot 
assure that its motion pictures and television programming will obtain favourable reviews or ratings, that its motion 
pictures will perform well at the box office or in ancillary markets, or that broadcasters will license the rights to 
broadcast any of its television programs in the development or renewal of licenses to broadcast programs in its 
library. Additionally, Wonderfilm cannot assure that any original programming content will appeal to its distributors 
and subscribers. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Business Involves Risks of Liability Claims for Content of Material, Which Could Adversely Affect its 
Business, Results of Operations, and Financial Condition 
 
As a distributor of media content, Wonderfilm may face potential liability for defamation, invasion of privacy, 
negligence, copyright or trademark infringement, and other claims based on the nature and content of the materials 
distributed. These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against producers and distributors of 
media content. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage 
could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and 
prospects. 
 
Piracy of Films and Television Programs Could Adversely Affect Wonderfilm’s Business Over Time 
 
Piracy is extensive in many parts of the world and is made easier by the availability of digital copies of content and 
technological advances allowing conversion of films and television content into digital formats. This trend facilitates 
the creation, transmission, and sharing of high quality unauthorized copies of motion pictures and television content. 
The proliferation of unauthorized copies of these products has had and will likely continue to have an adverse effect 
on Wonderfilm’s business, because these products reduce the revenue it receives from its products. In order to 
contain this problem, Wonderfilm may have to implement elaborate and costly security and anti-piracy measures, 
which could result in significant expenses and losses of revenue. 
 
There is No Assurance that Even the Highest Levels of Security and Anti-Piracy Measures Will Prevent Piracy 
 



In particular, unauthorized copying and piracy are prevalent in countries outside of the United States, Canada, and 
Western Europe, whose legal systems may make it difficult for Wonderfilm to enforce its intellectual property 
rights. While the United States government has publicly considered implementing trade sanctions against specific 
countries that, in its opinion, do not make appropriate efforts to prevent copyright infringements of United States-
produced motion pictures and television content, there can be no assurance that any such sanctions will be enacted 
or, if enacted, will be effective. In addition, if enacted, such sanctions could impact the amount of revenue that 
Wonderfilm realizes from the international exploitation of its content. 
 
Protecting and Defending Against Intellectual Property Claims May Have a Material Adverse Effect on 
Wonderfilm’s Business 
 
Wonderfilm’s ability to compete depends, in part, upon successful protection of its intellectual property. 
Wonderfilm attempt to protect proprietary and intellectual property rights to its productions through available 
copyright and trademark laws and licensing and distribution arrangements with reputable international companies in 
specific territories and media for limited durations. Despite these precautions, existing copyright and trademark laws 
afford only limited practical protection in certain countries where Wonderfilm distributes its products. As a result, it 
may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy and distribute Wonderfilm’s productions or certain portions 
or applications of its intended productions, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Litigation may also be necessary to enforce Wonderfilm’s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, or 
to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement or 
invalidity. Any such litigation, infringement or invalidity claims could result in substantial costs and the diversion of 
resources and could have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, 
liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm’s more successful and popular film or television products or franchises may experience higher levels of 
infringing activity, particularly around key release dates. Alleged infringers have claimed and may claim that their 
products are permitted under fair use or similar doctrines, that they are entitled to compensatory or punitive damages 
because Wonderfilm’s efforts to protect its intellectual property rights are illegal or improper, and that its key 
trademarks or other significant intellectual property are invalid. Such claims, even if meritless, may result in adverse 
publicity or costly litigation. Wonderfilm will vigorously defend its copyrights and trademarks from infringing 
products and activity, which can result in litigation. Wonderfilm may receive unfavorable preliminary or interim 
rulings in the course of litigation, and there can be no assurance that a favorable final outcome will be obtained in all 
cases. Additionally, one of the risks of the film and television production business is the possibility that others may 
claim that Wonderfilm’s productions and production techniques misappropriate or infringe the intellectual property 
rights of third parties with respect to their previously developed films and televisions series, stories, characters, other 
entertainment or intellectual property. Regardless of the validity or the success of the assertion of any such claims, 
Wonderfilm could incur significant costs and diversion of resources in enforcing its intellectual property rights or in 
defending against such claims, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Faces Risks From Doing Business Internationally 
 
Wonderfilm distributes content outside the United States and derive revenues from international sources. 
 
 As a result, Wonderfilm’s business is subject to certain risks inherent in international business, many of which are 
beyond its control.  
 
These risks may include: 
• laws and policies affecting trade, investment and taxes, including laws and policies relating to the repatriation of 
funds and withholding taxes, and changes in these laws; 
• anti-corruption laws and regulations such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act that 
impose strict requirements on how Wonderfilm conducts its foreign operations and changes in these laws and 
regulations; 



• changes in local regulatory requirements, including restrictions on content and differing cultural tastes and 
attitudes; 
• international jurisdictions where laws are less protective of intellectual property and varying attitudes towards the 
piracy of intellectual property; 
• financial instability and increased market concentration of buyers in foreign television markets, including in 
European pay television markets; 
• the instability of foreign economies and governments; 
• fluctuating foreign exchange rates; 
• the spread of communicable diseases in such jurisdictions, which may impact business in such jurisdictions; and 
• war and acts of terrorism. 
 
Events or developments related to these and other risks associated with international trade could adversely affect 
Wonderfilm’s revenues from non-U.S. sources, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. Protection of electronically stored data is costly and if 
Wonderfilm’s data is compromised in spite of this protection, Wonderfilm may incur additional costs, lost 
opportunities, and damage to its reputation. 
 
Wonderfilm maintains information in digital form as necessary to conduct its business, including confidential and 
proprietary information, copies of films, television programs and other content, and personal information regarding 
its employees.  
 
Data maintained in digital form is subject to the risk of intrusion, tampering, and theft. Wonderfilm develops and 
maintains systems to prevent this from occurring, but it is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as 
technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become more sophisticated. Moreover, despite 
Wonderfilm’s efforts, the possibility of intrusion, tampering, and theft cannot be eliminated entirely, and risks 
associated with each of these acts remain. In addition, Wonderfilm provides confidential information, digital content 
and personal information to third parties when it is necessary to pursue business objectives. While Wonderfilm 
obtains assurances that these third parties will protect this information and, where appropriate, monitor the 
protections employed by these third parties, there is a risk that data systems of these third parties may be 
compromised. If Wonderfilm’s data systems or data systems of these third parties are compromised, Wonderfilm’s 
ability to conduct its business may be impaired, it may lose profitable opportunities or the value of those 
opportunities may be diminished and it may lose revenue as a result of unlicensed use of its intellectual property. A 
breach of Wonderfilm’s network security or other theft or misuse of confidential and proprietary information, digital 
content or personal employee information could subject Wonderfilm to business, regulatory, litigation, and 
reputation risk, which could have a materially adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Incurs Expenditures in Foreign Currency and Does Not Hedge Against Foreign Currency Risks 

Wonderfilm operates in Canada and the United States and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 
transactions denominated in a foreign currency. The operating results and the financial position of Wonderfilm are 
reported in Canadian dollars. The fluctuations of the operating currencies in relation to the Canadian dollar will, 
consequently, have an impact upon the reporting results of Wonderfilm and may also affect the value of 
Wonderfilm’s assets and liabilities.  
 
Wonderfilm Faces Substantial Competition in All Aspects of Its Business 
 
Wonderfilm is smaller and less diversified than many of its competitors.  
 
Unlike Wonderfilm, an independent distributor and producer, most of the major United States studios are part of 
large diversified corporate groups with a variety of other operations that can provide both the means of distributing 
their products and stable sources of earnings that may allow them to better offset fluctuations in the financial 
performance of their motion picture and television operations. The major studios also have more resources with 
which to compete for ideas, storylines, and scripts created by third parties as well as for actors, directors, and other 
personnel required for production. These resources may also give them an advantage in acquiring other businesses 
or assets, including film libraries, that Wonderfilm might also be interested in acquiring. 



 
The Motion Picture Industry is Highly Competitive 
 
The number of motion pictures released by Wonderfilm’s competitors may create an oversupply of product in the 
market, reduce its share of box office receipts, and make it more difficult for Wonderfilm’s films to succeed 
commercially. The limited supply of motion picture screens compounds this product oversupply problem, which 
may be most pronounced during peak release times such as holidays, when theater attendance is expected to be 
highest. As a result of changes in the theatrical exhibition industry, including reorganizations and consolidations, 
and major studio releases occupying more screens, the number of screens available to Wonderfilm when it wants to 
release a picture may decrease. If the number of motion picture screens decreases, box office receipts, and the 
correlating future revenue streams, such as from home entertainment and pay and free television, of Wonderfilm’s 
motion pictures may also decrease. Moreover, Wonderfilm cannot guarantee that it can release all of its films when 
they are otherwise scheduled due to production or other delays, or a change in the schedule of a major studio. Any 
such change could adversely impact a film's financial performance. In addition, if Wonderfilm cannot change its 
schedule after such a change by a major studio because it is too close to the release date, the major studio's release 
and its typically larger promotion budget may adversely impact the financial performance of Wonderfilm’s film. 
 
The Home Entertainment Industry is Highly Competitive  
 
Wonderfilm competes with all of the major United States studios which distribute their theatrical, television, and 
titles acquired from third parties on DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media and have marketing budgets greater than 
Wonderfilm’s budgets. Wonderfilm not only competes for ultimate consumer sales, but also with these parties and 
independent home entertainment distributors for location and shelf space placement at retailers and other 
distributors. The quality and quantity of titles as well as the quality of Wonderfilm’s marketing programs determines 
how much shelf space it is able to garner at any given time as retailers and other distributors look to maximize sales. 
Wonderfilm also competes with United States studios and other distributors that may have certain competitive 
advantages over the company to acquire the rights to sell or rent DVDs/Blu-ray discs and other media. 
Wonderfilm’s ability to license and produce quality content in sufficient quantities has a direct impact on its ability 
to acquire shelf space at retail locations and on websites. In addition, certain of Wonderfilm’s content is obtained 
through agreements with other parties that have produced or own the rights to such content, while other United 
States studios may produce most of the content they distribute. 
 
Wonderfilm’s DVDs/Blu-ray discs sales and other media sales are also impacted by myriad choices consumers have 
to view entertainment content, including over-the-air broadcast television, cable television networks, online services, 
mobile services, radio, print media, motion picture theaters, and other sources of information and entertainment. The 
increasing availability of content from these varying media outlets may reduce Wonderfilm’s ability to sell DVDs/ 
Blu-ray discs and other media in the future, particularly during difficult economic conditions. 
 
Wonderfilm Must Successfully Respond to Rapid Technological Changes and Alternative Forms of Delivery or 
Storage to Remain Competitive 
 
The entertainment industry continues to undergo significant developments as advances in technologies and new 
methods of product delivery and storage (including the emergence of alternative distribution platforms), and certain 
changes in consumer behaviour driven by these developments emerge. New technologies affect the demand for 
Wonderfilm’s content, the manner in which its content is distributed to consumers, the sources and nature of 
competing content offerings, and the time and manner in which consumers acquire and view its content. New 
technologies also may affect Wonderfilm’s ability to maintain or grow its business and may increase its capital 
expenditures.  
 
Wonderfilm and its Distributors Must Adapt its Businesses to Shifting Patterns of Content Consumption and 
Changing Consumer Behavior and Preferences Through the Adoption and Exploitation of New Technologies 
 
For instance, such changes may impact the revenue Wonderfilm is able to generate from traditional distribution 
methods by decreasing the viewership of its networks on systems of cable operators, satellite television providers, 
and telecommunication companies, or by decreasing the number of households subscribing to services offered by 
those distributors. If Wonderfilm cannot successfully exploit these and other emerging technologies, its appeal to 



targeted audiences might decline which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Dependence on Management and Key Personnel 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends largely upon the continued services of its executive officers and other key 
employees. From time to time, there may be changes in Wonderfilm’s executive management team resulting from 
the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt its business. If Wonderfilm is unable to attract and retain 
top talents, its ability to compete may be harmed. Wonderfilm’s success is also highly dependent on its continuing 
ability to identify, hire, train, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel. Competition for highly skilled 
entertainment executives and other employees is high in Wonderfilm’s industry, and Wonderfilm may not be 
successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Failure to attract and retain qualified executive officers and 
other key employees could have a material adverse effect on its business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Success Depends on Attracting and Retaining Talent 
 
Wonderfilm’s success depends upon the continued efforts, abilities, and expertise of key employees, including 
production, creative, and technical personnel. Wonderfilm’s success also depends on its ability to identify, attract, 
hire, train, and retain such personnel. Wonderfilm has entered into agreements with production executives but does 
not currently have significant “key person” life insurance policies for any employees. Although it is standard in the 
industry to rely on employment agreements as a method of retaining the services of key employees, these 
agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. In addition, competition for the limited number 
of business, production, and creative personnel necessary to create and distribute Wonderfilm’s entertainment 
content is intense and may grow in the future. Wonderfilm may not be successful in identifying, attracting, hiring, 
training, and retaining such personnel in the future, and its inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 
 
Wonderfilm Could Be Adversely Affected by Strikes or Other Union Job Actions  
 
Wonderfilm is directly or indirectly dependent upon highly specialized union members who are essential to the 
production of motion pictures and television content. A strike by, or a lockout of, one or more of the unions that 
provide personnel essential to the production of motion pictures or television content could delay or halt 
Wonderfilm’s ongoing production activities, or could cause a delay or interruption in its release of new motion 
pictures and television content. A strike may result in increased costs and decreased revenue, which could have a 
material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors, officers, and other members of management of Wonderfilm serve (and may in the future 
serve) as directors, officers, and members of management of other companies and therefore, it is possible that a 
conflict may arise between their duties as a director, officer or member of management of Wonderfilm and their 
duties as a director, officer or member of management of such other companies. The directors and officers of 
Wonderfilm are aware of the existence of laws governing accountability of directors and officers for corporate 
opportunity and requiring disclosures by directors of conflicts of interest and Wonderfilm will rely upon such laws 
in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its 
directors or officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with the BCBCA 
and they will govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations 
imposed upon them by law. 
 
It May Not Be Possible for Foreign Investors to Enforce Actions Against the Company, and its Directors and 
Officers  
  
Wonderfilm is a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. All of Wonderfilm’s 
directors and executive officers reside principally in Canada. Because all or a substantial portion of Wonderfilm’s 
assets and the assets of these persons are located in Canada, it may not be possible for foreign investors to effect 



service of process from outside of Canada upon Wonderfilm or those persons. Furthermore, it may not be possible to 
enforce against Wonderfilm foreign judgments obtained in courts outside of Canada based upon the civil liability 
provisions of the securities laws or other laws in those jurisdictions. 
 
Any Disruption at Wonderfilm’s Places of Business Could Delay Revenues or Increase its Expenses 
  
All of Wonderfilm’s operations are conducted at locations in Vancouver and Los Angeles.  A natural disaster, such 
as a fire, flood or earthquake, could cause substantial delays in Wonderfilm’s operations, damage or destroy its 
offices, and cause Wonderfilm to incur additional expenses. 
 
In addition, because Wonderfilm does not maintain “key person” life insurance on any of its executive officers, 
employees or consultants, any delay in replacing such persons, or an inability to replace them with persons of 
similar expertise, would have a material adverse effect on Wonderfilm’s business, financial condition, and results of 
operations. 
 
Wonderfilm’s Systems are Vulnerable to Damage and Failure  
  
Despite the implementation of security measures, Wonderfilm’s internal computer systems are vulnerable to damage 
from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical 
failure. Any system failure, accident or security breach that causes interruption in Wonderfilm’s operations could 
result in a material disruption of its projects. To the extent that any disruption or security breach results in a loss or 
damage to Wonderfilm’s data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, 
Wonderfilm may incur liability as a result. In addition, Wonderfilm’s technology program may be adversely affected 
and the further development of its technology may be delayed. Wonderfilm may also incur additional costs to 
remedy the damages caused by these disruptions or security breaches. 
 
Business Interruptions Could Adversely Affect Head Office Operations  
 
Wonderfilm’s operations are vulnerable to outages and interruptions due to fire, floods, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, and similar events beyond its control. Wonderfilm’s headquarters are located in 
Southern California, which is subject to earthquakes. Although Wonderfilm has developed certain plans to respond 
in the event of a disaster, there can be no assurance that they will be effective in the event of a specific disaster. In 
the event of a short-term power outage, Wonderfilm has installed uninterrupted power source equipment designed to 
protect its equipment. A long-term power outage, however, could disrupt Wonderfilm’s operations. Although 
Wonderfilm currently carries business interruption insurance for potential losses (including earthquake-related 
losses), there can be no assurance that such insurance will be sufficient to compensate Wonderfilm for losses that 
may occur or that such insurance may continue to be available on affordable terms. Any losses or damages incurred 
by Wonderfilm could have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm is Subject to Risks Associated with Possible Acquisitions, Business Combinations, or Joint Ventures  
 
From time to time, Wonderfilm could be engaged in discussions and activities with respect to possible acquisitions, 
sale of assets, business combinations, or joint ventures intended to complement or expand the business. The 
anticipated benefit from any of the transactions Wonderfilm pursues may not be realized. Regardless of whether any 
such transaction is consummated, the negotiation of a potential transaction and the integration of the acquired 
business could incur significant costs and cause diversion of management's time and resources. Any such transaction 
could also result in impairment of goodwill and other intangibles, development write-offs, and other related 
expenses. Such transactions may pose challenges in the consolidation and integration of information technology, 
accounting systems, personnel, and operations. Wonderfilm may also have difficulty managing the combined entity 
in the short term if it experiences a significant loss of management personnel during the transition period after a 
significant acquisition.  No assurance can be given that expansion or acquisition opportunities will be successful, 
completed on time, or that Wonderfilm will realize expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue 
enhancements, synergies or other benefits. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the 
business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 



Claims Against Wonderfilm Relating to Any Acquisition or Business Combination May Necessitate Seeking Claims 
Against the Seller for which the Seller May Not Indemnify Wonderfilm or that May Exceed the Seller's 
Indemnification Obligations  
 
There may be liabilities assumed in any acquisition or business combination that Wonderfilm did not discover or 
that it underestimated in the course of performing its due diligence. Although a seller generally will have 
indemnification obligations to Wonderfilm under an acquisition or merger agreement, these obligations usually will 
be subject to financial limitations, such as general deductibles and maximum recovery amounts, as well as time 
limitations. There is no assurance that Wonderfilm’s right to indemnification from any seller will be enforceable, 
collectible or sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the amount of any undiscovered or 
underestimated liabilities that Wonderfilm may incur. Any such liabilities could have a material adverse effect on 
the business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects of Wonderfilm. 
 
Growth May Cause Pressure on Wonderfilm’s Management and Systems 
 
Wonderfilm’s future growth may cause significant pressure on its management, and its operational, financial, and 
other resources and systems. Wonderfilm’s ability to manage its growth effectively will require the company to 
implement and improve its operational, financial, manufacturing, and management information systems, hire new 
personnel and then train, manage, and motivate these new employees. These demands may require the hiring of 
additional management personnel and the development of additional expertise within the existing management team. 
Any increase in resources devoted to production, business development, and distribution efforts without a 
corresponding increase in Wonderfilm’s operational, financial, and management information systems could have a 
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 
Wonderfilm Has Never Declared or Paid a Dividend  
  
Wonderfilm has never declared or paid any dividends on the common shares. Wonderfilm currently intends to retain 
its future earnings, if any, to finance further research and the expansion of Wonderfilm’s business. As a result, the 
return on an investment in the Wonderfilm Shares will depend upon any future appreciation in value. There is no 
guarantee that the common shares will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which shareholders have 
purchased their shares. 
 
Global Economic Turmoil and Regional Economic Conditions in the United States Could Adversely Affect its 
Business 
 
Global economic turmoil may cause a general tightening in the credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increases in 
the rates of default and bankruptcy, levels of intervention from the United States federal government and other 
foreign governments, decreased consumer confidence, overall slower economic activity, and extreme volatility in 
credit, equity, and fixed income markets. A decrease in economic activity in the United States or in other regions of 
the world in which Wonderfilm does business could adversely affect demand for its content, thus reducing its 
revenues and earnings. A decline in economic conditions could reduce performance of Wonderfilm’s theatrical, 
television, and home entertainment releases. In addition, an increase in price levels generally could result in a shift 
in consumer demand away from the entertainment that Wonderfilm offers, which could also adversely affect its 
revenues and, at the same time, increase its costs. For instance, lower household income and decreases in United 
States consumer discretionary spending, which is sensitive to general economic conditions, may affect cable 
television and other video service subscriptions. 

Conditional Approval of Exchange 
 
The Exchange has conditionally accepted the Wonderfilm Acquisition subject to Westshire II fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the Exchange.  

There can be no assurance that Westshire II will be able to satisfy the requirements of the Exchange such that the 
Exchange will issue the Final Exchange Bulletin. 
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THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2017 
Prepared in Canadian dollars 
(Unaudited) 
 
Minimum $250,000 Wonderfilm Non-brokered Private Placement and Minimum Westshire Brokered Private 
Placement 
 
   

The Wonderfilm 
Media Corporation 

 

 
Westshire 

Capital II Corp. 
 

 
Pro Forma 

Adjustments 
 

 
Note 4 

Pro Forma 
Combined 

Assets      
       
Current      
 Cash and cash equivalents 

$             (90)  $      627,636           $  500,000 
 

a(i) $       967,546 
   Prepaid 

 10,000 
250,000 
(60,000) 

a(ii) 
a(i) (ii) 10,000 

    (350,000) a(iv)  
       
       
  (90) 637,636 340,000  977,546 
       
Long Term      
 Movie production royalty asset 3,795,300 -   3,795,300 
        
  3,795,210  $      637,636    $   340,000              $      4,772,846 
       
Liabilities And Shareholders' Equity      
       
Current      
      Trade and other payables $       68,674 $          3,780        $               -                           $            72,454 
      Accruals 
      Share subscription 

- 
25,000 

260 
375,000                                 

260 
400,000    

       
  

93,674 379,040 - 
 

472,714 
       
Shareholders' Equity      
 Share capital 3,788,278 489,558 500,000 a(i) 5,440,857 
  

  
250,000 
(60,000) 

a(ii) 
a(i) (ii)  

    (360,604) a(iii)  
    833,625 a(iii)  
 Contributed surplus -            51,764   51,764 
       
 Retained earnings (deficit) (86,742) (282,726) (473,021) a(iii) (1,192,489) 
    (350,000) a(iv)  
       
       
  3,701,536            258,596 340,000  4,300,132       
       
   $      3,795,210 $       637,636   $      340,000   $      4,772,846 

 

See accompanying notes to the pro forma consolidated statement of financial position. 



  
 

 

THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2017 
Prepared in Canadian dollars 
(Unaudited) 
 
Maximum Wonderfilm Non-brokered Private Placement and Minimum Westshire Brokered Private 
Placement 
 
   

The Wonderfilm 
Media Corporation 

 

 
Westshire 

Capital II Corp. 
 

 
Pro Forma 

Adjustments 
 

 
Note 4 

Pro Forma 
Combined 

Assets      
       
Current      
 Cash and cash equivalents $              (90)    $        627,636           $  1,000,000 a(ii) $      1,197,546 
 Prepaid  10,000 (80,000) a(ii) 10,000 
    (350,000) a(vi)  
       
       
  (90) 637,636 570,000  1,207,546 
       
Long Term      
 Movie production royalty asset 3,795,300 -   3,795,300 
        
  $    3,795,210  $         637,636    $     570,000                 $       5,002,846 
       
Liabilities And Shareholders' Equity      
       
Current      
      Trade and other payables $        68,674       $              3,780               $                 -                           $            72,454 
      Accruals 
      Share subscription 

- 
25,000        

260 
375,000            

260 
400,000    

       
  

93,674 379,040 - 
 

472,714 
       
Shareholders' Equity      
 Share capital 3,788,278 489,558 1,000,000 a(ii) 5,670,857 
    (80,000) a(ii)  
    (360,604) a(iii)  
    833,625 a(iii)  
 Contributed surplus -            51,764   51,764 
       
 Retained earnings (deficit) (86,742) (282,726) (473,021) a(iii) (1,192,489) 
    (350,000) a(iv)  
       
       
  3,701,536            258,596 570,000  4,530,132       
       
   $      3,795,210 $       637,636   $      570,000   $        5,002,846 

 

See accompanying notes to the pro forma consolidated statement of financial position. 

 



  
 

 
 
 
 
THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 
Notes to the Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As At December 31, 2017 
(Unaudited) 

 
1. Basis of presentation 

 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 of The 
Wonderfilm Media Corporation (the “Resulting Issuer”) has been prepared by management to present the 
proforma combined financial position of Westshire Capital II Corp. (“Westshire”) and The Wonderfilm 
Media Corporation (“Wonderfilm”) upon completion of the proposed qualifying transaction, as that term is 
defined in Policy 2.4 Capital Pool Companies of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.’s corporate finance manual 
(the “Transaction”).  The statement has been prepared taking into account the assumptions described in notes 
2, 3 and 4. 
 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 gives effect 
to the Transaction as if it had occurred as at December 31, 2017. 
 
An unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 has not been 
prepared on the basis that, as a Capital Pool Corporation (“CPC”), Westshire has no operations other than 
pursuing a qualifying transaction and a pro-forma consolidated statement of loss would have little value. 
 
The Resulting Issuer has non-capital loss carry forwards for tax purposes, these non-capital losses which were 
incurred prior to completion of the Transaction by Wonderfilm.  See Wonderfilm’s audited financial 
statements for year ended June 30, 2017. 
 
The effective tax rate for the Resulting Issuer is 26.0%. 
 
The Resulting Issuer has not made and does not propose to make any significant acquisitions or disposition 
requiring disclosure.   
 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position has been derived from: 
 
a. The unaudited statement of financial position of Wonderfilm as at September 30, 2017.  

b. The unaudited statement of financial position of Westshire as at December 31, 2017. 

 
It is management’s opinion that the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position includes 
all adjustments required for the fair presentation, in all material respects, of the transaction described in note 
3 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
The unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position has been prepared for illustrative 
purposes only and may not be indicative of the combined entities’ financial position that would have occurred 
if the acquisition had been in effect at the date indicated.  Actual amounts recorded upon consummation of 
the agreement will likely differ from those recorded in the unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position information. The pro forma adjustments and allocations of the purchase price are based in 
part on estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities to be assumed.  The final purchase price 
allocation will be completed after asset and liability valuations are finalized as of the date of the completion 
of the acquisition.  The actual fair values of the assets and liabilities will be determined as of the date of 



  
 

acquisition and may differ materially from the amounts disclosed in the assumed pro forma purchase price 
allocation because of changes in fair value of the assets and liabilities up to the date of the Acquisition, and 
as further analysis is completed.  
 
Consequently, the actual allocation of the purchase price may result in different adjustments than those in the 
unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  Similarly, the calculation and allocation 
of the purchase price has been prepared on a preliminary basis and is subject to change between the time such 
preliminary estimations were made and closing as a result of a number of factors.  
 
The unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with 
the audited financial statements and unaudited interim financial statements of Wonderfilm and Westshire .     

 
2. Significant accounting policies 

 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position has been compiled using the significant 
accounting policies, as set out in the audited financial statements of Wonderfilm for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2017, which are included in the Filing Statement of Westshire Capital II Corp. dated March 1, 2018.  
 

3. The Transaction 

On November 27, 2017, Westshire entered into a binding agreement to complete a business combination with 
Wonderfilm, a privately-held media company. Under the agreement, Westshire will consolidate its common 
shares on the basis of 4 pre-consolidation common shares to 1 post-consolidation common shares.  
Wonderfilm will amalgamate with a wholly-owned Westshire subsidiary, and each Wonderfilm shareholder 
will receive 1.33 post-consolidation Westshire common share  in exchange for each Wonderfilm common 
share held, at a deemed price of $0.50 per post-consolidation Westshire common share for aggregate deemed 
consideration to the Wonderfilm shareholders of approximately $4,460,488.  
 
Shortly after the completion of the amalgamation noted above, Westshire will vertically amalgamate with its 
wholly-owned subsidiary and continue as one corporation, the Resulting Issuer, which will carry on the 
business of Wonderfilm under the name "The Wonderfilm Media Corporation." (“the Company”).  
 
Concurrent with the completion of the Transaction, Wonderfilm will raise between $500,000 and $2,000,000 
through a combination of brokered and non-brokered private placements. 
 
As a result of the Transaction described above, former shareholders of Wonderfilm will acquire control of 
the Company as the former shareholders of Wonderfilm will own majority of the outstanding shares of the 
Company upon completion of the Transaction.  Therefore, the Transaction constitutes a reverse take-over and 
is accounted for with Wonderfilm identified as the acquirer and the net assets of Westshire recorded at fair 
value at the date of the Transaction.  No goodwill or intangible assets were recorded with respect to the 
Transaction as it does not constitute a business combination.  
 
After completion of the Transaction, the current Wonderfilm shareholders, the current Westshire shareholders 
and the private placement investors shall own all of the issued and outstanding securities of the Resulting 
Issuer. 
 

4. Pro-forma assumptions and adjustments 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position reflects the following adjustments and 
assumptions: 
 



  
 

a. To Give Effect to the Transaction: 
 

(i) Minimum non-brokered private placement of nil Wonderfilm common shares and minimum 
brokered private placement 1,000,000 Westshire common shares, both at a price of $0.50 per 
share for aggregate gross proceeds of $500,000.  Both Wonderfilm and Westshire will pay a 
corporate finance fee of 8% on the brokered and non-brokered private placement (on $500,000 
the corporate finance fee is $40,000). 

(ii) Maximum non-brokered private placement of 1,000,000 Wonderfilm common shares and 
minimum brokered private placement of 1,000,000 Westshire common shares, both at a price 
of $0.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,000,000.  Both Wonderfilm and Westshire 
will pay a corporate finance fee of 8% on the brokered and non-brokered private placement (on 
$250,000 the corporate finance fee is $20,000). 

(iii) The amalgamation is being accounted for as a capital transaction in which Wonderfilm is being 
identified as the acquirer of Westshire and equity consideration is being measured at the 
negotiated fair value of the Westshire shares.  Westshire will consolidate its common shares on 
the basis of 4 pre-consolidation common shares to 1 post-consolidation common shares.  The 
fair value of the Westshire shares following the completion of the consolidation is $0.50 per 
share for a total fair value of $833,625.  

Based on Westshires’s statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, the net assets 
at fair value that were acquired by Wonderfilm were $360,604, which includes cash of $102,008 
to be received from exercise of stock options and agent options, and the resulting reverse 
acquisition cost charged to the statements of comprehensive loss is as follows: 

   Consideration 
 Shares       $833,625 
 
   Identifiable assets acquired 
 Cash 627,636 
 Prepaid 10,000 
 Cash from exercise of stock options & agent options 102,008 
 Trade and other payables (3,780) 
 Accruals (260) 
 Subscription deposit (375,000) 
 
  
 Reverse takeover transaction costs        473,021 
    
 Total net identifiable assets and reverse takeover transaction costs $833,625  
 

(iv) Estimated legal and other costs associated with the Transaction of $350,000.  
    

 
 
 
5. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Assuming a minimum non-brokered private placement of 500,000 Wonderfilm common shares and minimum 
brokered private placement of 1,000,000 Westshire common shares, share capital as at December 31, 2017 
in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position is comprised of the following: 



  
 

 
 Number of Shares Amount 
   
Authorized    
      Unlimited common shares without par value   
   
Issued   

Wonderfilm common share outstanding as at June 30, 2017 6,707,500 $      3,788,278 
Westshire common share outstanding as at June 30, 2017 6,669,000 489,558 
Wonderfilm common shares issued on forward split prior to 

RTO 
2,213,475 - 

Westshire shares consolidated and revalued upon RTO (5,001,750) 473,021 
Wonderfilm and Westshire common shares issued on 

completion of Private Placement (brokered and non-
brokered) 

1,500,000                  750,000 

Finance fee - (60,000) 
     Common shares outstanding after RTO             12,088,225           $     5,440,857 
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CERTIFICATE OF WESTSHIRE CAPITAL II CORP. 

The foregoing constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities of Westshire 
Capital II Corp. (“Westshire II”), assuming completion of the Wonderfilm Acquisition (as that term is defined in the 
Filing Statement of Westshire II dated March 2, 2018). 

DATED March 1, 2018. 

(Signed) “Norman Tsui”  (Signed) “Alan Tam”  
Norman Tsui Alan Tam 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
WESTSHIRE II  

 

(Signed) “Dennis Nerland”  (Signed) “Szu Min Chiu”  
Dennis Nerland, Director  Szu Min Chiu, Director 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 

The foregoing document as it relates to The Wonderfilm Media Corporation (“Wonderfilm”) constitutes full, true 
and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities of Wonderfilm. 

DATED March 1, 2018. 

Signed “Kirk Shaw”  Signed “Kirk Shaw”  
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE WONDERFILM MEDIA CORPORATION 

 

Signed “Kirk Shaw”  
Director  

 

 


